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If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following
box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  ¨

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities
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If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective
upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  x

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional
securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filed, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
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Title of Shares

to be Registered

Proposed
Maximum
Aggregate
Offering
Price

Amount of
Registration

Fee
Common Stock
Preferred Stock
Debt Securities (1) (2) 
Warrants
Purchase Contracts
Units

(1) An indeterminate amount of securities to be offered from time to time at indeterminate prices is being registered pursuant to this registration statement.
(2) The registrant is deferring payment of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 456(b) and is omitting this information in reliance on Rule 456(b) and Rule 457(r).
The Company is filing this registration statement to replace its registration statement (No. 333-142796), which is expiring pursuant to Rule
415(a)(5). In accordance with Rule 415(a)(6), effectiveness of this Registration Statement will be deemed to terminate the expiring registration
statement.
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PROSPECTUS

ORACLE CORPORATION

The following are types of securities that may be offered and sold by Oracle Corporation or by selling security holders under this prospectus
from time to time:

�   Common stock �   Warrants
�   Preferred stock �   Purchase contracts
�   Debt securities �   Units
The securities may be offered by us or by selling security holders in amounts, at prices and on terms determined at the time of the offering. The
securities may be sold directly to you, through agents, or through underwriters and dealers. If agents, underwriters or dealers are used to sell the
securities, we will name them and describe their compensation in a prospectus supplement. You should read this prospectus and any prospectus
supplement carefully before you invest.

We will describe in a prospectus supplement, which must accompany this prospectus, the securities we are offering and selling, as well as the
specific terms of the securities. Those terms may include:

�   Maturity �   Redemption terms �   Liquidation amount
�   Interest rate �   Listing on a security exchange �   Subsidiary guarantees
�   Currency of payments �   Amount payable at maturity �   Sinking fund terms
�   Dividends �   Conversion or exchange rights
Our Common Stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker symbol ORCL.

Investing in these securities involves certain risks. You should review carefully the risks and uncertainties
described under the heading �Risk Factors� contained in the applicable prospectus supplement and under similar
headings in other documents which are incorporated by reference herein.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
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The date of this prospectus is May 7, 2010

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 5



Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Oracle Corporation 2
Where You Can Find More Information 3
Special Note on Forward-Looking Statements 4
Use of Proceeds 4
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 5
Description of Capital Stock 6
Description of Debt Securities 8
Description of Warrants 18
Description of Purchase Contracts 18
Description of Units 19
Forms of Securities 20
Plan of Distribution 22
Validity of Securities 23
Experts 23
You should rely only on the information contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this prospectus or applicable prospectus
supplement or free writing prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. We are not making
an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale of the securities is not permitted. You should not assume that the
information contained in or incorporated by reference in, this prospectus or any prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus is
accurate as of any date other than their respective dates. Unless we have indicated otherwise, references in this prospectus to �Oracle�, �we,�
�us,� and �our� refer to Oracle Corporation and not to any of its existing or future subsidiaries.

1

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 6



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION

Our Business

We are the world�s largest enterprise software company. As a result of our acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in January 2010, we are also a
leading provider of hardware systems products and services. We develop, manufacture, market, distribute and service database and middleware
software, applications software and hardware systems, consisting primarily of computer server and storage products, which are designed to help
our customers manage and grow their business operations.

We believe our internal, or organic, growth and continued innovation with respect to our products and services that we offer through our
software, hardware systems and services businesses provide the foundation for our long-term strategic plan. We invest billions of dollars in
research and development each year to enhance our existing portfolio of products and services and to develop new products, features and
services. Our internally developed offerings have been enhanced by our acquisitions.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 as a Delaware corporation and is the successor to operations originally begun in June 1977.

The principal executive offices of Oracle are located at 500 Oracle Parkway, Redwood City, California 94065, and the telephone number is
(650) 506-7000. We maintain a website at www.oracle.com where general information about us is available. We are not incorporating the
contents of the website into this prospectus.

About this Prospectus

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) utilizing a
�shelf� registration process. Under this shelf process, we may sell any combination of the securities described in this prospectus in one or more
offerings from time to time.

This prospectus only provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we sell securities, we will provide a
prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update
or change information contained in this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus and any prospectus supplement together with
additional information described under the heading �Where You Can Find More Information.�

2
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document that
we file at the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site at http://www.sec.gov,
from which interested persons can electronically access the registration statement including the exhibits and schedules thereto.

As permitted by the SEC�s rules, this prospectus does not contain all the information that you can find in the registration statement or the exhibits
to that statement. The SEC allows us to �incorporate by reference� the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important
information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus, and
information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents
listed below and all documents subsequently filed with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�) prior to the termination of the offering under this prospectus:

(a) Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2009, June 23, 2009 (but not to the extent furnished and not filed), June 29,
2009, July 8, 2009, July 14, 2009, August 21, 2009, September 3, 2009, September 16, 2009 (but not to the extent furnished and not
filed), October 8, 2009, November 10, 2009, December 17, 2009 (but not to the extent furnished and not filed), January 21,
2010, January 28, 2010, February 12, 2010, and March 25, 2010 (but not to the extent furnished and not filed) and our amended
Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on April 7, 2010;

(b) Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended August 31, 2009, November 30, 2009, and February 28, 2010;

(c) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2009;

(d) Portions of the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2009 annual meeting of stockholders incorporated by reference
in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2009; and

(e) The description of our common stock included in our registration statement on pages 101 through 102 of Form S-4, as amended
(Reg. No. 333-129139), filed on December 29, 2005, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such
descriptions.

You may request a copy of these filings at no cost, by contacting our Investor Relations department by calling 650-506-4073, by writing to
Investor Relations, Oracle Corporation, 500 Oracle Parkway, Redwood City, California 94065 or by sending an email to
investor_us@oracle.com.
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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and documents that are incorporated by reference in this prospectus include forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words �believes,� �expects,� �anticipates,� �intends,� �plans,� �estimates� or similar expressions.
Oracle claims the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
for all forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future
events. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about our business. Factors that might cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled �Risk Factors� in our Annual Report on Form
10-K and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, incorporated by reference herein. You should understand that the following important factors, in
addition to those discussed in the incorporated documents, could affect our future results, and could cause those results or other outcomes to
differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements:

� Economic, political and market conditions, including the recent global economic and financial crisis, could adversely affect our
business, operating results or financial condition, including our revenue growth and profitability, through reductions in customer IT
budgets and expenditures and through the general tightening of access to credit;

� We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts due to such factors as delays or size reductions in transactions, fewer large
transactions in a particular quarter, unanticipated fluctuations in currency exchange rates, delays in delivery of new products or
releases or a decline in our renewal rates for software license updates and product support;

� Our entrance into the hardware systems business may not be successful, and we may fail to achieve our financial forecasts with
respect to this new business;

� We have an active acquisition program and our acquisitions, including our acquisition of Sun, may not be successful, may involve
unanticipated costs or other integration issues or may disrupt our existing operations;

� Our international sales and operations subject us to additional risks that can adversely affect our operating results, including risks
relating to foreign currency gains and losses and risks relating to compliance with international and U.S. laws that apply to our
international operations;

� Intense competitive forces demand rapid technological advances and frequent new product introductions and could require us to
reduce prices or cause us to lose customers; and

� We cannot assure market acceptance of new products or services or new versions of existing or acquired products or services.
We have no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or future events. New
information or future events may cause the forward-looking events we discuss in this prospectus not to occur.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of securities issued pursuant to this registration statement for general corporate purposes which
may include stock repurchases, repayment of indebtedness and future acquisitions. If we decide to use the net proceeds from a particular offering
of securities for a specific purpose, we will describe that purpose in the related prospectus supplement.

4
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table sets forth our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each of the periods indicated.

Nine months
ended

February 28, Year ended May 31,
2010 2009 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 10x 11x 13x 18x 17x 25x 25x
For purposes of calculating this ratio, the term �earnings� means the amounts resulting from the following: (a) our income before provision for
income taxes, plus (b) the noncontrolling interests in the net income of our majority owned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed charges, less (d) our
share of our equity investee�s income before provision for income taxes. The term �fixed charges� means the amounts resulting from the following:
(a) our interest expensed, plus (b) our estimate of the interest component of rent expense.

We do not report any shares of preferred stock outstanding in our consolidated financial statements because our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. Our ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred dividends for any given
period is equivalent to our ratio of earnings to fixed charges.

5
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description of our capital stock is based upon our restated certificate of incorporation, as amended (�Restated Certificate of
Incorporation�), our bylaws, as amended (�Bylaws�) and applicable provisions of law. We have summarized certain portions of the Restated
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws below. The summary is not complete. The Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are
incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. You should read the Restated Certificate
of Incorporation and Bylaws for the provisions that are important to you.

Certain provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (�DGCL�), the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws summarized in the
following paragraphs may have an anti-takeover effect. This may delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder
might consider in its best interests, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by such
stockholder.

Copies of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are available upon request. Please see �Where You Can Find More Information�
above.

Authorized Capital Stock

Under the Oracle Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Oracle�s authorized capital stock consists of 11 billion shares of common stock, $0.01 par
value, and 1 million shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value. As of April 30, 2010, there were 5,029,522,697 shares of Oracle common stock
issued and outstanding.

Common Stock

Oracle Common Stock Outstanding. The outstanding shares of our common stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable. Our common stock is listed and principally traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol �ORCL.�

Voting Rights. Each holder of shares of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held of record on the applicable record date on
all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.

Dividend Rights. Subject to any preferential dividend rights granted to the holders of any shares of our preferred stock that may at the time be
outstanding, holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of
funds legally available therefor.

Rights upon Liquidation. Holders of our common stock are entitled to share pro rata, upon any liquidation or dissolution of Oracle, in all
remaining assets available for distribution to stockholders after payment or providing for our liabilities and the liquidation preference of any
outstanding preferred stock.

Preemptive Rights. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive right to purchase, subscribe for or otherwise acquire any unissued or
treasury shares or other securities.

Transfer Agent and Registrar. Mellon Investor Services LLC is the transfer agent and registrar for our common stock.

Preferred Stock

Under our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, without further stockholder action, our board of directors is authorized, subject to any
limitations prescribed by the law of the State of Delaware, to provide for the issuance of the shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to
establish from time to time the number of shares to be

6
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included in each such series, to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series and any qualifications,
limitations or restrictions thereof, and to increase or decrease the number of shares of any such series (but not below the number of shares of
such series then outstanding).

Certain Provisions of Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our Bylaws vest the power to call special meetings of stockholders in our chairman of the board, our chief executive officer, our board of
directors or stockholders holding shares representing not less than twenty percent of the outstanding votes entitled to vote at the meeting.
Stockholders are permitted under our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to act by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

To be properly brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, any stockholder proposal or nomination for the board of directors must be
delivered to our secretary not more than 120 and not less than 90 days prior to the date on which we first mailed our proxy materials for the prior
year�s annual meeting; provided that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced or delayed by more than 30 days from the
anniversary of the previous year�s meeting, a stockholder�s written notice will be timely if it is delivered by the later of the 90th day prior to such
annual meeting or the 10th day following the announcement of the date of the meeting. Such notice must contain information specified in the
Bylaws as to the director nominee or proposal of other business, information about the stockholder making the nomination or proposal and the
beneficial owner, if any, on behalf of whom the nomination or proposal is made, including name and address, class and number of shares owned,
and representations regarding the intention to make such a proposal or nomination and to solicit proxies in support of it. With respect to director
nominees, we may require any proposed nominee to furnish information concerning his or her eligibility to serve as an independent director or
that could be material to a reasonable stockholder�s understanding of the independence of the nominee.

Certain Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL (�Section 203�). In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging
in various �business combination� transactions with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date of the transactions in
which the person became an interested stockholder, unless:

� the transaction is approved by the board of directors prior to the date the interested stockholder obtained such status;

� upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced; or

� on or subsequent to such date the business combination is approved by the board and authorized at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested
stockholder.

A �business combination� is defined to include mergers, asset sales, and other transactions resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder. In
general, an �interested stockholder� is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years, did own) 15% or more of
a corporation�s voting stock. The statute could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts with respect to our
company and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire us even though such a transaction may offer our stockholders the opportunity to
sell their stock at a price above the prevailing market price.

7
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DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

This prospectus describes certain general terms and provisions of the debt securities. The debt securities will be issued under an indenture dated
January 13, 2006 among Oracle Corporation (formerly known as Ozark Holding Inc.), Oracle Systems Corporation (formerly known as Oracle
Corporation) and Citibank, N.A., as amended by a supplemental indenture dated as of May 9, 2007 by and among Oracle Corporation, Citibank,
N.A. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (subsequently renamed The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.), as
trustee (the �trustee�), as may be further supplemented from time to time. The debt securities may be issued in one or more series established in or
pursuant to a board resolution and set forth in an officers� certificate or supplemental indenture. In accordance with the terms of the indenture,
Oracle Systems Corporation is no longer an obligor under the indenture and will not be an obligor on any securities issued under the indenture
unless explicitly stated in the prospectus supplement relating to such securities.

When we offer to sell a particular series of debt securities, we will describe the specific terms for the securities in a supplement to this
prospectus. The prospectus supplement will also indicate whether the general terms and provisions described in this prospectus apply to a
particular series of debt securities.

We have summarized certain terms and provisions of the indenture. The summary is not complete. The indenture has been incorporated by
reference as an exhibit to the registration statement for these securities that we have filed with the SEC. You should read the indenture and
applicable board resolution and officers� certificate or supplemental indenture (including the form of debt security) relating to the applicable
series of debt securities for the provisions which may be important to you. The indenture is subject to and governed by the Trust Indenture Act
of 1939, as amended.

General

The indenture will not limit the amount of debt securities which we may issue. We have the right to �reopen� a previous issue of a series of debt
securities by issuing additional debt securities of such series. We may issue debt securities up to an aggregate principal amount as we may
authorize from time to time. The debt securities will be our unsecured obligations and will rank equally with all of our other unsecured and
unsubordinated debt from time to time outstanding. Our secured debt, if any, will be effectively senior to the debt securities to the extent of the
value of the assets securing such debt. The debt securities will be exclusively our obligations and not of our subsidiaries and therefore the debt
securities will be structurally subordinate to the debt and liabilities of any of our subsidiaries. The prospectus supplement will describe the terms
of any debt securities being offered, including:

� the title;

� any limit upon the aggregate principal amount;

� the date or dates on which the principal is payable;

� the rate or rates at which the debt securities shall bear interest, if any, or the method by which such rate shall be determined;

� the date or dates from which interest shall accrue;

� the date or dates on which interest shall be payable;

� the record dates for the determination of holders to whom interest is payable;
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� the right, if any, to extend the interest payment periods and the duration of such extension;

� the place or places where the principal of and any interest shall be payable;
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� the price or prices at which, the period or periods within which and the terms and conditions upon which debt securities may be
redeemed;

� our obligation, if any, to redeem, purchase or repay the debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or otherwise or at the option of a
holder thereof;

� if applicable, the price or prices at which and the period or periods within which and the terms and conditions upon which the debt
securities shall be redeemed, purchased or repaid, in whole or in part;

� if other than denominations of $1,000 and any multiple thereof, the denominations in which the debt securities of the series shall be
issuable;

� the percentage of the principal amount at which the debt securities will be issued and, if other than the principal amount thereof, the
portion of such principal amount which shall be payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof or provable in
bankruptcy;

� whether the debt securities are issuable under Rule 144A or Regulation S and, in such case, any provisions unique to such form of
issuance including any transfer restrictions or exchange and registration rights;

� any and all other terms of the series including any terms which may be required by or advisable under U.S. law or regulations or
advisable in connection with the marketing of the debt securities;

� whether the debt securities are issuable as global securities or definitive certificates and, in such case, the identity for the depositary;

� any deletion from, modification of or addition to the events of default or covenants;

� any provisions granting special rights to holders when a specified event occurs;

� whether and under what circumstances we will pay additional amounts on the debt securities held by a person who is not a U.S.
person in respect of any tax, assessment or governmental charge withheld or deducted;

� any special tax implications of the notes;

� any trustees, authenticating or paying agents, transfer agents or registrars or any other agents with respect to the debt securities;

� any guarantor or co-issuers;

� any special interest premium or other premium;
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� whether the debt securities are convertible or exchangeable into common stock or other of our equity securities and the terms and
conditions upon which such conversion or exchange shall be effected; and

� the currency in which payments shall be made, if other than U.S. dollars.
Events of Default

When we use the term �Event of Default� in the indenture with respect to the debt securities of any series, here are some examples of what we
mean:

(1) default in paying interest on the debt securities when it becomes due and the default continues for a period of 30 days or more;

(2) default in paying principal, or premium, if any, on the debt securities when due;

(3) default in the performance, or breach, of any covenant in the indenture (other than defaults specified in clause (1) or (2) above) and the
default or breach continues for a period of 90 days or more after

9
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we receive written notice from the trustee or the trustee receives notice from the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding debt securities of the series;

(4) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, administration or similar proceedings with respect to us or any material subsidiary
has occurred;

(5) any other Events of Default set forth in a prospectus supplement relating to such series of debt securities.

If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in clause (4) with respect to us) under the indenture occurs with respect to the
debt securities of any series and is continuing, then the trustee may and, at the direction of the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the
outstanding debt securities of that series, will by written notice, require us to repay immediately the entire principal amount of the outstanding
debt securities of that series, together with all accrued and unpaid interest and premium, if any.

If an Event of Default under the indenture specified in clause (4) with respect to us occurs and is continuing, then the entire principal amount of
the outstanding debt securities will automatically become due immediately and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the
trustee or any holder.

After a declaration of acceleration or any automatic acceleration under clause (4) described above, the holders of a majority in principal amount
of outstanding debt securities of any series may rescind this accelerated payment requirement if all existing Events of Default, except for
nonpayment of the principal and interest on the debt securities of that series that has become due solely as a result of the accelerated payment
requirement, have been cured or waived and if the rescission of acceleration would not conflict with any judgment or decree. The holders of a
majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series also have the right to waive past defaults, except a default in paying
principal or interest on any outstanding debt security, or in respect of a covenant or a provision that cannot be modified or amended without the
consent of all holders of the debt securities of that series.

Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of a series may seek to institute a proceeding only after they have
made written request, and offered indemnity as the trustee may reasonably require, to the trustee to institute a proceeding and the trustee has
failed to do so within 60 days after it received this notice. In addition, within this 60-day period the trustee must not have received directions
inconsistent with this written request by holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series. These
limitations do not apply, however, to a suit instituted by a holder of a debt security for the enforcement of the payment of principal, interest or
any premium on or after the due dates for such payment.

During the existence of an Event of Default of which a responsible officer of the trustee has actual knowledge or has received written notice
from us or any holder of the debt securities, the trustee is required to exercise the rights and powers vested in it under the indenture and use the
same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would under the circumstances in the conduct of that person�s own affairs. If an
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the trustee is not under any obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers at the request or
direction of any of the holders unless the holders have offered to the trustee security or indemnity as the trustee may reasonably require. Subject
to certain provisions, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series have the right to direct the
time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee, or exercising any trust, or power conferred on the
trustee.

The trustee will, within 45 days after any default occurs, give notice of the default to the holders of the debt securities of that series, unless the
default was already cured or waived. Unless there is a default in paying principal, interest or any premium when due, the trustee can withhold
giving notice to the holders if it determines in good faith that the withholding of notice is in the interest of the holders.

10
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We are required to furnish to the trustee an annual statement as to compliance with all conditions and covenants under the indenture.

Modification and Waiver

We and the trustee may amend or modify the indenture or the debt securities without the consent of any holder of debt securities in order to:

� cure ambiguities, defects or inconsistencies;

� provide for the assumption of our obligations in the case of a merger or consolidation and our discharge upon such assumption;

� make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the holders of the debt securities of a series;

� provide for or add guarantors with respect to the debt securities of any series;

� secure the debt securities of a series;

� establish the form or forms of debt securities of any series;

� maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

� conform any provision in the indenture to this �Description of Debt Securities�; or

� make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder.
Other amendments and modifications of the indenture or the debt securities may be made with the consent of the holders of not less than a
majority of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series affected by the amendment or modification (voting as
one class), and our compliance with any provision of the indenture with respect to any series of debt securities may be waived by written notice
to the trustee by the holders of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series affected by the
waiver (voting as one class). However, no modification or amendment may, without the consent of the holder of each outstanding debt security
affected:

� reduce the principal amount, or extend the fixed maturity, of the debt securities, alter or waive the redemption provisions of the debt
securities;

� change the currency in which principal, any premium or interest is paid;

� reduce the percentage in principal amount outstanding of debt securities of any series which must consent to an
amendment, supplement or waiver or consent to take any action;

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 18



� impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on the debt securities;

� waive a payment default with respect to the debt securities or any guarantor;

� reduce the interest rate or extend the time for payment of interest on the debt securities; or

� adversely affect the ranking of the debt securities of any series.
Covenants

Principal and Interest

We covenant to pay the principal of and interest on the debt securities when due and in the manner provided in the indenture.

11
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Consolidation, Merger or Sale of Assets

We will not consolidate or combine with or merge with or into or, directly or indirectly, sell, assign, convey, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose
of all or substantially all of our assets to any person or persons in a single transaction or through a series of transactions, unless:

� we shall be the continuing person or, if we are not the continuing person, the resulting, surviving or transferee person (the �surviving
entity�) is a company organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any State or territory;

� the surviving entity will expressly assume all of our obligations under the debt securities and the indenture, and will, if required by
law to effectuate the assumption, execute a supplemental indenture which will be delivered to the trustee;

� immediately after giving effect to such transaction or series of transactions on a pro forma basis, no default has occurred and is
continuing; and

� we or the surviving entity will have delivered to the trustee an officers� certificate and opinion of counsel stating that the transaction
or series of transactions and a supplemental indenture, if any, complies with this covenant and that all conditions precedent in the
indenture relating to the transaction or series of transactions have been satisfied.

The restrictions in the third and fourth bullets shall not be applicable to:

� the merger or consolidation of us with an affiliate of ours if our board of directors determines in good faith that the purpose of such
transaction is principally to change our state of incorporation or convert our form of organization to another form; or

� the merger of us with or into a single direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of ours pursuant to Section 251(g) (or any successor
provision) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

If any consolidation or merger or any sale, assignment, conveyance, lease, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all our assets occurs
in accordance with the indenture, the successor corporation will succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of
ours under the indenture with the same effect as if such successor corporation had been named in our place in the indenture. We will (except in
the case of a lease) be discharged from all obligations and covenants under the indenture and any debt securities issued thereunder.

Negative Covenants

In addition to the covenants set forth above, the following additional covenants shall apply to the debt securities (unless otherwise provided
pursuant to a board resolution and set forth in an officers� certificate or a supplemental indenture). These covenants do not limit our ability to
incur indebtedness and apply only to us.

Limitation on Liens

With respect to each series of debt securities, we will not create or incur any Lien on any of our Properties, whether now owned or hereafter
acquired, or upon any income or profits therefrom, in order to secure any of our Indebtedness, without effectively providing that such series of
debt securities shall be equally and ratably secured until such time as such Indebtedness is no longer secured by such Lien, except:

(1) Liens existing as of the closing date of the offering of the series of debt securities;

(2) Liens granted after closing date of the offering of the series of debt securities, created in favor of the holders of such series of debt securities;
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(3) Liens securing our Indebtedness which are incurred to extend, renew or refinance Indebtedness which is secured by Liens permitted to be
incurred under the indenture;
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(4) Liens created in substitution of or as replacements for any Liens permitted by the clauses directly above, provided that, based on a good faith
determination of one of our Senior Officers, the Property encumbered under any such substitute or replacement Lien is substantially similar in
nature to the Property encumbered by the otherwise permitted Lien which is being replaced; and

(5) Permitted Liens.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may, without securing any series of debt securities, create or incur Liens which would otherwise be subject to
the restrictions set forth in the preceding paragraph, if after giving effect thereto, Aggregate Debt does not exceed the greater of (i) 25% of
Consolidated Net Worth calculated as of the date of the creation or incurrence of the Lien or (ii) 25% of Consolidated Net Worth calculated as of
the date of the issuance of such debt securities.

Limitation on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions

With respect to each series of debt securities, we will not enter into any sale and lease-back transaction for the sale and leasing back of any
Property, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, unless:

(1) such transaction was entered into prior to the closing date of the offering of the series of debt securities;

(2) such transaction was for the sale and leasing back to us of any Property by one of our Subsidiaries;

(3) such transaction involves a lease for less than three years;

(4) we would be entitled to incur Indebtedness secured by a mortgage on the property to be leased in an amount equal to the Attributable Liens
with respect to such sale and lease-back transaction without equally and ratably securing such series of debt securities pursuant to the first
paragraph of �� Limitation on Liens� above; or

(5) we apply an amount equal to the fair value of the Property sold to the purchase of Property or to the retirement of our long-term Indebtedness
within 365 days of the effective date of any such sale and lease-back transaction. In lieu of applying such amount to such retirement, we may
deliver debt securities to the trustee therefor for cancellation, such debt securities to be credited at the cost thereof to us.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may enter into any sale lease-back transaction which would otherwise be subject to the foregoing restrictions
if after giving effect thereto and at the time of determination, Aggregate Debt does not exceed the greater of (i) 25% of Consolidated Net Worth
calculated as of the closing date of the sale-leaseback transaction or (ii) 25% of Consolidated Net Worth calculated as of the date of the issuance
of the series of debt securities.

Existence

Except as permitted under �� Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets,� the indenture requires us to do or cause to be done all things necessary to
preserve and keep in full force and effect our existence, rights and franchises; provided, however, that we shall not be required to preserve any
right or franchise if we determine that their preservation is no longer desirable in the conduct of business.

Certain Definitions

As used in this section, the following terms have the meanings set forth below.

�Aggregate Debt� means the sum of the following as of the date of determination:

(1) the aggregate principal amount of our Indebtedness incurred after the closing date of the offering of the debt securities and secured by Liens
not permitted by the first sentence under �� Limitation on Liens;� and
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(2) our Attributable Liens in respect of sale and lease-back transactions entered into after the closing date of this offering pursuant to the second
paragraph of �� Limitation on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions.�

�Attributable Liens� means in connection with a sale and lease-back transaction the lesser of:

(1) the fair market value of the assets subject to such transaction; and

(2) the present value (discounted at a rate per annum equal to the average interest borne by all outstanding debt securities issued under the
indenture (which may include debt securities in addition to the series of debt securities currently outstanding under the indenture and those being
offered by any prospectus supplement) determined on a weighted average basis and compounded semi-annually) of the obligations of the lessee
for rental payments during the term of the related lease.

�Capital Lease� means any Indebtedness represented by a lease obligation of a Person incurred with respect to real property or equipment acquired
or leased by such Person and used in its business that is required to be recorded as a capital lease in accordance with GAAP.

�Consolidated Net Worth� means, as of any date of determination, our Stockholders� Equity and our Consolidated Subsidiaries on that date.

�Consolidated Subsidiary� means, as of any date of determination and with respect to any Person, any Subsidiary of that Person whose financial
data is, in accordance with GAAP, reflected in that Person�s consolidated financial statements.

�GAAP� means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements
by such other entity as have been approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession, which are in effect as of the date of
determination.

�Hedging Obligations� means, with respect to any specified Person, the obligations of such Person under:

(1) interest rate swap agreements (whether from fixed to floating or from floating to fixed), interest rate cap agreements and interest rate collar
agreements;

(2) other agreements or arrangements designed to manage interest rates or interest rate risk;

(3) other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates or commodity prices; and

(4) other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such person against fluctuations in equity prices.

�Indebtedness� of any specified Person means, without duplication, any indebtedness, whether or not contingent, in respect of borrowed money or
evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements with respect thereto) or
representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any Property (including pursuant to Capital Leases), except any such
balance that constitutes an accrued expense or trade payable, if and to the extent any of the foregoing indebtedness would appear as a liability
upon an unconsolidated balance sheet of such Person (but does not include contingent liabilities which appear only in a footnote to a balance
sheet).

�Lien� means any lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any
lease in the nature thereof, and any agreement to give any security interest).
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�Permitted Liens� means:

(1) Liens on any of our assets, created solely to secure obligations incurred to finance the refurbishment, improvement or construction of such
asset, which obligations are incurred no later than 24 months after completion of such refurbishment, improvement or construction, and all
renewals, extensions, refinancings, replacements or refundings of such obligations;

(2) (a) Liens given to secure the payment of the purchase price incurred in connection with the acquisition (including acquisition through merger
or consolidation) of Property (including shares of stock), including Capital Lease transactions in connection with any such acquisition, and
(b) Liens existing on Property at the time of acquisition thereof or at the time of acquisition by us of any Person then owning such Property
whether or not such existing Liens were given to secure the payment of the purchase price of the Property to which they attach; provided that,
with respect to clause (a), the Liens shall be given within 24 months after such acquisition and shall attach solely to the Property acquired or
purchased and any improvements then or thereafter placed thereon;

(3) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the
importation of goods;

(4) Liens securing reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit that encumber documents and other Property relating to such letters
of credit and the products and proceeds thereof;

(5) Liens encumbering customary initial deposits and margin deposits and other Liens in the ordinary course of business, in each case securing
Hedging Obligations and forward contract, option, futures contracts, futures options, equity hedges or similar agreements or arrangements
designed to protect us from fluctuations in interest rates, currencies, equities or the price of commodities;

(6) pre-existing Liens on assets acquired by us after the closing date of this offering;

(7) Liens in our favor;

(8) inchoate Liens incident to construction or maintenance of real property, or Liens incident to construction or maintenance of real property,
now or hereafter filed of record for sums not yet delinquent or being contested in good faith, if reserves or other appropriate provisions, if any, as
shall be required by GAAP shall have been made therefore;

(9) statutory Liens arising in the ordinary course of business with respect to obligations which are not delinquent or are being contested in good
faith, if reserves or other appropriate provisions, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made therefore;

(10) Liens consisting of pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers� compensation laws or similar legislation, including Liens of
judgments thereunder which are not currently dischargeable;

(11) Liens consisting of pledges or deposits of Property to secure performance in connection with operating leases made in the ordinary course
of business to which we are a party as lessee, provided the aggregate value of all such pledges and deposits in connection with any such lease
does not at any time exceed 16 2/3% of the annual fixed rentals payable under such lease;

(12) Liens consisting of deposits of Property to secure our statutory obligations in the ordinary course of our business;

(13) Liens consisting of deposits of Property to secure (or in lieu of) surety, appeal or customs bonds in proceedings to which we are a party in
the ordinary course of our business, but not in excess of $25,000,000; and

(14) purchase money Liens or purchase money security interests upon or in any Property acquired or held by us in the ordinary course of
business to secure the purchase price of such Property or to secure indebtedness incurred solely for the purpose of financing the acquisition of
such Property.
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�Person� means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability company, joint-stock company, trust,
unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

�Property� means any property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, including shares of capital stock.

�Senior Officer� of any specified Person means the chief executive officer, any president, any vice president, the chief financial officer, the
treasurer, any assistant treasurer, the secretary or any assistant secretary.

�Stockholders� Equity� means, as of any date of determination, stockholders� equity as reflected on the most recent consolidated balance sheet
available to us prepared in accordance with GAAP.

�Subsidiary� of any specified Person means any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power
of shares of capital stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees
thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that person or a
combination thereof.

Satisfaction, Discharge and Covenant Defeasance

We may terminate our obligations under the indenture, when:

� either:

� all the debt securities of any series issued that have been authenticated and delivered have been accepted by the trustee for
cancellation; or

� all the debt securities of any series issued that have not been accepted by the trustee for cancellation will become due and
payable within one year (a �discharge�) and we have made irrevocable arrangements satisfactory to the trustee for the giving of
notice of redemption by such trustee in our name, and at our expense and we have irrevocably deposited or caused to be
deposited with the trustee sufficient funds to pay and discharge the entire indebtedness on the series of debt securities to pay
principal, interest and any premium;

� we have paid or caused to be paid all other sums then due and payable under the indenture; and

� we have delivered to the trustee an officers� certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent under the
indenture relating to the satisfaction and discharge of the indenture have been complied with.

We may elect to have our obligations under the indenture discharged with respect to the outstanding debt securities of any series (�legal
defeasance�). Legal defeasance means that we will be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire indebtedness represented by the outstanding
debt securities of such series under the indenture, except for:

� the rights of holders of the debt securities to receive principal, interest and any premium when due;

� our obligations with respect to the debt securities concerning issuing temporary debt securities, registration of transfer of debt
securities, mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen debt securities and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment for debt
securities payments held in trust;
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� the defeasance provisions of the indenture.
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In addition, we may elect to have our obligations released with respect to certain covenants in the indenture (�covenant defeasance�). Any failure
to comply with these obligations will not constitute a default or an event of default with respect to the debt securities of any series. In the event
covenant defeasance occurs, certain events, not including non-payment, bankruptcy and insolvency events, described under �Events of Default�
will no longer constitute an event of default for that series.

In order to exercise either legal defeasance or covenant defeasance with respect to outstanding debt securities of any series:

� we must irrevocably have deposited or caused to be deposited with the trustee as trust funds for the purpose of making the following
payments, specifically pledged as security for, and dedicated solely to the benefits of the holders of the debt securities of a series:

� money in an amount;

� U.S. Government Obligations; or

� a combination of money and U.S. Government Obligations,
in each case sufficient without reinvestment, in the written opinion of an internationally recognized firm of independent public accountants to
pay and discharge, and which shall be applied by the trustee to pay and discharge, all of the principal, interest and any premium at due date or
maturity or if we have made irrevocable arrangements satisfactory to the trustee for the giving of notice of redemption by the trustee in our name
and at our expense, the redemption date;

� in the case of legal defeasance, we must have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel stating that, as a result of an IRS ruling or
a change in applicable federal income tax law, the holders of the debt securities of that series will not recognize gain or loss for
federal income tax purposes as a result of the deposit, defeasance and discharge to be effected and will be subject to the same federal
income tax as would be the case if the deposit, defeasance and discharge did not occur;

� in the case of covenant defeasance, we must have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the holders of the
debt securities of that series will not recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the deposit and
covenant defeasance to be effected and will be subject to the same federal income tax as would be the case if the deposit and
covenant defeasance did not occur;

� no default with respect to the outstanding debt securities of that series has occurred and is continuing at the time of such deposit after
giving effect to the deposit or, in the case of legal defeasance, no default relating to bankruptcy or insolvency has occurred and is
continuing at any time on or before the 91st day after the date of such deposit, it being understood that this condition is not deemed
satisfied until after the 91st day;

� the legal defeasance or covenant defeasance will not cause the trustee to have a conflicting interest within the meaning of the Trust
Indenture Act, assuming all debt securities of a series were in default within the meaning of such Act;

� the legal defeasance or covenant defeasance will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any other
agreement or instrument to which we are a party;
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� the legal defeasance or covenant defeasance will not result in the trust arising from such deposit constituting an investment company
within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, unless the trust is registered under such Act or exempt
from registration; and

� we have delivered to the trustee an officers� certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions precedent with respect to
the defeasance or covenant defeasance have been complied with.
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Unclaimed Funds

All funds deposited with the trustee or any paying agent for the payment of principal, interest, premium or additional amounts in respect of the
debt securities that remain unclaimed for two years after the maturity date of such debt securities will be repaid to us upon our request.
Thereafter, any right of any noteholder to such funds shall be enforceable only against us, and the trustee and paying agents will have no liability
therefor.

Governing Law

The indenture and the debt securities for all purposes shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

Concerning Our Relationship with the Trustee

We maintain ordinary banking relationships and credit facilities with The Bank of New York Mellon.

DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS

We may issue warrants to purchase our debt or equity securities or securities of third parties or other rights, including rights to receive payment
in cash or securities based on the value, rate or price of one or more specified commodities, currencies, securities or indices, or any combination
of the foregoing. Warrants may be issued independently or together with any other securities and may be attached to, or separate from, such
securities. Each series of warrants will be issued under a separate warrant agreement to be entered into between us and a warrant agent. The
terms of any warrants to be issued and a description of the material provisions of the applicable warrant agreement will be set forth in the
applicable prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF PURCHASE CONTRACTS

We may issue purchase contracts for the purchase or sale of:

� debt or equity securities issued by us or securities of third parties, a basket of such securities, an index or indices or such securities or
any combination of the above as specified in the applicable prospectus supplement;

� currencies; or

� commodities.
Each purchase contract will entitle the holder thereof to purchase or sell, and obligate us to sell or purchase, on specified dates, such securities,
currencies or commodities at a specified purchase price, which may be based on a formula, all as set forth in the applicable prospectus
supplement. We may, however, satisfy our obligations, if any, with respect to any purchase contract by delivering the cash value of such
purchase contract or the cash value of the property otherwise deliverable or, in the case of purchase contracts on underlying currencies, by
delivering the underlying currencies, as set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. The applicable prospectus supplement will also
specify the methods by which the holders may purchase or sell such securities, currencies or commodities and any acceleration, cancellation or
termination provisions or other provisions relating to the settlement of a purchase contract.

The purchase contracts may require us to make periodic payments to the holders thereof or vice versa, which payments may be deferred to the
extent set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, and those payments may be unsecured or prefunded on some basis. The purchase
contracts may require the holders thereof to secure their obligations in a specified manner to be described in the applicable prospectus
supplement.
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Alternatively, purchase contracts may require holders to satisfy their obligations thereunder when the purchase contracts are issued. Our
obligation to settle such pre-paid purchase contracts on the relevant settlement date may constitute indebtedness. Accordingly, pre-paid purchase
contracts will be issued under the indenture.

DESCRIPTION OF UNITS

As specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, we may issue units consisting of one or more warrants, debt securities, shares of preferred
stock, shares of common stock or any combination of such securities.
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FORMS OF SECURITIES

Each debt security, warrant and unit will be represented either by a certificate issued in definitive form to a particular investor or by one or more
global securities representing the entire issuance of securities. Certificated securities in definitive form and global securities will be issued in
registered form. Definitive securities name you or your nominee as the owner of the security, and in order to transfer or exchange these
securities or to receive payments other than interest or other interim payments, you or your nominee must physically deliver the securities to the
trustee, registrar, paying agent or other agent, as applicable. Global securities name a depositary or its nominee as the owner of the debt
securities, warrants or units represented by these global securities. The depositary maintains a computerized system that will reflect each
investor�s beneficial ownership of the securities through an account maintained by the investor with its broker/dealer, bank, trust company or
other representative, as we explain more fully below.

Global Securities

Registered Global Securities. We may issue the registered debt securities, warrants and units in the form of one or more fully registered global
securities that will be deposited with a depositary or its nominee identified in the applicable prospectus supplement and registered in the name of
that depositary or nominee. In those cases, one or more registered global securities will be issued in a denomination or aggregate denominations
equal to the portion of the aggregate principal or face amount of the securities to be represented by registered global securities. Unless and until
it is exchanged in whole for securities in definitive registered form, a registered global security may not be transferred except as a whole by and
among the depositary for the registered global security, the nominees of the depositary or any successors of the depositary or those nominees.

If not described below, any specific terms of the depositary arrangement with respect to any securities to be represented by a registered global
security will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to those securities. We anticipate that the following provisions will apply to all
depositary arrangements.

Ownership of beneficial interests in a registered global security will be limited to persons, called participants, that have accounts with the
depositary or persons that may hold interests through participants. Upon the issuance of a registered global security, the depositary will credit, on
its book-entry registration and transfer system, the participants� accounts with the respective principal or face amounts of the securities
beneficially owned by the participants. Any dealers, underwriters or agents participating in the distribution of the securities will designate the
accounts to be credited. Ownership of beneficial interests in a registered global security will be shown on, and the transfer of ownership interests
will be effected only through, records maintained by the depositary, with respect to interests of participants, and on the records of participants,
with respect to interests of persons holding through participants. The laws of some states may require that some purchasers of securities take
physical delivery of these securities in definitive form. These laws may impair your ability to own, transfer or pledge beneficial interests in
registered global securities.

So long as the depositary, or its nominee, is the registered owner of a registered global security, that depositary or its nominee, as the case may
be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the securities represented by the registered global security for all purposes under the applicable
indenture, warrant agreement or unit agreement. Except as described below, owners of beneficial interests in a registered global security will not
be entitled to have the securities represented by the registered global security registered in their names, will not receive or be entitled to receive
physical delivery of the securities in definitive form and will not be considered the owners or holders of the securities under the applicable
indenture, warrant agreement or unit agreement. Accordingly, each person owning a beneficial interest in a registered global security must rely
on the procedures of the depositary for that registered global security and, if that person is not a participant, on the procedures of the participant
through which the person owns its interest, to exercise any rights of a holder under the applicable indenture, warrant agreement or unit
agreement. We understand that under existing industry practices, if we request any action of holders or if an owner of a beneficial interest in a
registered global security
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desires to give or take any action that a holder is entitled to give or take under the applicable indenture, warrant agreement or unit agreement, the
depositary for the registered global security would authorize the participants holding the relevant beneficial interests to give or take that action,
and the participants would authorize beneficial owners owning through them to give or take that action or would otherwise act upon the
instructions of beneficial owners holding through them.

Principal, premium, if any, and interest payments on debt securities, and any payments to holders with respect to warrants or units, represented
by a registered global security registered in the name of a depositary or its nominee will be made to the depositary or its nominee, as the case
may be, as the registered owner of the registered global security. None of Oracle, the trustee, any warrant agent, unit agent or any other agent of
Oracle, agent of the trustee or agent of such warrant agent or unit agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records
relating to payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the registered global security or for maintaining, supervising or
reviewing any records relating to those beneficial ownership interests.

We expect that the depositary for any of the securities represented by a registered global security, upon receipt of any payment of principal,
premium, interest or other distribution of underlying securities or other property to holders on that registered global security, will immediately
credit participants� accounts in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in that registered global security as shown on the
records of the depositary. We also expect that payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a registered global security held
through participants will be governed by standing customer instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with the securities held for
the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in �street name,� and will be the responsibility of those participants.

If the depositary for any of these securities represented by a registered global security is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as
depositary or ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act, and a successor depositary registered as a clearing agency under
the Exchange Act is not appointed by us within 90 days, we will issue securities in definitive form in exchange for the registered global security
that had been held by the depositary. Any securities issued in definitive form in exchange for a registered global security will be registered in the
name or names that the depositary gives to the relevant trustee, warrant agent, unit agent or other relevant agent of ours or theirs. It is expected
that the depositary�s instructions will be based upon directions received by the depositary from participants with respect to ownership of
beneficial interests in the registered global security that had been held by the depositary. In addition, we may at any time determine that the
securities of any series shall no longer be represented by a global security and will issue securities in definitive form in exchange for such global
security pursuant to the procedure described above.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We or selling security holders may sell the securities described in this prospectus in the following manner or any manner specified in a
prospectus supplement:

� directly to purchasers, through a specific bidding or auction process or otherwise;

� through agents;

� to or through underwriters;

� through dealers; and

� through a combination of any of the foregoing methods of sale.
If any securities are sold pursuant to this prospectus by any persons other than us, we will, in a prospectus supplement, name the selling security
holders, indicate the nature of any relationship such holders have had to us or any of our affiliates during the three years preceding such offering,
state the amount of securities of the class owned by such security holder prior to the offering and the amount to be offered for the security
holder�s account, and state the amount and (if one percent or more) the percentage of the class to be owned by such security holder after
completion of the offering.

We or any selling security holder may directly solicit offers to purchase securities, or agents may be designated to solicit such offers. We will, in
the prospectus supplement relating to such offering, name any agent that could be viewed as an underwriter under the Securities Act of 1933 and
describe any commissions that we or any selling security holder must pay. Any such agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of
its appointment or, if indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, on a firm commitment basis. Agents, dealers and underwriters may be
customers of, engage in transactions with, or perform services for us in the ordinary course of business.

If any underwriters or agents are utilized in the sale of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is delivered, we and, if applicable, any
selling security holder will enter into an underwriting agreement or other agreement with them at the time of sale to them, and we will set forth
in the prospectus supplement relating to such offering the names of the underwriters or agents and the terms of the related agreement with them.

If a dealer is utilized in the sale of the securities in respect of which the prospectus is delivered, we will sell such securities to the dealer, as
principal. The dealer may then resell such securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by such dealer at the time of resale.

Remarketing firms, agents, underwriters and dealers may be entitled under agreements which they may enter into with us to indemnification by
us and by any selling security holder against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and may be customers of,
engage in transactions with or perform services for us in the ordinary course of business.

In order to facilitate the offering of the securities, any underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the
price of the securities or any other securities the prices of which may be used to determine payments on such securities. Specifically, any
underwriters may overallot in connection with the offering, creating a short position for their own accounts. In addition, to cover overallotments
or to stabilize the price of the securities or of any such other securities, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, the securities or any such
other securities in the open market. Finally, in any offering of the securities through a syndicate of underwriters, the underwriting syndicate may
reclaim selling concessions allowed to an underwriter or a dealer for distributing the securities in the offering if the syndicate repurchases
previously distributed securities in transactions to cover syndicate short positions, in stabilization transactions or otherwise. Any of these
activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities above independent market levels. Any such underwriters are not required to
engage in these activities and may end any of these activities at any time.
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Any underwriter, agent or dealer utilized in the initial offering of securities will not confirm sales to accounts over which it exercises
discretionary authority without the prior specific written approval of its customer.
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VALIDITY OF SECURITIES

In connection with particular offerings of the securities in the future, and if stated in the applicable prospectus supplements, the validity of those
securities will be passed on for us by Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, and for any underwriters or agents, by counsel named in the applicable
prospectus supplement.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Oracle Corporation appearing in our Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended May 31, 2009
(including the schedule appearing therein), and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2009 included therein,
have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon included therein,
and incorporated herein by reference. Such financial statements are incorporated herein in reliance upon the report of Ernst & Young LLP
pertaining to such financial statements given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses payable by us in connection with the sale of the securities being registered hereby.

Amount to be
Paid

SEC Registration fee $ * 
Printing fees ** 
Legal fees and expenses ** 
Trustee fees and expenses ** 
Rating Agency fees ** 
Accounting fees and expenses ** 
Miscellaneous ** 
TOTAL $ ** 

* Omitted because the registration fee is being deferred pursuant to Rule 456(b).
** These fees and expenses depend on the securities offered and the number of issuances, and accordingly cannot be estimated at this time.
Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our Restated Certificate of Incorporation includes a provision that
eliminates the personal liability of each of our directors for monetary damages for breach of such director�s fiduciary duty as a director, except
for liability: (a) for any breach of the director�s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders; (b) for acts of omissions not in good faith or which
involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law; (c) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or (d) for
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. The directors� liability will be further limited to the extent
permitted by any future amendments to the Delaware General Corporation Law authorizing the further limitation or elimination of the liability of
directors.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our Bylaws provide that: (i) we are required to indemnify
our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, including those circumstances in which indemnification would
otherwise be discretionary; (ii) we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to such directors and officers in connection with defending a
proceeding (except that it is not required to advance expenses to a person against whom we bring a claim for breach of the duty of loyalty,
failure to act in good faith, intentional misconduct, knowing violation of the law or deriving an improper personal benefit); (iii) the rights
conferred in our Bylaws are not exclusive and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with such directors, officers and
employees; (iv) we are required to maintain director and officer liability insurance to the extent we determine that such insurance is reasonably
available; and (v) we may not retroactively amend the Bylaw provisions in a way that is adverse to such directors and officers.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and a number of our officers containing provisions which provide for the
indemnification of such director or officer, as applicable, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

The indemnification provisions in our Bylaws, and any indemnification agreements entered into between us and our directors or officers, may be
sufficiently broad to permit indemnification of our directors and officers for liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
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The proposed form of Underwriting Agreement filed as Exhibit 1.1 to this Registration Statement provides for indemnification of our directors
and officers by the underwriters against certain liabilities.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Registration Statement:

Exhibit No. Document

  1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement (Debt Securities)

  1.2 Form of Underwriting Agreement (Preferred Stock, Common Stock, Warrants, Purchase Contracts and Units) **

  4.1(1) Indenture dated January 13, 2006 among Oracle Corporation (formerly known as Ozark Holding Inc.), Oracle Systems
Corporation (formerly known as Oracle Corporation) and Citibank, N.A.

  4.2 Form of Note

  4.3(2) First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 between Oracle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A.

  4.4 Specimen Common Stock Certificate

  4.5 Specimen Preferred Stock Certificate**

  4.6 Form of Warrant Agreement for Warrants sold separately**

  4.7 Form of Warrant for Warrants sold separately (included in Exhibit 4.6)**

  4.8 Form of Warrant Agreement for Warrants sold attached to other Securities**

  4.9 Form of Warrant for Warrants sold attached to other Securities (included in Exhibit 4.8)**

  4.10 Form of Purchase Contract Agreement relating to Purchase Contracts**

  4.11 Form of Unit Agreement**

  5.1 Opinion of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

12.1 Statement regarding computation of Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

23.2 Consent of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of the Registration Statement)

25.1 Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1 of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

** To be filed by Current Report on Form 8-K.
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Oracle Systems Corporation on January 20, 2006.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Automatic Shelf Registration on Form S-3 filed by Oracle Corporation on May 10, 2007.
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Item 17. Undertakings

(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective
amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration
statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered
would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be
reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes
in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the �Calculation of
Registration Fee� table in the effective registration statement;

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any
material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment
by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the registrant pursuant to
Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in this registration statement, or is
contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to
be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered herein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(A) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the
filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

(B) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B
relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of
the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of
prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As
provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a
new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in
a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by
reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is
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part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any
statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document
immediately prior to such effective date.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of
the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this
registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to
such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be
considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the
undersigned registrant;

(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or
its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

(b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the trustee to act under
subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Commission under
Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act.

(c) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of
the registrant�s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each
filing of an employee benefit plan�s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by
reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(d) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supplement the prospectus, after the expiration of the subscription period, to set forth the
results of the subscription offer, the transactions by the underwriters during the subscription period, the amount of unsubscribed securities to be
purchased by the underwriters, and the terms of any subsequent reoffering thereof. If any public offering by the underwriters is to be made on
terms differing from those set forth on the cover page of the prospectus, a post-effective amendment will be filed to set forth the terms of such
offering.

(e) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling
persons of the registrants pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrants have been advised that in the opinion of the
Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In
the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrants will, unless in the opinion of their counsel the
matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is
against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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(f) (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus
filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the
time it was declared effective.

(2) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus
shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall
be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Redwood City, State of California, on May 7, 2010.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /S/    DORIAN DALEY        

Name: Dorian Daley
Title: Senior Vice President, General

Counsel and Secretary
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jeff Epstein, Dorian
Daley and Eric R. Ball, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including
post-effective amendments) to this registration statement and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or either of them or their or his or
her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/    LAWRENCE J. ELLISON        

Lawrence J. Ellison

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

May 7, 2010

/S/    JEFF EPSTEIN        

Jeff Epstein

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

May 7, 2010

/S/    WILLIAM COREY WEST        

William Corey West

Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)

May 7, 2010

/S/    JEFFREY O. HENLEY        

Jeffrey O. Henley

Chairman of the Board of Directors May 7, 2010

/S/    JEFFREY BERG        

Jeffrey Berg

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    H. RAYMOND BINGHAM        

H. Raymond Bingham

Director May 7, 2010
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Signature Title Date

/S/    MICHAEL J. BOSKIN

Michael J. Boskin

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    SAFRA A. CATZ        

Safra A. Catz

President and Director May 7, 2010

/S/    BRUCE R. CHIZEN        

Bruce R. Chizen

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    GEORGE H. CONRADES        

George H. Conrades

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    HECTOR GARCIA-MOLINA        

Hector Garcia-Molina

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    DONALD L. LUCAS        

Donald L. Lucas

Director May 7, 2010

/S/    CHARLES E. PHILLIPS, JR.        

Charles E. Phillips, Jr.

President and Director May 7, 2010

/S/    NAOMI O. SELIGMAN        

Naomi O. Seligman

Director May 7, 2010
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Document

  1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement (Debt Securities)

  1.2 Form of Underwriting Agreement (Preferred Stock, Common Stock, Warrants, Purchase Contracts and Units) **

  4.1(1) Indenture dated January 13, 2006 among Oracle Corporation (formerly known as Ozark Holding Inc.), Oracle Systems
Corporation (formerly known as Oracle Corporation) and Citibank, N.A.

  4.2 Form of Note

  4.3(2) First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, 2007 between Oracle Corporation, Citibank, N.A. and The Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A.

  4.4 Specimen Common Stock Certificate

  4.5 Specimen Preferred Stock Certificate**

  4.6 Form of Warrant Agreement for Warrants sold separately**

  4.7 Form of Warrant for Warrants sold separately (included in Exhibit 4.6)**

  4.8 Form of Warrant Agreement for Warrants sold attached to other Securities**

  4.9 Form of Warrant for Warrants sold attached to other Securities (included in Exhibit 4.8)**

  4.10 Form of Purchase Contract Agreement relating to Purchase Contracts**

  4.11 Form of Unit Agreement**

  5.1 Opinion of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

12.1 Statement regarding computation of Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

23.2 Consent of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of the Registration Statement)

25.1 Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1 of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

** To be filed by Current Report on Form 8-K.
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Oracle Systems Corporation on January 20, 2006.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Automatic Shelf Registration on Form S-3 filed by Oracle Corporation on May 10, 2007.
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(22
)%

(28
)%
Loss on exchange of warrants
—

—

(1,845,810
)

100
 %

(100
)%
Change in fair value of derivatives, net
39,269

9,163

(2,133,820
)

329
 %

(100
)%
Other income (expense), net
34,218

(10,075
)

9,640

(440
)%

(205
)%
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Total other income (expense), net
8,537

(83,856
)

(4,085,851
)

(110
)%

(98
)%
Net loss
$
(5,467,699
)

$
(7,560,200
)

$
(11,308,171
)

(28
)%

(33
)%

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of revenue for
the periods:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
2017

(As
Restated)
December
31, 2016

(As
Restated)
December
31, 2015

Revenue 100 % 100  % 100  %

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 47  % 49  % 54  %
Sales and marketing 31  % 38  % 45  %
General and administrative 38  % 42  % 45  %
Depreciation and amortization 6  % 6  % 7  %
Total costs and expenses 122 % 135  % 151  %
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Loss from operations (22 )% (35 )% (51 )%
Other income (expense):
Interest expense —  % —  % (1 )%
Loss on exchange of warrants —  % —  % (13 )%
Change in fair value of derivatives, net —  % —  % (15 )%
Other income (expense), net —  % —  % —  %
Total other income (expense), net —  % —  % (29 )%
Net loss (22 )% (35 )% (80 )%
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Revenue

We derive revenue from managing content services or advertising campaigns for our customers, as well as from
making our platforms available so marketers may purchase content directly from our creators. We categorize our
revenue by three primary revenue streams: revenue from our managed services when a marketer (typically a brand,
agency or partner) pays us to provide custom content, influencer marketing or amplification services (“Managed
Services”), revenue from transactions generated by the self-service use of our platforms by marketers to handle their
content workflow from initial content request to payment of content received or distributed (“Content Workflow”), and
revenue derived from various service and license fees charged to users of our platforms (“Service Fee Revenue”). As
discussed in more detail within "Critical Accounting Policies," revenue from our Managed Services and Service Fees
are presented on a gross basis and revenue from Content Workflow is presented on a net basis.

The following table illustrates our revenue by stream, the percentage of total revenue by stream, and the percentage of
change between the periods:

Twelve Months Ended Increase
(Decrease)

December 31,
2017

(As Restated)
December 31,
2016

(As Restated)
December 31,
2015

2017
vs
2016

2016
vs
2015

Managed Services $23,836,23698 % $20,393,75796 % $13,358,18895 % 17  % 53 %
Content Workflow, net 350,648 1 % 465,378 2 % 491,489 3 % (25)%(5 )%
Service Fees & Other 250,765 1 % 375,162 2 % 260,008 2 % (33)%44 %
Total Revenue $24,437,649100% $21,234,297100% $14,109,685100% 15  % 50 %

Revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 increased by $3,203,352, or approximately 15%,
compared to the same period in 2016. Revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 increased by
$7,124,612, or approximately 50%, compared to the same period in 2015.

We have invested the majority of our time and resources in our Managed Services which provides the majority of our
revenue. The acquisitions of Ebyline and ZenContent over the past two years allowed us to expand our product
offerings to provide custom content in addition to and in combination with our influencer marketing campaigns. The
increase in product offerings resulted in higher revenue per customer and repeat business from existing customers,
primarily due to concentrated sales efforts toward larger IZEA-managed campaigns that have components of both
custom content and influencer marketing.

Content Workflow revenue primarily generated from newspaper and traditional publishers through the Ebyline
platform on a self-service basis is declining year over year due to the ongoing consolidation and cutbacks in the
newspaper industry. Revenue from Content Workflow represents our net margins received on this business which
averaged approximately 7% in all years. We expect to see continued declines in Content Workflow revenue up to 35%
in 2018 compared to prior year levels due to an expected overall decline in the usage of our Ebyline platform by these
legacy customers.

Service Fee revenue decreased in the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, due to reduced licensing fees charged
to marketers using our platforms during 2017 as compared to 2016, as we were developing additional features in
IZEAx necessary to meet the future needs of our partners and self-service marketers and enable a better user
experience.

Cost of Revenue
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Our cost of revenue consists primarily of direct costs paid to our third-party creators who provide custom content and
advertising and our internal personnel costs for those primarily responsible for fulfillment of our obligations under our
Managed Services. Cost of revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 increased by $1,110,547, or
approximately 11%, compared to the same period in 2016.  The majority of this increase is proportional to the
increase in our revenue from Managed Services. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue declined by two basis
points from 49% in 2016 to 47% in 2017. Our direct costs related to third-party creators remained consistent at
approximately 40% of our cost of revenue for Managed Services in 2017 and 2016, while our internal fulfillment costs
declined to approximately 9% of our cost of revenues for Managed Services during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017 compared to 11% for the same period in 2016. This is due to a decrease of approximately
$100,000 in personnel costs as a result of a decrease in the number of campaign fulfillment personnel used to manage
our customer campaigns offset by standard salary increases. From November 2016 through 2017, we were able to
decrease the number of fulfillment personnel used to manage our campaigns following our implementation of
platform enhancements that enabled them to handle larger campaigns with minimal increase on their time.
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Cost of revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 increased by $2,876,232, or approximately 38%,
compared to the same period in 2015. The majority of this increase is proportional to the increase in our revenue from
Managed Services. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue declined by five basis points from 54% in 2015 to 49%
in 2016 as we implemented price increases on our custom content assets to bring them in line with pricing on our
influencer marketing services. Additionally, we were able to provide quality content creators and achieve efficiencies
in scale from the integration of Ebyline and ZenContent assets into our operations.

Sales and Marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 decreased by $396,393, or
approximately 5%, compared to the same period in 2016.  We increased our public relations expense by $300,000 as a
result of our IZEAFest Conference held in February 2017. However, in the remainder of 2017, we decreased our
spending on marketing and strategy by approximately $642,000 compared to 2016. This decrease came from the
non-renewal of our public relations and strategy consultants after July 2016 and a decrease in tradeshow attendance
and promotional spending as part of our efforts to reduce costs during 2017 to speed up our path to near term
profitability.

Sales and marketing expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016  increased by $1,703,237, or
approximately 27%, compared to the same period in 2015.  This increase was primarily the result of a $2.1 million
increase in sales personnel and contractor wages, taxes and benefit costs as we increased our average number of sales
and marketing personnel by 26% since the prior year. Commission expense included in the wages increased by
approximately $250,000 as a result of the increase in customer bookings. Travel costs and other variable costs
personnel costs increased by $228,000 as a result of increased training and corporate events during the first half of
2016. These increases were offset by a $623,000 decrease in public relations and marketing events during 2016 as
compared to 2015, because we held our IZEAFest Conference in late 2015 and did not repeat this event until early
2017.

General and Administrative 

     General and administrative expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 increased by $272,134, or
approximately 3%, compared to the same period in 2016. The increase was primarily attributable to the change in our
acquisition cost liability related to the ZenContent acquisition in July 2016, which contributed $386,579 to the
increase in general and administrative expense. On July 31, 2016, we purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital
stock of ZenContent for aggregate consideration up to $4,500,000, consisting of guaranteed payments of $2,000,000
and contingent performance payments up to $2,500,000 based on ZenContent meeting certain revenue targets for each
of the three years ending July 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019. These payments are subject to downward adjustment of up to
30% if Brianna DeMike, ZenContent’s co-founder, is terminated by IZEA for cause or if she terminates her
employment without good reason. As a result, the Company initially reduced its acquisition cost liability by $300,000
to be accrued as compensation expense over the three-year term rather than allocated to the purchase price in
accordance with ASC 805-10-55-25. The compensation expense recorded as general and administrative expense and
accrued to the acquisition cost liability during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $162,500
and $102,431, respectively. We also determined that the current fair value of the $2,500,000 contingent performance
payments for ZenContent was $744,510 as of December 31, 2017 compared to $324,000 as of December 31, 2016. As
a result of the change in the value, we recorded a $420,510 non-cash expense during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017. Of this amount, $185,945 was allocated to compensation expense and $234,565 was allocated as
an increase in the fair value of the contingent performance payments. During the twelve months ended December 31,
2016, we recorded a $94,000 increase in the fair value of the contingent performance payments when the estimated
fair value increased from the initial estimate of $230,000 on July 31, 2016 to $324,000 as of December 31, 2016. To
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the extent that our future estimates in the value of contingent performance payments change, this will continue to
affect our general and administrative expense.

The increase in general and administrative expense due to acquisition cost during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017 was partially offset by a $125,000 decrease in investor relation expenses due to the non-renewal
of our investor relations firm effective May 1, 2017 and lower Nasdaq filing fees. Stock option expense decreased by
approximately $27,000 due to completed vesting on prior option issuances and lesser option expense for newer option
issuances.

General and administrative expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 increased by $2,558,447, or
approximately 40%, compared to the same period in 2015. The increase was attributable to a $1 million increase in
personnel costs and a $142,000 increase in variable costs related to personnel such as software and subscription costs,
communication, travel and supply costs. These costs increased as a result of an increase in the average number of our
administrative and engineering personnel by 34% since the prior year period due to increasing demands and the need
to improve our platforms to
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meet customer needs and create operational efficiencies in response to increased demand for our services. The
increase in general and administrative expense is also attributable a $131,000 increase in rent for our additional office
locations. Legal fees decreased by $784,000 from the prior year period due to the settlement of our patent litigation in
August 2015.

General and administrative expense primarily increased as a result of a $2.0 million change between the 2015 and
2016 full year periods in our acquisition cost liability related to our acquisition of Ebyline in January 2015 and
ZenContent in July 2016. On January 30, 2015, we purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Ebyline
for aggregate consideration up to $8,850,000, including guaranteed payments of $3,350,000 and contingent
performance payments up to $5,500,000 based on Ebyline meeting certain revenue targets for each of the three years
ending December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017. We initially determined the fair value of the contingent payments to be
$2,210,000. Of this amount, $357,700 was determined to be future compensation expense and the $1,834,300
remainder was determined to be purchase consideration and recorded as acquisition costs payable. During the twelve
months ended December 31, 2015, we reassessed the expected revenues to be produced from Ebyline over the next
three years and did not believe that it would meet any of the targets required to achieve the performance payments.
Therefore, we recorded a gain of $1,834,300 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, due to the reduction in
our estimated fair value of contingent acquisition costs payable. As described above, we recorded compensation
expense of $102,431 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 related to the ZenContent acquisition
liability. We also determined that the current fair value of the contingent performance payments for ZenContent was
$324,000 as of December 31, 2016 versus our original estimate of $230,000 on July 31, 2016 and recorded the
$94,000 change as a general and administrative expense.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation expense on property and equipment was $211,769, $253,004, and $206,670 for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. Depreciation expense declined in 2017 due to minimal increases in
our property and equipment and many of our assets becoming fully depreciated. It increased in 2016 due to an
increase in equipment purchased for the additional personnel in 2016.

Our amortization expense increased by $258,191 as a result of additional amortization on the increase in our
intangible assets from software costs and the intangibles acquired in the Ebyline and ZenContent acquisitions.
Amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets was $994,627, $865,655, and $730,278 for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. The portion of this amortization expense specifically
related to the costs of acquired technology for our platforms that is presented separately from cost of revenue was
$106,000, $79,167, and $55,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.
Amortization expense related to internal use software development costs that is presented separately from cost of
revenue was $310,411, $181,192, and $122,183 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015,
respectively.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense and the change in the fair value of derivatives.

Interest expense decreased by $17,994 to $64,950 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 compared to
the same period in 2016 and by $32,917 to $82,944 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 compared to
the same period in 2015 primarily due to the lower imputed interest on the remaining balance of acquisition costs
payable.
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From July 20, 2015 through August 14, 2015, we offered a 25% discount on the warrant exercise prices to investors
holding our series A and series B warrants to purchase common stock issued in our August-September 2013 private
placement (the “2013 Warrants”) and a 26% discount on the warrant exercise prices to investors holding series A and
series B warrants to purchase common stock issued in our February 2014 private placement (the “2014 Warrants” and
together with the 2013 Warrants, the "Warrants"). At the close of the offer period on August 14, 2015, Warrants for a
total of 2,191,547 shares of common stock were exercised and converted into common stock at an average exercise
price of $5.87 per share for total proceeds of $12,861,057 less $3,972 in transaction costs. The amendment of
Warrants to reduce the exercise price required us to treat the adjustment as an exchange whereby we computed the fair
value of the Warrants immediately prior to the price reduction and the fair value of the Warrants after the price
reduction. The $1,845,810 change in the fair value of the Warrants as a result of the price reduction was treated as a
loss on exchange and recorded in the consolidated statements of operations during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2015.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are required to be recorded in other income (expense) in
the period of change. We recorded income of $39,269 and $9,163 and a loss of $2,133,820 resulting from the change
in the fair
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value of certain warrants and restricted stock during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015,
respectively.

The $44,293 increase and $19,715 decrease in other income (expense) between the periods is primarily the result of
currency exchange gains related to our Canadian transactions during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017,
2016, and 2015.

Net Loss

Net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 was $5,467,699, a $2,092,501improvement from the net loss
of $7,560,200 for the same period in 2016.  The decrease in net loss was primarily the result of the increased revenues
on our Managed Services as discussed above. Net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 was
$7,560,200, which was a decrease from the net loss of $11,308,171 for the same period in 2015.  The reduction in net
loss was primarily the result increased revenue and reduced costs on revenue along with a reduced expense from the
change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments partially offset by the increase in expenses as discussed
above.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Below are financial measures of our gross billings, cash-based operating expenses (“Cash Opex”) and Adjusted
EBITDA. These are “non-GAAP financial measures” as defined under the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). We use these non-GAAP financial measures to assess the progress of our business and make
decisions on where to allocate our resources. As our business evolves, we may make changes in future periods to the
key financial metrics that we consider to measure our business.

We define gross billings as the total dollar value of the amounts earned from our customers for the services we
performed, or the amounts charged to our customers for their self-service purchase of goods and services on our
platforms.
This is the amount of our reported revenue plus the cost of payments we made to third-party creators providing the
content or sponsorship services which are netted against revenue for GAAP reporting purposes.

    Gross billings for Content Workflow differs from revenue reported in our consolidated statements of operations,
which is presented net of the amounts we pay to our third-party creators providing the content or sponsorship services.
Gross billings for all other revenue equals the revenue reported in our consolidated statements of operations. We
consider this metric to be an important indicator of our performance as it measures the total dollar volume of
transactions generated through our marketplaces. Tracking gross billings allows us to monitor the percentage of gross
billings that we are able to retain after payments to our creators. Additionally, tracking gross billings is critical as it
pertains to our credit risk and cash flow. We invoice our customers based on our services performed or based on their
self-service transactions plus our fee. Then we remit the agreed-upon transaction price to the creators. If we do not
collect the money from our customers prior to the time of payment to our creators, we could experience large swings
in our cash flows. Finally, gross billings allows us to evaluate our transaction totals on an equal basis in order for us to
see our contribution margins by revenue stream so that we can better understand where we should be allocating our
resources.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation from the GAAP measurement of Revenue to our non-GAAP financial
measure of gross billings and the percentage change between the periods:

Twelve Months Ended Increase
(Decrease)

December 31,
2017

(As
Restated)
December
31, 2016

(As
Restated)
December
31, 2015

2017
vs
2016

2016
vs
2015

Revenue $24,437,649 $21,234,297 $14,109,685 15  % 50 %
Plus payments made to third-party creators (1) 4,744,325 6,076,306 6,358,241 (22)%(4 )%
Gross billings $29,181,974 $27,310,603 $20,467,926 7  % 33 %
(1)  Payments made to third-party creators for the Content Workflow portion of our revenue reported on a net basis for
GAAP.

In prior years, we broke out our gross revenue into categories labeled Sponsored Revenue, Content Revenue and
Service Fees. In January 2017, we revised the way we categorize our revenue streams into the current format of
Managed Services, Content Workflow and Service Fees & Other to more closely align the revenue streams based on
margin profiles and how we analyze our business.

The following table sets forth our gross billings by revenue stream, the percentage of total gross billings by stream,
and the percentage of change between the periods:

Twelve Months Ended
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Increase
(Decrease)

December 31,
2017

(As Restated)
December 31,
2016

(As Restated)
December 31,
2015

2017
vs
2016

2016
vs
2015

Managed Services $23,836,23682 % $20,393,75775 % $13,358,18865 % 17  % 53 %
Content Workflow 5,094,973 17 % 6,541,684 24 % 6,849,730 34 % (22)%(4 )%
Service Fees & Other 250,765 1 % 375,162 1 % 260,008 1 % (33)%44 %
Total Gross Billings by stream $29,181,974100% $27,310,603100% $20,467,926100% 7  % 33 %
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We define Cash Opex as the total of our operating expenses exclusive of unusual or non-cash expenses such as
depreciation and amortization, non-cash stock related compensation, gain or loss on asset disposals or impairment and
changes in acquisition cost estimates, and gains or losses on settlement of liabilities, if applicable.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings or loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, non-cash
stock-based compensation, gain or loss on asset disposals or impairment, changes in acquisition cost estimates, and all
other non-cash income and expense items such as gains or losses on settlement of liabilities and exchanges, and
changes in the fair value of derivatives, if applicable.

We use Cash Opex as a percentage of revenue and Adjusted EBITDA as measures of operating performance, for
planning purposes, to allocate resources to enhance the financial performance of our business and in communications
with our Board of Directors regarding our financial performance. We believe that Cash Opex as a percentage of
revenue and Adjusted EBITDA also provide useful information to investors as they exclude transactions not related to
our core cash operating business activities, including non-cash transactions, and they provide consistency and
facilitate period-to-period comparisons. We believe that excluding these transactions allows investors to meaningfully
trend and analyze the performance of our core cash operations. All companies do not calculate Cash Opex and
Adjusted EBITDA in the same manner, and Cash Opex and Adjusted EBITDA as presented by us may not be
comparable to Cash Opex and Adjusted EBITDA presented by other companies, which limits their usefulness as
comparative measures.

Moreover, Cash Opex and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them
in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our results of operations as under GAAP. These limitations include that
Cash Opex and Adjusted EBITDA:

•do not include stock-based compensation expense, which has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future,a significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy;

•
do not include stock issued for payment of services, which is a non-cash expense, but has been, and is expected to be
for the foreseeable future, an important means for us to compensate our vendors and other parties who provide us with
services;

•
do not include changes in acquisition cost estimates as a result of the allocation of acquisition costs payable to
compensation expense or changes in the estimate of contingent acquisition costs payable, which may or may not ever
be paid, but may be a significant recurring expense for our business if we continue to make business acquisitions;

•

do not include gains or losses on the settlement of acquisition costs payable or liabilities when the stock value, as
agreed upon in the agreement, varies from the market price of our stock on the settlement date, which is a non-cash
expense, but will continue to be a recurring expense for our business on certain business contracts where the amounts
can vary; and

•
do not include depreciation and intangible assets amortization expense, impairment charges and gains or losses on
disposal of equipment, which is not always a current period cash expense, but the assets being depreciated and
amortized may have to be replaced in the future.

Furthermore, Adjusted EBITDA excludes changes in fair value of derivatives, interest expense and other gains, losses,
and expenses that we believe are not indicative of our ongoing core operating results, but these items may represent a
reduction or increase in cash available to us.

Because of these limitations, Cash Opex should not be considered as a measure of our total operating expenses, and
adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the
operation and growth of our business or as a measure of cash that will be available to us to meet our obligations. You
should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using these non-GAAP
financial measures as supplements. In evaluating these non-GAAP financial measures, you should be aware that in the
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future we may incur expenses similar to those for which adjustments are made in calculating Cash Opex and Adjusted
EBITDA. Our presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures should also not be construed to infer that our
future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation from the GAAP measurement of Operating Expenses to our non-GAAP
financial measure of Cash Opex and Cash Opex as a percentage of revenue for the twelve months ended December 31,
2017, 2016, and 2015:
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2017 (As Restated)
2016

(As Restated)
2015

Total costs and expenses $29,913,885 $28,710,641 $21,332,005
Less:
Non-cash stock-based compensation 635,427 748,092 705,466
Non-cash stock issued for payment of services 181,995 133,897 177,842
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment (8,757 ) 9,435 595
(Gain) loss on settlement of acquisition costs payable (10,491 ) — —
Increase (decrease) in value of acquisition costs payable 583,010 196,431 (1,834,300 )
Depreciation and amortization 1,516,807 1,299,851 1,059,131
Total excluded expenses 2,897,991 2,387,706 108,734

Cash Opex $27,015,894 $26,322,935 $21,223,271

Revenue $24,437,649 $21,234,297 $14,109,685
Cash Opex / Revenue 111 % 124 % 150 %

The following table sets forth a reconciliation from the GAAP measurement of net loss to our non-GAAP financial
measure of Adjusted EBITDA for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2017
(As
Restated)
2016

(As Restated)
2015

Net loss $(5,467,699) $(7,560,200) $(11,308,171)
Non-cash stock-based compensation 635,427 748,092 705,466
Non-cash stock issued for payment of services 181,995 133,897 177,842
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment (8,757 ) 9,435 595
(Gain) loss on settlement of acquisition costs payable (10,491 ) — —
Increase (decrease) in value of acquisition costs payable 583,010 196,431 (1,834,300 )
Depreciation and amortization 1,516,807 1,299,851 1,059,131
Loss on exchange of warrants — — 1,845,810
Interest expense 64,950 82,944 115,861
Change in fair value of derivatives (39,269 ) (9,163 ) 2,133,820
Adjusted EBITDA $(2,544,027) $(5,098,713) $(7,103,946 )

The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA is the result of our increase in revenue from our Managed Services and the
reduction in our cash-based expenses as a percentage of our revenue.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents of $3,906,797 as of December 31, 2017 as compared to $5,949,004 as of
December 31, 2016, a decrease of $2,042,207 primarily due to the funding of our operating losses.  We have incurred
significant net losses and negative cash flow from operations for most periods since our inception, which has resulted
in a total accumulated deficit of $47,277,420 as of December 31, 2017.   To date, we have financed our operations
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through internally generated revenue from operations and the sale and exercise of our equity securities.

Cash used for operating activities was $2,366,967 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and is the
result of expenses exceeding our revenues. Cash used for investing activities was $189,686 during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2017 due to the payment of $203,000 related to the development of our proprietary software and
purchases of
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computer and office equipment for our expanded staff. These payments were offset by a net decrease of $13,000 in
leasehold deposits on our office space in California. Cash provided by financing activities during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2017 was $514,446, which amount consisted primarily of net advances received from our line of
credit with Western Alliance Bank. We also received cash of $26,249 from employee stock purchases offset by stock
issuance costs of $12,353.

On January 27, 2015, we entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement”) with
Ebyline, Inc. (“Ebyline”), pursuant to which we purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Ebyline. The
Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement required a cash payment at closing of $1,200,000, a stock issuance of $250,000
paid on July 30, 2015, and $1,877,064 paid in cash or stock in two equal installments of $938,532 on the first and
second anniversaries of the closing. On January 29, 2016, we issued 114,398 shares of our common stock to satisfy
the first annual guaranteed payment of $938,532 less $89,700 in closing related expenses. On January 30, 2017, we
issued 200,542 shares of our common stock to satisfy the second and final annual guaranteed payment of $938,532.
The Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement also required contingent performance payments up to $5,500,000 to be paid if
Ebyline met certain revenue targets for each of the three years ending December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017. None of
these targets were met; therefore no amounts are due for contingent performance payments. Therefore, the total
consideration paid for the Ebyline acquisition was $3,327,064.

On July 31, 2016, we entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “ZenContent Stock Purchase Agreement”) with
ZenContent, Inc. (“ZenContent”), pursuant to which we purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of
ZenContent. Upon closing we paid a cash payment of $400,000 and issued 86,207 shares of our common stock valued
at $600,000. The ZenContent Stock Purchase Agreement also requires (i) three equal annual installment payments
totaling $1,000,000, commencing 12 months following the closing and (ii) contingent performance payments of up to
an aggregate of $2,500,000 over the three 12-month periods following the closing, based upon ZenContent achieving
certain minimum revenue thresholds. Of these payments, 33% of each such annual installment or contingent
performance payment will be in the form of cash and the remainder of such payment will be in the form of either cash
or additional shares of our common stock (determined at our option). If we decide to issue stock rather than make cash
payments, this may result in the issuance of substantial amount of shares because the number of shares will be
determined using the 30 trading-day volume-weighted average closing price of our common stock prior to the
payment. On July 31, 2017, we paid $266,898 all in cash for the first annual installment of $333,333 less $66,435 in
working capital adjustments. The revenue produced by the ZenContent platform did not meet the minimum threshold
for contingent payments in the first 12-month period ended July 31, 2017, but we estimate that it should exceed the
minimum threshold and earn some portion of these amounts during the second and third 12-month periods as
evidenced by the increasing value of our estimated acquisition liability.

We have a secured credit facility agreement with Western Alliance Bank, the parent company of Bridge Bank,
National Association. Pursuant to this agreement, we may submit requests for funding up to 80% of our eligible
accounts receivable up to a maximum credit limit of $5 million. As of December 31, 2017, we had $500,550
outstanding under this agreement. Assuming that all of our accounts receivable balance was eligible for funding, we
had remaining available credit of $2,457,180 under the agreement as of December 31, 2017.

We believe that, with our current cash and our available credit line with Western Alliance Bank, we will have
sufficient cash reserves available to cover expenses for longer than the next twelve months. Given the volatility in
U.S. equity markets and our normal working capital fluctuations along with requirements to maintain minimum levels
of stockholders' equity per Nasdaq listing rules, we may seek to raise additional capital at any time to supplement our
operating cash flows to the extent we can do so on competitive market terms. In such event, an equity financing may
dilute the ownership interests of our common stockholders.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2017, we do not engage in any activities involving variable interest entities or off-balance sheet
arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires
us to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial
statements and the accompanying notes.  The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities.  On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those
related to revenue recognition, tax positions and stock-based compensation. When making these estimates and
assumptions, we consider our historical experience, our knowledge of economic and market factors and various other
factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.  The following critical accounting policies are significantly affected by
judgments, assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. Uncollectibility of accounts receivable is
not significant since most customers are bound by contract and are required to fund us for all the costs of an
“opportunity,” defined as an order created by a marketer for a creator to develop or share content on behalf of a
marketer. If a portion of the account balance is deemed uncollectible, we will either write-off the amount owed or
provide a reserve based on the uncollectible portion of the account. Management determines the collectibility of
accounts by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition,
credit history and current economic conditions. We have a reserve of $189,000 for doubtful accounts as of
December 31, 2017. We believe that this estimate is reasonable, but there can be no assurance that the estimate will
not change as a result of a change in economic conditions or business conditions within the industry, the individual
customers or our Company. Any adjustments to this account are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations
as a general and administrative expense. Bad debt expense was less than 1% of revenue for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Software Development Costs and Acquired Intangible Software

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350-40, Internal Use Software, we capitalize certain
internal use software development costs associated with creating and enhancing internally developed software related
to our platforms. Software development activities generally consist of three stages (i) the research and planning stage,
(ii) the application and development stage, and (iii) the post-implementation stage. Costs incurred in the planning and
post-implementation stages of software development, or other maintenance and development expenses that do not
meet the qualification for capitalization are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in the application and infrastructure
development stage, including significant enhancements and upgrades, are capitalized. These costs include personnel
and related employee benefits expenses for employees or consultants who are directly associated with and who devote
time to software projects, and external direct costs of materials obtained in developing the software. As a result, we
have capitalized $1,561,351 to software development costs in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2017. We also acquired additional proprietary software platforms valued at $530,000 during our acquisition of
Ebyline and ZenContent. These costs are reflected as intangible assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2017. We do not transfer ownership of our software to third parties. These software development and
acquired technology costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of five years upon initial
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release of the software or additional features under depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from managing content services or advertising campaigns for our customers, as well as from
making our platforms available to allow customers the ability to purchase content directly from our creators. We
categorize our revenue by three primary revenue streams: Managed Services, Content Workflow, and Service Fee
Revenue. Managed Services is when a marketer (typically a brand, agency or partner) contracts IZEA to provide
custom content, influencer marketing or amplification services. Content Workflow is derived from the self-service use
of our platforms by marketers to handle their content workflow, from initial content request to payment of content
received or distributed. Service Fee Revenue is generated from various service and license fees charged to users of our
platforms.
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We recognize revenue when four basic criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) services
have been rendered or delivery has occurred; (iii) the fees are fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectibility is
reasonably assured. We maintain separate arrangements with each marketer and content creator either in the form of a
master agreement or terms of service, which specifies the terms of the relationship and access to our platforms, or by
statement of work, which specifies the price and the services to be performed, along with other terms. We recognize
revenue as the service is being performed, upon delivery of the content or promotion, or upon the completion of a
transaction, as detailed further below. We assess whether fees are fixed or determinable based on the contractual terms
of the arrangements or when the ordered services are delivered. We assess collectibility based on a number of factors,
including the creditworthiness of the customer and payment and transaction history. Revenue is reported depending on
whether we function as principal or agent in the transaction. The determination of whether we act as the principal or
the agent is highly subjective and requires us to evaluate a number of indicators individually and as a whole in order to
make our determination. For transactions in which we are the principal, revenue is reported on a gross basis for the
amount paid by the marketer for the purchase of content or sponsorship, promotion and other related services and we
record the amounts we pay to our third-party creators as cost of revenue. For transactions in which we are the agent,
revenue is reported on a net basis for the amount we charged to the self-service marketer using our platform, less the
amounts we paid to our third-party creators providing the service. Based on our evaluations, revenue from our
Managed Services and Service Fees are reported on a gross basis and revenue from Content Workflow is reported on a
net basis.

For our Managed Services, we enter into an agreement to provide services that may require multiple deliverables in
the form of: (i) sponsored social items, such as blogs, tweets, photos or videos shared through social network offerings
that provide awareness or advertising buzz regarding the marketer's brand; (ii) content promotion, such as
click-through advertisements appearing in websites and social media channels and (iii) original content items, such as
a research or news article, informational material or videos that a publisher or other marketer can use. We may
provide one type or a combination of all types of these deliverables, including a management fee on a statement of
work for a lump sum fee. The agreement typically provides for a cancellation fee if the agreement is canceled by the
customer prior to our completion of services. Marketers who use us to manage their advertising campaigns or custom
content requests may prepay for services or request credit terms. Payment terms are typically 30 days from the invoice
date. Payments received or billings in advance of completed services are recorded as unearned revenue until earned as
described below. The deliverables are to be provided over a stated period that may range from one day to one year.
Each item is considered delivered once the custom content has been delivered to the customer or once the content is
distributed live through a public or social network. Revenue is accounted for separately on each of the deliverables
depending on the type of service provided. We recognize revenue related to influencer marketing services after a
marketer's sponsored content is posted through IZEAx and shared through a creator's social network. Management
fees from customer campaigns managed by us are recognized ratably over the term of the campaign, which may range
from a few days to one year. Revenue related to custom content provided to a marketer is recognized when the content
is delivered to the customer. We are the principal in these arrangements as we: (i) are the primary obligor in the
agreement; (ii) established the purchase prices paid by the buyer; (iii) performed all billing and collection activities
including the retention of credit risk; (iv) had latitude in selecting and managing the creators; (v) negotiated the price
we pay to the creators for their content and sponsored social services; and (vi) were responsible for the review,
compliance and delivery of the services. Accordingly, for these arrangements we report revenue on a gross basis.

For Content Workflow services, the self-service marketer contracts the creators within our platforms directly to
provide or distribute custom content in a cost plus transaction fee type arrangement. Our platforms control the
contracting, description of services, acceptance of and payment for the requested content. This service is used
primarily by news agencies or marketers to control the outsourcing of their content and advertising needs. Revenue is
recognized when the transaction is completed by the creator and accepted by the marketer. For these services, in
which our platforms connect the marketers and creators, enabling them to negotiate pricing and deliverables along
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with other terms directly, we report revenue on a net basis because we: (i) are not the primary obligor for the purchase
of content and promotion services, but rather provide a platform to facilitate the purchase of these services; (ii) do not
have pricing latitude, as pricing is generally determined through direct negotiation between the marketer and creator
through our platform and we invoice the marketer based on the negotiated price plus a transaction fee; and (iii) do not
directly select the creators, review or approve the content or services provided.

Service Fee Revenue is generated when fees are charged to customers primarily related to subscription fees for
different levels of service within a platform, licensing fees for the use of our platforms, inactivity fees and early
cash-out fees. Fees for subscription or licensing services are recognized straight-line over the term of service, while
other fees are recognized at a point in time when the account is deemed inactive or a cash-out below certain minimum
thresholds is requested.

Changes in how we control and manage our platforms, our contractual terms, our business practices, or other changes
in accounting standards or interpretations, may change the reporting of our revenue. Effective January 1, 2018, we
became
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subject to new guidelines for disclosing and accounting for our revenue from contracts with customers. See “Note 1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for information on ASC 606
as it relates to our revenue recognition policies.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an
expense over the employee’s requisite service period.  We estimate the fair value of each stock option as of the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  Options typically vest ratably over four years with one-fourth of options
vesting one year from the date of grant and the remaining options vesting monthly, in equal increments over the
remaining three-year period and generally have five or ten-year contract lives.  We estimate the fair value of our
common stock using the closing stock price of our common stock on the date of the grant.  We estimate the volatility
of our common stock at the date of grant based on the volatility of comparable peer companies that are publicly traded
and have had a longer trading history than us. We determine the expected life based on historical experience with
similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, vesting schedules and post-vesting forfeitures. We use
the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with an equivalent remaining
term approximately equal to the expected life of the award. We have never paid any cash dividends on our common
stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We estimate forfeitures when
recognizing compensation expense and this estimate of forfeitures is adjusted over the requisite service period based
on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from such estimates. Changes in estimated
forfeitures are recognized through a cumulative catch-up adjustment, which is recognized in the period of change, and
a revised amount of unamortized compensation expense to be recognized in future periods.
The following table shows the number of options granted under our 2011 Equity Incentive Plans and the assumptions
used to determine the fair value of those options during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Period Ended
Total
Options
Granted

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price

Weighted Average
Expected Term

Weighted
Average
Volatility

Weighted Average
Risk Free Interest
Rate

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

December 31,
2016 179,998 $6.16 6.0 years 47.95% 1.58% $2.88

December 31,
2017 141,246 $3.49 6.0 years 50.16% 2.06% $1.76

There were outstanding options to purchase 1,049,503 shares with a weighted average exercise price of $5.97 per
share, of which options to purchase 726,426 shares were exercisable with a weighted average exercise price of $6.24
per share as of December 31, 2017.   The intrinsic value on outstanding options as of December 31, 2017 was
$159,671. The intrinsic value on exercisable options as of December 31, 2017 was $20,102.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

     See “Note 1. Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
for information on additional recent pronouncements.

ITEM 7A – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable to smaller reporting companies.
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ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
IZEA, Inc.
Winter Park, Florida

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of IZEA, Inc. (the “Company”) and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Restatement to Correct 2016 and 2015 Misstatements
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the 2015 and 2016 consolidated financial statements
have been restated to correct misstatements.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.

Tampa, Florida
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IZEA, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Assets
Current:
Cash and cash equivalents $3,906,797 $5,949,004 $11,608,452
Accounts receivable, net 3,647,025 3,745,695 3,917,925
Prepaid expenses 389,104 322,377 193,455
Other current assets 9,140 11,940 16,853
Total current assets 7,952,066 10,029,016 15,736,685

Property and equipment, net 286,043 460,650 596,008
Goodwill 3,604,720 3,604,720 2,468,289
Intangible assets, net 667,909 1,662,536 1,806,191
Software development costs, net 967,927 1,103,959 813,932
Security deposits 148,638 161,736 117,946
Total assets $13,627,303 $17,022,617 $21,539,051

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $1,756,841 $1,438,389 995,275
Accrued expenses 1,592,356 1,242,889 908,519
Unearned revenue 3,070,502 3,315,563 3,584,527
Line of credit 500,550 — —
Current portion of deferred rent 45,127 34,290 14,662
Current portion of capital lease obligations — — 7,291
Current portion of acquisition costs payable 741,155 1,252,885 844,931
Total current liabilities 7,706,531 7,284,016 6,355,205

Deferred rent, less current portion 17,419 62,547 102,665
Acquisition costs payable, less current portion 609,768 688,191 889,080
Warrant liability — — 5,060
Total liabilities 8,333,718 8,034,754 7,352,010

Commitments and Contingencies — — —

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; $.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no
shares issued and outstanding — — —

Common stock, $.0001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized;
5,733,981, 5,456,118 and 5,222,951, respectively, issued and outstanding 573 545 522

Additional paid-in capital 52,570,432 50,797,039 48,436,040
Accumulated deficit (47,277,420 ) (41,809,721 ) (34,249,521 )
Total stockholders’ equity 5,293,585 8,987,863 14,187,041

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $13,627,303 $17,022,617 $21,539,051
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IZEA, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2017
(As Restated)
2016 (As Restated)

2015

Revenue $24,437,649 $21,234,297 $14,109,685

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 11,585,316 10,474,769 7,598,537
Sales and marketing 7,593,197 7,989,590 6,286,353
General and administrative 9,218,565 8,946,431 6,387,984
Depreciation and amortization 1,516,807 1,299,851 1,059,131
Total costs and expenses 29,913,885 28,710,641 21,332,005

Loss from operations (5,476,236 ) (7,476,344 ) (7,222,320 )

Other income (expense):
Interest expense (64,950 ) (82,944 ) (115,861 )
Loss on exchange of warrants — — (1,845,810 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 39,269 9,163 (2,133,820 )
Other income (expense), net 34,218 (10,075 ) 9,640
Total other income (expense), net 8,537 (83,856 ) (4,085,851 )

Net loss $(5,467,699 ) $(7,560,200 ) $(11,308,171)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted 5,674,901 5,380,465 3,737,897
Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.96 ) $(1.41 ) $(3.03 )
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IZEA, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In Accumulated Total

Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity

Balance, December 31, 2014 2,885,424 $ 289 $27,200,536 $(22,941,350) $4,259,475
Fair value of warrants issued — — 51,950 — 51,950
Fair value of 2014 private placement warrants
reclassified from liability to equity & loss on
exchange

— — 7,178,035 — 7,178,035

Stock issued for payment of acquisition liability 31,821 3 249,997 — 250,000
Exercise of warrants 2,191,547 219 12,860,838 — 12,861,057
Stock purchase plan issuances 13,403 1 76,169 — 76,170
Stock issued for payment of services 100,756 10 125,982 — 125,992
Stock issuance costs — — (12,933 ) — (12,933 )
Stock-based compensation — — 705,466 — 705,466
Net loss — — — (11,308,171 ) (11,308,171 )
Balance, December 31, 2015 5,222,951 $ 522 $48,436,040 $(34,249,521) $14,187,041
Stock issued for payment of acquisition liability 200,605 20 1,448,812 — 1,448,832
Stock purchase plan issuances 11,453 1 58,020 — 58,021
Stock issued for payment of services 21,109 2 129,792 — 129,794
Stock issuance costs — — (23,717 ) — (23,717 )
Stock-based compensation — — 748,092 — 748,092
Net loss — — — (7,560,200 ) (7,560,200 )
Balance, December 31, 2016 5,456,118 $ 545 $50,797,039 $(41,809,721) $8,987,863
Stock issued for payment of acquisition liability 200,542 20 928,021 — 928,041
Stock purchase plan issuances 16,168 2 26,247 — 26,249
Stock issued for payment of services 48,879 5 154,995 — 155,000
Stock issuance costs — — (12,353 ) — (12,353 )
Stock-based compensation 12,274 1 676,483 — 676,484
Net loss — — — (5,467,699 ) (5,467,699 )
Balance, December 31, 2017 5,733,981 $ 573 $52,570,432 $(47,277,420) $5,293,585
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IZEA, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(5,467,699) $(7,560,200) (11,308,171 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 211,769 253,004 206,670
Amortization of software development costs and other intangible assets 1,305,038 1,046,847 852,461
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment (8,757 ) 9,435 595
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 40,302 163,000 163,535
Stock-based compensation 635,427 748,092 705,466
Fair value of stock issued for payment of services 181,995 133,897 177,842
Increase in fair value of contingent acquisition costs payable 234,565 94,000 (1,834,300 )
Gain on settlement of acquisition costs payable (10,491 ) — —
Loss on exchange of warrants — — 1,845,810
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (39,269 ) (9,163 ) 2,133,820
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of business
acquired:
Accounts receivable 58,368 346,414 (1,608,561 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (10,596 ) (115,927 ) 83,244
Accounts payable 318,452 443,114 141,325
Accrued expenses 463,281 17,487 582,851
Unearned revenue (245,061 ) (268,964 ) 1,783,559
Deferred rent (34,291 ) (20,490 ) 896
Net cash used for operating activities (2,366,967 ) (4,719,454 ) (6,072,958 )

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment (28,405 ) (122,530 ) (187,160 )
Increase in software development costs (174,379 ) (471,219 ) (452,571 )
Acquisition, net of cash acquired — (329,468 ) (1,072,055 )
Security deposits 13,098 (43,790 ) 1,248
Net cash used for investing activities (189,686 ) (967,007 ) (1,710,538 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit 500,550 — —
Proceeds from stock purchase plan issuances 26,249 58,021 76,170
Proceeds from exercise of warrants — — 12,861,157
Stock issuance costs (12,353 ) (23,717 ) (12,933 )
Payments on capital lease obligations — (7,291 ) (54,376 )
Net cash from financing activities 514,446 27,013 12,870,018

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,042,207 ) (5,659,448 ) 5,086,522
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,949,004 11,608,452 6,521,930

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $3,906,797 $5,949,004 $11,608,452

Supplemental cash flow information:
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Cash paid during the period for interest $37,898 $21,230 $6,401

Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Acquisition costs paid through issuance of common stock $938,532 $1,448,832 $250,000
Fair value of common stock issued for future services $53,331 $— $—
Acquisition costs payable for assets acquired $— $— $3,942,639
Fair value of warrants reclassified from liability to equity $— $— $6,530,046
Fair value of warrants issued $— $— $51,950
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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IZEA, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1.    COMPANY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business
IZEA, Inc. (together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, “we,” “us,” “our,” “IZEA” or the “Company”) was founded in February
2006 under the name PayPerPost, Inc. and became a public company incorporated in the state of Nevada in May 2011.
In January 2015, IZEA purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Ebyline, Inc. (“Ebyline”). In July
2016, IZEA purchased all the outstanding shares of capital stock of ZenContent, Inc. (“ZenContent”). The legal entity of
ZenContent was dissolved in December 2017 after all assets and transactions were transferred to IZEA. On March 9,
2016, the Company formed IZEA Canada, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, incorporated in Ontario, Canada to
operate as a sales and support office for IZEA's Canadian customers. The Company is headquartered near Orlando,
Florida with additional offices in Illinois, California and Canada.

The Company creates and operates online marketplaces that connects marketers with content creators. The creators are
compensated by IZEA for producing and distributing unique content such as long and short form text, videos, photos,
status updates, and illustrations for marketers or distributing such content on behalf of marketers through their
personal websites, blogs, and social media channels. Marketers receive influential consumer content and engaging,
shareable stories that drive awareness.

The Company's primary technology platform, The IZEA Exchange (“IZEAx”), enables transactions to be completed at
scale through the management of custom content workflow, creator search and targeting, bidding, analytics, and
payment processing. IZEAx is designed to provide a unified ecosystem that enables the creation and publication of
multiple types of custom content through a creator's personal websites, blogs, or social media channels including
Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube among others. In addition to IZEAx, the Company operates the Ebyline
technology platform, which it acquired in January 2015. The Ebyline platform was originally designed as a
self-service content marketplace to replace editorial newsrooms in the news agencies with a “virtual newsroom” to
handle their content workflow.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of IZEA, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ebyline
after its acquisition on January 27, 2015, ZenContent, Inc. after its acquisition on July 31, 2016 until its closure in
December 2017, and IZEA Canada, Inc. after its formation in March 2016. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared using the acquisition method of accounting with IZEA
considered the accounting acquirer of Ebyline and ZenContent. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the
purchase price is allocated to the underlying tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on
their respective fair market values with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill.

Restatement
In connection with the year-end financial statement close process, the process of evaluating the adoption of the new
accounting pronouncement for revenue recognition, and preparation of this Annual Report, the Company determined
that its previously issued financial statements included in its Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2016 and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each quarterly period for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2016, and for the first three quarters for the year ended December 31, 2017 (collectively, the
“Restated Periods”) should be restated due to classification errors related to the Company's presentation of revenue
related to the self-service Content Workflow portion of its revenue and the Company's classification of certain costs
within the consolidated statement of operations related to Managed Services. See Notes 2 and 14 for further
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information and quantitative information on the Restated Periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less from the date
of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk
Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. Uncollectibility of accounts receivable is
not significant since most customers are bound by contract and are required to fund the Company for all the costs of
an “opportunity,” defined as an order created by a marketer for a creator to develop or share content on behalf of a
marketer. If a portion of the account balance is deemed uncollectible, the Company will either write-off the amount
owed or provide a reserve based on the uncollectible portion of the account. Management determines the collectibility
of accounts by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition,
credit history and current economic conditions. The Company had a reserve of $189,000, $237,000, and $139,000 for
doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.
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IZEA, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management believes that this estimate is reasonable, but there can be no assurance that the estimate will not change
as a result of a change in economic conditions or business conditions within the industry, the individual customers or
the Company. Any adjustments to this account are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as a general
and administrative expense. Bad debt expense was less than 1% of revenue for the twelve months ended December 31,
2017, 2016, and 2015.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are typically limited because a large number of
geographically diverse customers make up the Company’s customer base, thus spreading the trade credit risk. The
Company also controls credit risk through credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. The Company
performs credit evaluations of its customers but generally does not require collateral to support accounts receivable.
The Company had no customers that accounted for more than 10% of total accounts receivable at December 31, 2017
and 2016 and one customer that accounted for 13% of total accounts receivable at December 31, 2015. The Company
had no customer that accounted for more than 10% of its revenue during the twelve months ended December 31,
2017, one customer that accounted for 11% of its revenue during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016, and
one customer that accounted for 12% of its revenue during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, or if acquired in a business combination, at the acquisition date fair
value. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:
Computer Equipment 3 years
Software Costs 3 - 5 years
Office Equipment 3 - 10 years
Furniture and Fixtures 5 - 10 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the
improvements. Property and equipment under capital leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Expenditures for betterments and major
improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the assets. The carrying amounts of
assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated in the year of disposal, with resulting
gains or losses included in general and administrative expense.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration of an acquired business over the fair value of the
underlying net tangible and intangible assets. The Company has goodwill in connection with its acquisition of Ebyline
and ZenContent. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead it is tested for impairment at least annually. In the event that
management determines that the value of goodwill has become impaired, the Company will record a charge for the
amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which the determination is made.

The Company performs its annual impairment tests of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each year, or more
frequently, if certain indicators are present. Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level.
A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below the operating segment level, which is referred to as a
component. Management identifies its reporting units by assessing whether components (i) have discrete financial
information available; (ii) engage in business activities; and (iii) whether a segment manager regularly reviews the
component's operating results. Net assets and goodwill of acquired businesses are allocated to the reporting unit
associated with the acquired business based on the anticipated organizational structure of the combined entities. If two
or more components are deemed economically similar, those components are aggregated into one reporting unit when
performing the annual goodwill impairment review. The Company has determined that prior to and after the
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acquisition of Ebyline and ZenContent, it had, and continues to have, one reporting unit.

Intangible Assets
The Company acquired the majority of its intangible assets through its acquisition of Ebyline on January 30, 2015 and
its acquisition of ZenContent on July 31, 2016. The Company is amortizing the identifiable intangible assets over a
period of 12 to 60 months. See Note 5 for further details.

Management reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment, software development costs and other
intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. If an evaluation is required, the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the
asset are compared with the asset's carrying amount to determine if there has been an impairment, which is calculated
as the difference between the fair value of an asset and its carrying value. Estimates of future undiscounted cash flows
are based on expected growth rates for the business, anticipated future economic conditions and estimates of residual
values. Fair values take into consideration management estimates of risk-
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adjusted discount rates, which are believed to be consistent with assumptions that marketplace participants would use
in their estimates of fair value. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, there were no
impairment charges associated with the Company's long-lived assets.

Software Development Costs
In accordance with ASC 350-40, Internal Use Software, the Company capitalizes certain internal use software
development costs associated with creating and enhancing internally developed software related to its platforms.
Software development activities generally consist of three stages (i) the research and planning stage, (ii) the
application and development stage, and (iii) the post-implementation stage. Costs incurred in the planning and
post-implementation stages of software development, or other maintenance and development expenses that do not
meet the qualification for capitalization are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in the application and infrastructure
development stage, including significant enhancements and upgrades, are capitalized. These costs include personnel
and related employee benefits expenses for employees or consultants who are directly associated with and who devote
time to software projects, and external direct costs of materials obtained in developing the software. These software
development and acquired technology costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of five
years upon initial release of the software or additional features. See Note 6 for further details.

Revenue Recognition
The Company derives revenue from managing content services or advertising campaigns for its customers, as well as
from making its platforms available to allow customers the ability to purchase content directly from its creators. In
January 2017, the Company revised the way it categorizes its revenue streams to more closely align the revenue based
on margin profiles and how it currently analyzes the business. The revised categories are as follows: Managed
Services, Content Workflow, and Service Fee Revenue. Managed Services is when a marketer (typically a brand,
agency or partner) contracts IZEA to provide custom content, influencer marketing or amplification services. Content
Workflow is derived from the self-service use of the Company's platforms by marketers to handle their content
workflow, from initial content request to payment of content received or distributed. Service Fee Revenue is generated
from various service and license fees charged to users of the Company's platforms.

The Company recognizes revenue when four basic criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
(ii) services have been rendered or delivery has occurred; (iii) the fees are fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectibility
is reasonably assured. The Company maintains separate arrangements with each marketer and content creator either in
the form of a master agreement or terms of service, which specifies the terms of the relationship and access to its
platforms, or by statement of work, which specifies the price and the services to be performed, along with other terms.
The Company recognizes revenue as the service is being performed, upon delivery of the content or promotion, or
upon the completion of a transaction, as detailed further below. The Company assesses whether fees are fixed or
determinable based on the contractual terms of the arrangements or when the ordered services are delivered. The
Company assesses collectibility based on a number of factors, including the creditworthiness of the customer and
payment and transaction history. Revenue is reported depending on whether the Company functions as principal or
agent in the transaction. The determination of whether the Company acts as the principal or the agent is highly
subjective and requires the Company to evaluate a number of indicators individually and as a whole in order to make
its determination. For transactions in which the Company is the principal, revenue is reported on a gross basis for the
amount paid by the marketer for the purchase of content or sponsorship, promotion and other related services. The
Company records the amounts it pays to its third-party creators as cost of revenue. For transactions in which the
Company is the agent, revenue is reported on a net basis for the amount the Company charged to the self-service
marketer using the platform, less the amounts the Company paid to its third-party creators providing the service.
Based on the Company's evaluations, revenue from Managed Services and Service Fees are reported on a gross basis
and revenue from Content Workflow is reported on a net basis.
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For Managed Services, the Company enters into an agreement to provide services that may require multiple
deliverables in the form of: (i) sponsored social items, such as blogs, tweets, photos or videos shared through social
network offerings that provide awareness or advertising buzz regarding the marketer's brand; (ii) content promotion,
such as click-through advertisements appearing in websites and social media channels; and (iii) original content items,
such as a research or news article, informational material or videos that a publisher or other marketer can use. The
Company may provide one type or a combination of all types of these deliverables including a management fee on a
statement of work for a lump sum fee. These deliverables are to be provided over a stated period that may range from
one day to one year. Each item is considered delivered once the custom content has been delivered to the customer or
once the content is distributed live through a public or social network. Revenue is accounted for separately on each of
the deliverables depending on the type of service provided. The Company recognizes revenue related to influencer
marketing services after a marketer's sponsored content is posted through IZEAx and shared through a creator's social
network. Management fees from customer campaigns managed by the Company are recognized ratably over the term
of the campaign, which may range from a few days to one year. Revenue related to custom content provided to a
marketer is recognized when the content is delivered to and accepted by the customer. Payment terms are typically 30
days from the invoice date. If the Company is unable to provide a portion of the services, it may agree with the
customer to provide a different type of service or to
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provide a credit for the value of those services, which may be applied to the existing order or used for future services.
The agreement typically provides for a cancellation fee if the agreement is canceled by the customer prior to
completion of services. Marketers who use the Company to manage their advertising campaigns or custom content
requests may prepay for services or request credit terms. Payments received or billings in advance of completed
services are recorded as unearned revenue until earned as described above.

For Content Workflow services, the self-service marketer contracts the creators directly to provide or distribute
custom content. The Company's platforms control the contracting, description of services, acceptance of and payment
for the requested content. This service is used primarily by news agencies or marketers to control the outsourcing of
their content and advertising needs. Revenue is recognized when the transaction is completed by the creator and
accepted by the marketer.

Service Fee Revenue is generated when fees are charged to customers primarily related to subscription fees for
different levels of service within a platform, licensing fees for the use of the IZEAx or Ebyline platforms, inactivity
fees and early cash-out fees. Fees for subscription or licensing services are recognized straight-line over the term of
service, while other fees are recognized at a point in time when the account is deemed inactive or a cash-out below
certain minimum thresholds is requested.

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company became subject to new guidelines for disclosing and accounting for its
revenue from contracts with customers. See further details below under “Recent Accounting Pronouncements.”

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to expense as they are incurred, including payments to content creators to promote the
Company. Advertising costs charged to operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015
were approximately $324,000, $455,000 and $558,000, respectively. Advertising costs are included in sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred Rent
The Company’s operating leases for its office facilities contain rent abatements and predetermined fixed increases of
the base rental rate during the lease terms. The Company accounts for rental expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms. The Company records the difference between the straight-line expense and the actual amounts paid under
the lease as deferred rent in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes
The Company has not recorded federal income tax expense due to the generation of net operating losses. Deferred
income taxes are accounted for using the balance sheet approach, which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the expected future consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the
tax basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that a deferred tax
asset will not be realized. The Company incurs minimal state franchise tax in four states, which is included in general
and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company identifies and evaluates uncertain tax positions, if any, and recognizes the impact of uncertain tax
positions for which there is a less than more-likely-than-not probability of the position being upheld when reviewed
by the relevant taxing authority. Such positions are deemed to be unrecognized tax benefits and a corresponding
liability is established on the balance sheet. The Company has not recognized a liability for uncertain tax positions. If
there were an unrecognized tax benefit, the Company would recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax
benefits in interest expense and penalties in operating expenses. The Company’s tax years subject to examination by
the Internal Revenue Service are 2013, 2014 and 2015.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are defined as financial instruments or other contracts that contain a notional amount
and one or more underlying factors (e.g., interest rate, security price or other variable), require no initial net
investment and permit net settlement. Derivative financial instruments may be free-standing or embedded in other
financial instruments. Further, derivative financial instruments are initially, and subsequently, measured at fair value
and recorded as liabilities or assets. The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), which requires additional disclosures about the Company’s objectives and
strategies for using derivative instruments, how the derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for,
and how the derivative instruments and related hedging items affect the financial statements. The Company does not
use derivative instruments to hedge exposures to cash flow, market or foreign currency risk. Terms of equity
instruments are reviewed to determine whether or not they contain embedded derivative instruments that are required
under ASC 815 to be accounted for separately from the host contract, and recorded on the balance sheet at fair value.
The fair value of derivative liabilities, if any, is required to be revalued at each reporting date, with corresponding
changes in fair value recorded
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in current period operating results. Pursuant to ASC 815, an evaluation of specifically identified conditions is made to
determine whether the fair value of warrants issued is required to be classified as equity or as a derivative liability.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments are recorded at fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would
be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The valuation
techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect readily obtainable data from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect certain market assumptions. There are three levels of inputs
that may be used to measure fair value:

•Level 1 – Valuation based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
•Level 2 – Valuation based on quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets.

•Level 3 – Valuation based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, therefore requiringmanagement’s best estimate of what market participants would use as fair value.
Fair value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information available
to management. The Company does not have any Level 1 or 2 financial assets or liabilities. The Company’s Level 3
financial liabilities measured at fair value consisted of its acquisition cost liability (see Note 3) as of December 31,
2017, 2016, and 2015, and a warrant liability as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. Significant unobservable inputs used
in the fair value measurement of the warrants include the estimated term and risk-adjusted interest rates. In developing
its credit risk assumption used in the fair value of warrants, the Company considered publicly available bond rates and
US Treasury Yields. However, since the Company does not have a formal credit-standing, management estimated its
standing among various reported levels and grades for use in the model. During all periods, management estimated
that the Company's standing was in the speculative to high-risk grades (BB- to CCC in the Standard and Poor's
Rating). Significant increases or decreases in the estimated remaining period to exercise or the risk-adjusted interest
rate could result in a significantly lower or higher fair value measurement.

The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair values due to
the short-term nature of these instruments. These financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, unearned revenue, and accrued expenses. Unless otherwise disclosed, the fair value of
the Company’s notes payable obligations approximate their carrying value based upon current rates available to the
Company.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation cost related to stock options granted under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan and 2011 B
Equity Incentive Plan (together, the “2011 Equity Incentive Plans”) (see Note 9) is measured at the grant date, based on
the fair value of the award, and is recognized as a straight-lined expense over the employee’s requisite service period.
The Company estimates the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model that uses the assumptions noted in the table below. The Company estimates the fair value of its common stock
using the closing stock price of its common stock on the date of the grant. The Company estimates the volatility of its
common stock at the date of grant based on the volatility of comparable peer companies that are publicly traded and
have had a longer trading history than itself. The Company determines the expected life based on historical experience
with similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, vesting schedules and post-vesting forfeitures. The
Company uses the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with an
equivalent remaining term approximately equal to the expected life of the award. The Company has never paid any
cash dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
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The Company used the following assumptions for options granted under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plans during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Twelve Months Ended

2011 Equity Incentive Plans Assumptions December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Expected term 6 years 6 years 6 years
Weighted average volatility 50.16% 47.95% 55.47%
Weighted average risk free interest rate 2.06% 1.58% 1.65%
Expected dividends — — —
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Effective January 1, 2017, the Company considered its accounting for stock options pursuant to ASU No. 2016-09,
Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting.
This ASU is intended to reduce the cost and complexity of accounting for employee share-based payment transactions
primarily surrounding the accounting for income taxes upon vesting or exercise of share-based payments and
accounting for forfeitures, as well as related financial statement classifications. Although the new standard allows for
the non-use of forfeiture estimates, the Company elected to continue the use of estimated forfeitures when accounting
for stock-based compensation, because it has an established history of forfeitures for non-vested options. There was
no effect on the Company's financial statements as a result of the adoption of this standard.

The Company estimates forfeitures when recognizing compensation expense and this estimate of forfeitures is
adjusted over the requisite service period based on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to
differ, from such estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognized through a cumulative catch-up
adjustment, which is recognized in the period of change, and a revised amount of unamortized compensation expense
to be recognized in future periods. Average expected forfeiture rates were 8.58%, 9.52%, and 8.32% during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

Non-Employee Stock-Based Payments
The Company's accounting policy for equity instruments issued to consultants and vendors in exchange for goods and
services follows the provisions of ASC 505, “Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees.”  The measurement date for
the fair value of the equity instruments issued is determined at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for
performance by the consultant or vendor is reached or (ii) the date at which the consultant or vendor's performance is
complete. The fair value of equity instruments issued to consultants that vest immediately is expensed when issued.
The fair value of equity instruments issued to consultants that have future vesting and are subject to forfeiture if
performance does not occur is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Fair values for the unvested portion of
issued instruments are adjusted each reporting period. The change in fair value is recorded in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based payments related to non-employees is accounted for based on the
fair value of the related stock or the fair value of the services, whichever is more readily determinable.

Segment Information
The Company does not identify separate operating segments for management reporting purposes. The results of
consolidated operations are the basis on which management evaluates operations and makes business decisions.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain items have been reclassified in the 2016 financial statements to conform to the 2017 presentation. The
Company has reclassified wages and other expenses related to its campaign fulfillment personnel out of sales and
marketing expense and into cost of revenue (see Notes 2 and 12 for additional details). Additionally, the Company has
reclassified its depreciation and amortization expenses out of general and administrative expense and into a separately
stated line item labeled depreciation and amortization within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and has subsequently issued additional guidance
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materials under ASU No. 2016-08, Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),
ASU No. 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing, and ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (collectively “ASC
606”), which supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under GAAP. Under ASC 606, revenue will
be recognized based on a five-step model and, in doing so, more judgment and estimates may be required within the
revenue recognition process than are required under existing GAAP. The Company has reviewed its sources of
revenue in accordance with each of the five steps in the model, which are as follows: (i) identify the contract with the
customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as)
performance obligations are satisfied. The core principle of ASC 606 is that revenue will be recognized when the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers is made in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Subsequent updates have been issued primarily to
provide implementation guidance related to the initial guidance issued in May 2014. ASC 606 is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, and may be adopted using
either (i) a full retrospective method, whereby comparative periods would be restated to present
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the impact of the new standard, with the cumulative effect of applying the standard recognized as of the earliest period
presented, or (ii) a modified retrospective method, under which comparative periods would not be restated and the
cumulative effect of applying the standard would be recognized at the date of initial adoption, January 1, 2018.

The Company continues to evaluate the impact of ASC 606 using internal resources and a third-party service provider.
As part of its evaluation, the Company is assessing the impact of the new principal versus agent guidance, focusing on
whether or not it controls the good or service before transferring it to customers. The Company is also assessing the
impact of capitalizing and amortizing incremental costs associated with obtaining and fulfilling customer contracts,
specifically set-up costs and commission and incentive payments. The Company is further assessing impact on the
Company's future financial disclosures of qualitative and quantitative information concerning the nature, amount,
timing, and assumptions used in its determinations of revenue and expected cash flows from contracts with customers.
The Company is planning to adopt ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU increases transparency and
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing
key information about leasing arrangements. The new standard establishes a right-of-use model that requires a lessee
to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition
in the income statement. Since the issuance of the original standard, the FASB has issued a subsequent update, ASU
No. 2018-01, Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842, which provides a practical expedient for
land easements. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. A modified retrospective transition approach is required for
lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain
Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which adds or clarifies guidance on the presentation and classification of eight
specific types of cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows such as debt prepayment or debt
extinguishment costs, settlement of contingent consideration arising from a business combination, insurance
settlement proceeds, and distributions received from certain equity method investees, with the intent of reducing the
existing diversity in practice. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Entities must apply the guidance retrospectively to all periods presented
unless retrospective application is impracticable. The Company is adopting this standard in the first quarter of fiscal
2018 and is currently evaluating the impact that this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets
Other Than Inventory (“ASU 2016-16”), which eliminates the current prohibition on immediate recognition of the
current and deferred income tax effects of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory, with the intent of
reducing complexity and diversity in practice. Under ASU 2016-16, entities must recognize the income tax
consequences when the transfer occurs rather than deferring recognition. For public entities, ASU 2016-16 is effective
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Entities must apply
the guidance on a modified retrospective basis though a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the
beginning of the period of adoption. The Company is adopting this standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 and
does not believe there will be any current impact on the consolidated financial statements upon adopting this standard
given there are no current intra-entity transfer of assets.
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In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (“ASU
2016-18”). ASU 2016-18 addresses diversity in practice that exists in the classification and presentation of changes in
restricted cash within the statement of cash flows and requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change
during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted
cash equivalents. ASU 2016-18 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2017. The Company is adopting this standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 and is
currently evaluating the impact that adopting this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition
of a Business (“ASU 2017-01”) . This ASU clarifies the definition of a business and provides guidance on evaluating as
to whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or business combinations. The
definition clarification as outlined in ASU 2017-01 affects many areas of accounting including acquisitions, disposals,
goodwill, and consolidation. The amendments of ASU 2017-01 are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017.
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The Company is adopting this standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 and would apply this standard for
business combinations consummated subsequent to January 1, 2018.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the
Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04”). To address concerns over the cost and complexity of the two-step
goodwill impairment test, the new standard removes the requirement for the second step of the goodwill impairment
test for certain entities. An entity may apply a one-step quantitative test and record the amount of goodwill impairment
as the excess of a reporting unit's carrying amount over its fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact that ASU 2017-04 will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting (“ASU 2017-09”). The amendments in ASU 2017-09 provide guidance about which changes
to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic
718. ASU 2017-09 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2017. The amendments in this update will be applied on a prospective basis to an award modified on or
after the adoption date. The Company is adopting this standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 and does not
expect that the adoption of this new standard will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements unless it
modifies an award in the future, of which there is no current plan.

In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Distinguishing Liabilities from
Equity (Topic 480) and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): (Part I) Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments
with Down Round Features; (Part II) Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial
Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope
Exception (“ASU 2017-11”). Part I of this update addresses the complexity of accounting for certain financial
instruments with down round features. Down round features are features of certain equity-linked instruments (or
embedded features) that result in the strike price being reduced on the basis of the pricing of future equity offerings.
Current accounting guidance creates cost and complexity for entities that issue financial instruments (such as warrants
and convertible instruments) with down round features that require fair value measurement of the entire instrument or
conversion option. Part II of this update addresses the difficulty of navigating Topic 480 because of the existence of
extensive pending content in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. This pending content is the result of the
indefinite deferral of accounting requirements about mandatorily redeemable financial instruments of certain
nonpublic entities and certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests. The amendments in Part II of this
update do not have an accounting effect. ASU 2017-11 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those
years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently in the early stages of evaluating the impact that
adopting this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements
to Accounting for Hedging Activities (“ASU 2017-12”). The amendments in this ASU better align the risk management
activities and financial reporting for these hedging relationships through changes to both the designation and
measurement guidance for qualifying hedging relationships and presentation of hedge results. ASU 2017-12 is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The
Company is currently in the early stages of evaluating the impact that adopting this standard will have on its
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2.    RESTATEMENT
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In connection with the year-end financial statement close, the process of evaluating the adoption of the new
accounting pronouncement for revenue recognition, and preparation of this Annual Report, the Company determined
that its previously issued financial statements included in its Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2016 and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each quarterly period for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2016, and for the first three quarters for the year ended December 31, 2017 (collectively, the
“Restated Periods”) should be restated due to classification errors related to the Company's presentation of revenue
related to the self-service Content Workflow portion of its revenue and the Company's classification of cost of revenue
related to Managed Services.

The Company historically reported revenue from Content Workflow transactions as the gross amounts billed to
marketers for their transactions, because the Company previously concluded that it was a principal in these
transactions. The Company has determined that it is more appropriately considered as an agent arranging the sale
between its self-service customers and its creators in the Content Workflow transactions, which requires reporting
revenue on a net transaction basis. As such, the direct costs associated with these transactions previously reported as
cost of revenue should be netted directly against revenue in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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The Company also determined that cost of revenue related to Managed Services should not only include the direct
cost of the content that was being purchased by the Company's customers, but should also include the cost of its
internal personnel responsible for fulfilling these services. The Company historically considered and reported the cost
of its campaign fulfillment personnel as part of its sales and marketing expenses.

As part of the restatement process, the Company has elected to present depreciation and amortization expense as a
separate line item for better visibility of this expense. Additionally, the Company has elected to change its
consolidated statement of operations presentation from a two-step presentation, where cost of sales are deducted from
revenue to report a gross profit line, to a one-step presentation, where total costs and expenses are deducted from
revenue. Because the Company reports some of its revenue on a gross basis and other portions of its revenue on a net
basis, the Company believes that this presents a more appropriate representation of its business operations.

The adjustments necessary to correct the errors, the reclassifications and change in the consolidated statement of
operations presentation have no impact on the Company's previously reported loss from operations, net loss, loss per
share, or on any of the Company's consolidated balance sheets, statements of cash flows, and statements of
stockholders' equity. The impact of the restatement on the Company's consolidated statement of operations as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (based on the Company's current consolidated statement of operations presentation) is as
follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2016

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $27,310,602 $(6,076,305)$ — $21,234,297
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 14,242,244 (6,076,305 )2,308,830 10,474,769
Sales and marketing 10,261,910 (2,272,320) 7,989,590
General and administrative 10,282,792 (36,510) (1,299,851) 8,946,431
Depreciation and amortization — 1,299,851 1,299,851
Total costs and expenses 34,786,946 (6,076,305 )— — 28,710,641
Loss from operations (7,476,344 )— — — (7,476,344 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (82,944 ) (82,944 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 9,163 9,163
Other income (expense), net (10,075 ) (10,075 )
Total other income (expense), net (83,856 )— — — (83,856 )
Net loss $(7,560,200 )$— $ — $ — $(7,560,200 )

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,380,465 5,380,465

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(1.41 ) $(1.41 )
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2015

As Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $20,467,926 $(6,358,241)$ — $14,109,685
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 12,236,916 (6,358,241 )1,719,862 7,598,537
Sales and marketing 7,936,215 (1,649,862) 6,286,353
General and administrative 7,517,115 (70,000) (1,059,131) 6,387,984
Depreciation and amortization — 1,059,131 1,059,131
Total costs and expenses 27,690,246 (6,358,241 )— — 21,332,005
Loss from operations (7,222,320 )— — — (7,222,320 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (115,861 ) (115,861 )
Loss on exchange of warrants (1,845,810 ) (1,845,810 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (2,133,820 ) (2,133,820 )
Other income (expense), net 9,640 9,640
Total other income (expense), net (4,085,851 )— — — (4,085,851 )
Net loss $(11,308,171)$— $ — $ — $(11,308,171)

Weighted average common shares outstanding –
basic and diluted 3,737,897 3,737,897

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(3.03 ) $(3.03 )

See Note 14 for information for each unaudited quarterly period for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, and
for the unaudited first three quarters for the year ended December 31, 2017.

NOTE 3.     BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

EBYLINE, INC.
On January 30, 2015, the Company purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Ebyline pursuant to the
terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2015, by and among IZEA, Ebyline and the
stockholders of Ebyline (the “Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement”) for a maximum purchase price of $8,850,000. The
Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement was made up of a combination of guaranteed payments and contingent
performance payments to be paid if Ebyline met certain revenue targets in the three years following the closing. None
of these targets were met; therefore no amounts are due for contingent performance payments.  Therefore, the total
consideration paid for the Ebyline acquisition was $3,327,064.
Purchase Price and Acquisition Costs Payable
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Estimated
Gross
Purchase
Consideration

Initial
Present and
Fair Value

Remaining
Present and
Fair Value

Remaining
Present and
Fair Value

Remaining
Present and
Fair Value

1/30/2015 1/30/2015 12/31/2015 12/31/201612/31/2017
Cash paid at closing (a) $ 1,200,000 $1,200,000$— $— $ —
Guaranteed purchase price (a) 2,127,064 1,982,639 1,823,711 934,728 —
Contingent performance payments (b) 2,210,000 1,834,300 — — —
Acquisition costs payable by Ebyline shareholders(c) — — (89,700 )— —
Total estimated consideration $ 5,537,064 $5,016,939$1,734,011 $ 934,728 $ —

Current portion of acquisition costs payable $844,931 $ 934,728 $ —
Long term portion of acquisition costs payable 889,080 — —
Total acquisition costs payable $1,734,011 $ 934,728 $ —

(a)

The Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement required a $1,200,000 cash payment at closing, a $250,000 stock payment
on July 30, 2015 and a cash or stock payment of up to an additional $1,900,000 (subject to proportional reduction
in the event Ebyline’s final 2014 revenue was below $8,000,000). Ebyline's final gross revenue for 2014 was
$7,903,429. As such, the additional amount owed became $1,877,064 payable in two equal installments of
$938,532 on January 30, 2016 and January 30, 2017. This guaranteed purchase price consideration was discounted
to present value using the Company's borrowing rate of prime plus 2%. Interest expense imputed on the acquisition
costs payable in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations was $3,804, $49,549, and $91,072 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. Per the Ebyline Stock Purchase
Agreement, the Company issued 31,821 shares of its common stock to satisfy the $250,000 guaranteed purchase
price payment obligation on July 30, 2015. On January 29, 2016, the Company issued 114,398 shares of its
common stock to satisfy the $848,832 annual guaranteed payment of $938,532 less $89,700 in closing related
expenses (see item (c) below). On January 30, 2017, the Company issued 200,542 shares of common stock to
satisfy the final annual guaranteed payment of $938,532. The Company recorded a $10,491 gain on the settlement
of the acquisition costs payable in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as a result of the
difference between the market price of the stock on the settlement date and the 30-day average price of the stock
required by the Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement.

(b)Total contingent performance payments up to $5,500,000 are to be paid based on Ebyline meeting certain revenue
targets. The performance payments are to be made only if Ebyline achieves at least 90% of Content Revenue
targets of $17,000,000 in 2015, $27,000,000 in 2016 and $32,000,000 in 2017. These revenue targets were
assumed on a gross transaction basis. The initial fair value of the $5,500,000 of contingent performance payments
was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation to simulate revenue over three years. Since the contingent
consideration has an option like structure, a risk-neutral framework was considered appropriate for the valuation.
The Company started with a risk-adjusted measure of forecasted revenue (using a risk-adjusted discount rate of
8.5%) and assumed it will follow geometric brownian motion to simulate the revenue at future dates. Once the
initial revenue was estimated based off of projections made during the acquisition, payout was calculated for each
year and present valued to incorporate the credit risk associated with these payments. The Company's initial value
conclusion was based on the average payment from 100,000 simulation trials. The volatility used for the simulation
was 35%. The Monte Carlo simulation resulted in an initial calculated fair value of contingent performance
payments of $2,210,000 on January 30, 2015. Because the contingent performance payments are subject to a 17%
reduction related to the continued employment of certain key employees, ASC 805-10-55-25 indicates that a
portion of these payments be treated as potential compensation to be accrued over the term rather than allocated to
the purchase price. Therefore, the Company reduced its overall purchase price consideration by $357,700 and
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recorded the initial present value of the contingent performance payments at $1,834,300. The Content Revenue
from 2015-2017 was below 90% of all of the required Content Revenues targets. Therefore, the Company reduced
the fair value of contingent performance payments to zero by the end of 2015. The $1,834,300 decrease in the
estimated fair value of contingent performance payments was recorded as a reduction of general and administrative
expense in the Company's consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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(c)
According to the Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement, $89,700 in closing related expenses paid by Ebyline during
the acquisition process were payable by the selling shareholders. These costs were deducted from the guaranteed
payment on January 30, 2016.

ZENCONTENT, INC.
On July 31, 2016, the Company purchased all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of ZenContent pursuant to the
terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement, by and among IZEA, ZenContent and the stockholders of ZenContent (the
“ZenContent Stock Purchase Agreement”) for a maximum purchase price to be paid over the next three years of
$4,500,000.

Purchase Price and Acquisition Costs Payable
Estimated
Gross
Purchase
Consideration

Initial
Present and
Fair Value

Remaining
Present and
Fair Value

Remaining
Present and
Fair Value

7/31/2016 7/31/2016 12/31/201612/31/2017
Cash paid at closing (a) $ 400,000 $400,000 $— $—
Stock paid at closing (a) 600,000 600,000 — —
Guaranteed purchase price (b) 933,565 566,547 682,348 606,413
Contingent performance payments (c) 2,500,000 230,000 324,000 744,510
Total estimated consideration $ 4,433,565 $1,796,547$1,006,348$1,350,923

Current portion of acquisition costs payable $318,157 $741,155
Long-term portion of acquisition costs payable 688,191 609,768
Total acquisition costs payable $1,006,348$1,350,923

(a)The aggregate consideration paid at closing for the acquisition of ZenContent consisted of a cash payment of$400,000 and the issuance of 86,207 shares of IZEA common stock valued at $600,000.

(b)

Aggregate future consideration consists of (i) three equal annual installment payments totaling $1,000,000,
commencing 12 months following the closing, less a reduction of $66,435 due to a customary closing date working
capital adjustment (“guaranteed purchase price”), and (ii) contingent performance payments up to an aggregate of
$2,500,000 over the three 12-month periods following the closing. These payments are also subject to a downward
adjustment up to 30% if Brianna DeMike, ZenContent’s co-founder, is terminated by IZEA for cause or if she
terminates her employment without good reason. As a result, the Company initially reduced its acquisition cost
liability by $300,000 to be accrued as compensation expense over the three-year term rather than allocated to the
initial purchase price in accordance with ASC 805-10-55-25. Compensation expense added to the guaranteed
acquisition costs payable and recorded as general and administrative expense in the Company's consolidated
statement of operations was $162,500 and $102,431for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The initial guaranteed purchase price consideration was discounted to present value using the
Company's borrowing rate of prime plus 2% (5.5% on July 31, 2016). Interest expense imputed on the guaranteed
acquisition costs payable in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations was $28,463 and $13,370 for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

(c)The contingent performance payments are subject to ZenContent achieving certain minimum revenue thresholds
over 36 months. ZenContent is required to meet minimum revenues of $2.5 million, $3.5 million and $4.5 million
in the first, second and third, respective 12-month periods following the closing in order to receive any portion of
the contingent performance payments. Of these payments, 33% of each such annual installment or contingent
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performance payment will be in the form of cash and the remainder of such payment will be in the form of either
cash or additional shares of IZEA common stock at then average stock prices (determined at IZEA’s option).
Additionally, these payments are subject to downward adjustment of up to 30% if Brianna DeMike is terminated by
IZEA for cause or she terminates her employment without good reason. The Company initially determined the fair
value of the $2,500,000 contingent payments to be $230,000. The fair value of the contingent performance
payments is required to be revalued each quarter and is calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation to simulate
revenue over the future periods. Since the contingent consideration has an option like structure, a risk-neutral
framework is considered appropriate for the valuation. The Company started with a risk-adjusted measure of
forecasted revenue
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(using a risk-adjusted discount rate of 17%) and assumed it will follow geometric brownian motion to simulate the
revenue at future dates. Once the initial revenue was estimated based off of projections, payout was calculated for
each year and present valued to incorporate the credit risk associated with these payments. The Company's fair value
conclusion was based on the average payment from 250,000 simulation trials. The volatility used for the simulation
was 45%. The interest rate used for the simulation was the Company's current borrowing rate of prime plus 2%
(6.5%). The Company revalued its estimate of the contingent performance payment as of December 31, 2017 based on
actual results and projections and the rates noted above and determined that current fair value of the contingent
performance payments was $744,510 compared to $324,000 as of December 31, 2016. The change in the estimated
fair value of contingent performance payable resulted in a $420,510 increase to general and administrative expense in
the Company's consolidated statement of operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. Of this
amount, $185,945 was allocated to compensation expense and a gain of $234,565 was allocated as a change in the fair
value of the contingent performance payments. The Company recorded a $94,000 increase in the fair value of the
contingent performance payments during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 for the change from the initial
value of $230,000 to $324,000 as of December 31, 2016.

Purchase Price Allocation
The consolidated financial statements reflect the allocation of the purchase price to the underlying ZenContent
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair market values with any
excess purchase price allocated to goodwill.

The allocation of the purchase price as of July 31, 2016 is summarized as follows:
Final
Purchase
Price
Allocation

Current assets $415,798
Property and equipment 4,551
Identifiable intangible assets 722,000
Goodwill 1,136,431
Current liabilities (482,233 )
Total estimated consideration $1,796,547

The ZenContent operations are included in the consolidated financial statements beginning on the date of acquisition
of July 31, 2016. Upon the acquisition, the majority of the acquired assets were transferred to, and employees were
hired by, IZEA. The legal entity of ZenContent was dissolved in December 2017. There are $52,665 of
pre-acquisition-related costs included in general and administrative expense on the Company's consolidated statement
of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2016. Post closing acquisition costs related to changes in the
acquisition costs payable, including interest, compensation expense and earnout estimate changes, are disclosed in
notes (b) and (c) above.

NOTE 4.     PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:
December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Furniture and fixtures $ 254,099 $ 254,206 $ 252,516
Office equipment 74,627 65,463 53,265
Computer equipment 415,928 432,321 421,798
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Leasehold improvements 331,418 324,716 314,400
Total 1,076,072 1,076,706 1,041,979
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (790,029 ) (616,056 ) (445,971 )
Property and equipment, net $ 286,043 $ 460,650 $ 596,008

Computer equipment includes items under capital leases totaling $59,458 as of December 31, 2015. Accumulated
amortization relating to equipment under capital leases totaled $37,341 as of December 31, 2015. Depreciation
expense on property and
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equipment recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations was $211,769, $253,004, and $206,670 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015,
respectively.

NOTE 5.     INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The identifiable intangible assets consists of the following assets:    

Balance Accumulated
Amortization Balance Accumulated

Amortization Balance Accumulated
AmortizationUseful Life (inyears)December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Content provider
networks $160,000 $ 122,083 $160,000 $ 57,083 $30,000 $ 27,500 1

Trade names 52,000 52,000 52,000 45,000 40,000 36,667 1
Developed technology 530,000 240,167 530,000 134,167 300,000 55,000 3
Self-service content
customers 210,000 204,167 210,000 134,167 210,000 64,167 5

Managed content
customers 2,140,000 1,905,555 2,140,000 1,192,222 1,790,000 546,944 3

Domains 166,469 66,588 166,469 33,294 166,469 — 5
Total identifiable
intangible assets $3,258,469$ 2,590,560 $3,258,469$ 1,595,933 $2,536,469$ 730,278

Total identifiable intangible assets from the Ebyline and ZenContent purchase price allocation and other acquired
assets net of accumulated amortization thereon consists of the following:

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Ebyline Intangible Assets $ 2,370,000 $ 2,370,000 $ 2,370,000
ZenContent Intangible Assets 722,000 722,000 —
Domains 166,469 166,469 166,469
Total Intangible Assets 3,258,469 3,258,469 2,536,469
Accumulated amortization (2,590,560 ) (1,595,933 ) (730,278 )
Intangible Assets, net $ 667,909 $ 1,662,536 $ 1,806,191

The Company is amortizing the identifiable intangible assets over a weighted average period of three years.
Amortization expense recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations was $994,627, $865,655, and $730,278 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017,
2016, and 2015, respectively. The portion of this amortization expense specifically related to the costs of acquired
technology for its platforms that is presented separately from cost of services was $106,000, $79,167, and $55,000 for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, future estimated amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets over the next
five years is set forth in the following schedule:

Year ending December 31: AmortizationExpense
2018 $ 349,433
2019 207,349
2020 84,293
2021 26,834
Total $ 667,909
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NOTE 6.     SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Software development costs consists of the following:
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December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Software development costs $ 1,561,351 $ 1,492,665 $ 1,021,446
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (593,424 ) (388,706 ) (207,514 )
Software development costs, net $ 967,927 $ 1,103,959 $ 813,932

The Company developed its web-based advertising and content exchange platform, IZEAx, to enable native
advertising campaigns on a greater scale. The Company continues to add new features and additional functionality to
IZEAx to facilitate the contracting, workflow, and delivery of direct content as well as provide for invoicing,
collaborating, and direct payments for the Company's self-service customers. Research and planning phase costs are
expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in the application and infrastructure development stage, including significant
enhancements and upgrades, are capitalized. These costs include personnel and related employee benefits expenses for
employees or consultants who are directly associated with and who devote time to software projects, and external
direct costs of materials obtained in developing the software. As a result, the Company has capitalized $1,561,351 in
direct materials, consulting, payroll and benefit costs to its internal use software development costs in the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2017. The Company amortizes its software development costs, upon initial release
of the software or additional features, on a straight-line basis over the estimated the useful life of five years, which is
consistent with the amount of time its legacy platforms were in service.

Amortization expense on software development costs that is presented separately from cost of services and recorded in
depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations was $310,411,
$181,192 and $122,183 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, future estimated amortization expense related to software development costs over the next
five years is set forth in the following schedule:

Year ending December 31:
Software
Amortization
Expense

2018 $ 294,487
2019 226,939
2020 193,611
2021 152,216
2022 82,891
Thereafter 17,783

$ 967,927

NOTE 7.    DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company evaluates its warrants or other contracts to determine if those contracts or embedded components of
those contracts qualify as derivatives to be separately accounted for in accordance with paragraph 810-10-05-4 and
815-40-25 of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The result of this accounting treatment is that the fair
value of the derivative is marked-to-market each balance sheet date and recorded as a liability. In the event that the
fair value is recorded as a liability, the change in fair value is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations as
other income or expense. Upon registration of the shares underlying the warrants, changes in price-based anti-dilution
adjustments, conversion or exercise, as applicable, of a derivative instrument, the instrument is marked to fair value at
the date of the occurrence of the event and then that fair value is reclassified to equity.
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The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as
equity, is re-assessed at the end of each reporting period. Instruments that are initially classified as equity that become
subject to reclassification are reclassified to a liability at the fair value of the instrument on the reclassification date.
Derivative instrument liabilities will be classified in the balance sheet as current or non-current based on whether or
not net-cash settlement of the derivative instrument is expected within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

As further described in Note 9, the Company has engaged in a series of private placements between 2011 and 2014
which resulted in the issuance of warrants. The Company determined that some of these warrants required
classification as a liability due to certain provisions in their terms.
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From July 20, 2015 through August 14, 2015, the Company offered a 26% discount on the warrant exercise prices to
investors holding warrants from its February 2014 Private Placement (the "2014 Warrants"). If and to the extent a
holder did not exercise its 2014 Warrants at the reduced exercise prices during this time period, the exercise prices of
any unexercised 2014 Warrants remained at their original exercise prices of $7.00 and $10.00 per share for the series
A and series B 2014 Warrants, respectively. In exchange for the reduction in the warrant exercise price, the investors
holding a majority of the 2014 Warrants agreed to amend the 2014 Warrants to remove the price-based anti-dilution
adjustment provisions contained in the 2014 Warrants. The removal of these provisions from the 2014 Warrants
eliminated the provision that required liability classification of the 2014 Warrants and quarterly non-cash adjustments
reflecting changes in the fair value of the derivative liability on the Company’s financial statements. Except for the
temporarily reduced exercise prices and elimination of the anti-dilution adjustment provisions in the 2014 Warrants,
the terms of the 2014 Warrants remain unchanged. As a result of the amendment in the 2014 Warrants terms, the 2014
Warrants no longer require liability classification after August 14, 2015.

At the close of the offer period on August 14, 2015, investors exchanged and converted 1,392,832 shares underlying
the 2014 Warrants at the 26% discount for total proceeds of $8,760,805. The amendment of the 2014 Warrants to
reduce the exercise price required the Company to treat the adjustment as an exchange whereby it computed the fair
value of the 2014 Warrants immediately prior to the price reduction and the fair value of the 2014 Warrants after the
price reduction. The $1,197,821 change in the fair value of the 2014 Warrants as a result of the price reduction was
treated as a loss on exchange and recorded in the Company's consolidated statements of operations during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2015.

As a result of the above transactions, the fair value of $5,348,408 on the 1,392,832 exercised 2014 Warrants and the
fair value of $1,181,638 on the 396,536 remaining unexercised 2014 Warrants as of August 14, 2015 was moved to
equity as of August 14, 2015.

The Company had 5,502 warrant shares issued in its September 2012 public offering that required classification as a
liability due to certain registration rights and listing requirements in the agreements. These warrants expired in
September 2017 with no value.
The following table summarizes the Company's activity and fair value calculations of its derivative warrants for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Linked
Common
Shares to
Derivative
Warrants

Warrant
Liability

Balance, December 31, 2014 1,795,564 $3,203,465
Exercise of warrants for common stock (1,392,832)$(5,348,408)
Loss on exchange of warrants — $1,197,821
Reclassification of fair value of 2014 Private Placement warrants to equity (396,536 )$(1,181,638)
Change in fair value of derivatives — $2,133,820
Balance, December 31, 2015 6,196 $5,060
Expiration of warrants (694 )—
Change in fair value of derivatives — (5,060 )
Balance, December 31, 2016 5,502 $—
Expiration of warrants (5,502 )—
Balance, December 31, 2017 — $—
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During the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded a gain of $5,060 and a loss of
$2,133,820, respectively, due to the change in the fair value of its warrant liability.

The Company's warrants were valued on the applicable dates using a Binomial Lattice Option Valuation Technique
(“Binomial”). Significant inputs into this technique as of December 31, 2016 were as follows:
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Binomial Assumptions December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Fair market value of asset (1) $4.51 $7.66
Exercise price $25.00 $25.00
Term (2) 0.7 years 1.7 years
Implied expected life (3) 0.7 years 1.7 years
Volatility range of inputs (4) 55.91% 83.00%
Equivalent volatility (3) 55.91% 83.00%
Risk-free interest rate range of inputs (5) 0.85% 1.06%
Equivalent risk-free interest rate (3) 0.85% 1.06%
(1)  The fair market value of the asset was determined by using the Company's closing stock price as reflected on the
OTCQB for the period ended December 31, 2015 and on the Nasdaq Capital Market for the period ended
December 31, 2016.
(2)  The term is the contractual remaining term, allocated among twelve equal intervals for purposes of calculating
other inputs, such as volatility and risk-free rate.
(3)  The implied expected life, and equivalent volatility and risk-free interest rate amounts are derived from the
Binomial.
(4)  The Company does not have a market trading history upon which to base its forward-looking volatility.
Accordingly, the Company selected peer companies that provided a reasonable basis upon which to calculate volatility
for each of the intervals described in (2), above.
(5)  The risk-free rates used for inputs represent the yields on zero coupon U.S. Government Securities with periods to
maturity consistent with the intervals described in (2), above.

NOTE 8.    COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES

Credit Agreement
The Company has a secured credit facility agreement with Western Alliance Bank, the parent company of Bridge
Bank, N.A. of San Jose, California, which it obtained on March 1, 2013 and expanded on April 13, 2015. Pursuant to
this agreement, the Company may submit requests for funding up to 80% of its eligible accounts receivable up to a
maximum credit limit of $5 million. This agreement is secured by the Company's accounts receivable and
substantially all of the Company's other assets. The agreement renews annually and requires the Company to pay an
annual facility fee of $20,000 (0.4% of the credit limit) and an annual due diligence fee of $1,000. Interest accrues on
the advances at the rate of prime plus 2% per annum. The default rate of interest is prime plus 7%. As of
December 31, 2017, the Company had $500,550 outstanding under this line of credit agreement. The Company had no
advances outstanding under this agreement as of December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had a
net accounts receivable balance of $3,647,025. Assuming that all of the Company's accounts receivable balance was
eligible for funding, it had $2,457,180 in remaining available credit under the agreement as of December 31, 2017.

The annual fees are capitalized in the Company's consolidated balance sheet within other current assets and are
amortized to interest expense over one year. The Company amortized $21,000, $19,796 and $18,388 of the annual
costs through interest expense during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. The
remaining value of the capitalized loan costs related to the Bridge Bank credit agreement as of December 31, 2017 is
$7,000. This amount will be amortized to interest expense over the next four months.

Lease Commitments
Capital Leases
During 2013 and 2014, the Company entered into capital leases for equipment which expired on various dates
between December 2015 and January 2016. The Company has no obligations under capital leases as of December 31,
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2017 and 2016.

Operating Leases
The corporate headquarters are located at 480 N. Orlando Avenue, Suite 200 in Winter Park, Florida. The Company
occupies this office pursuant to a sixty-five month sublease agreement that expires in April 2019, but is renewable for
one additional year until April 30, 2020. This lease covers approximately 15,500 square feet based on an annually
increasing rate of $17.50 to $22.50 per square foot over the lease term. The Company also occupies flexible office
space under monthly membership contracts in Los Angeles, San Francisco, Chicago and Toronto.
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A summary of future minimum lease payments under the Company's non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2017
is as follows:

Year ending December 31: Operating
Leases

2018 $436,017
2019 113,516
Total minimum lease payments $549,533

Total rent expense recorded in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations was approximately $579,346, $618,940, and $491,543 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017,
2016, and 2015, respectively.

Retirement Plans
In December 2007, the Company introduced a 401(k) plan that covered all eligible employees. The Company matches
participant contributions in an amount equal to 50% of each participant's contribution up to 8% of the participant's
salary. The participants become vested in 20% annual increments after two years of service. During the twelve months
ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, the Company incurred $201,003, $166,271, and $125,262, respectively, in
expense for matching employer contributions.

Litigation
From time to time, the Company may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of the Company's business. Litigation is, however, subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse
result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm the Company's business. See Note 13 for a
recent update on litigation proceedings. The Company is currently not aware of any other legal proceedings or claims
that it believes would or could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its operations or
financial position.

NOTE 9.    STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Authorized Shares
The Company has 200,000,000 authorized shares of common stock and 10,000,000 authorized shares of preferred
stock, each with a par value of $0.0001 per share.
Reverse Stock Split
On January 6, 2016, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment with the Secretary of State of Nevada to effect a
reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding shares of its common stock at a ratio of one share for every 20 shares
outstanding prior to the effective date of the reverse stock split. All current and historical information contained herein
related to the share and per share information for the Company's common stock or stock equivalents reflects the
1-for-20 reverse stock split of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock that became market effective on
January 11, 2016. There was no change in the number of the Company's authorized shares of common stock. 

Nasdaq Uplisting
On January 26, 2016, the Company's shares of common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market
under the symbol IZEA. Prior thereto, the Company's common stock was quoted on the OTCQB Marketplace under
the same symbol.

Stock Issued for Acquisitions
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As further discussed in Note 3, the Company issued 31,821 shares of its common stock to satisfy the $250,000
guaranteed purchase price payment obligation on July 30, 2015 per the Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement. On
January 29, 2016, the Company issued 114,398 shares of its common stock to satisfy the $848,832 annual guaranteed
payment of $938,532 less $89,700 in closing related expenses owed as part of the Ebyline Stock Purchase Agreement
and on January 30, 2017, the Company issued 200,542 shares of common stock to satisfy the final annual guaranteed
payment of $938,532. On July 31, 2016, the Company issued 86,207 shares of IZEA common stock valued at
$600,000 as a partial payment of the guaranteed purchase price per the ZenContent Stock Purchase Agreement.

Stock Issued for Services
On April 30, 2015 and on December 29, 2015, the Company issued 1,250 and 1,364 shares, respectively, of common
stock valued at $18,700 for employee stock awards during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

The Company issued 13,767 shares of common stock valued at $107,292 to five directors for their service as directors
of the Company during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015. On August 15, 2015, the Company issued
84,375 shares of common stock to Brian W. Brady for shares granted to him in 2013 as consideration for loans made
to the Company.
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The Company issued each of its five independent directors 811 shares of restricted common stock valued at $6,250 for
their service as directors of the Company during the first quarter of 2016. On May 16, 2016, the Company issued each
of its five independent directors 3,261 shares of restricted common stock valued at $18,750 for their service as
directors of the Company for the period of April 2016 through December 2016. The stock vested in equal increments
of approximately 362 shares per month. Total shares issued during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 were
20,360 at a total initial value of $125,000.

On April 11, 2016, the Company issued 749 shares of restricted common stock valued at $4,794 to four employees as
a contest award.

The Company issued its five independent directors a total of 41,770 shares of restricted common stock initially valued
at $125,000 for their service as directors of the Company during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. The
stock vested monthly from January through December 2017. On February 12, 2017, the Company issued 7,109 shares
valued at $30,000 as compensation for services a contractor provided.

The Company issued 2,812 shares and 7,543 shares of restricted stock on August 14, 2017 and November 9, 2017,
respectively, to Mr. Edward Murphy, its Chief Executive Officer, for amounts owed on his second and third quarter
performance bonus. The stock was initially valued at $36,411 and vests in equal monthly installments over 48 months
from issuance. The Company issued 662 shares and 1,257 shares of restricted stock on August 14, 2017 and
November 9, 2017, respectively, to Mr. Ryan Schram, its Chief Operating Officer, for amounts owed on his second
and third quarter performance bonus. The stock was initially valued at $6,446 and vests in equal monthly installments
over 48 months from issuance.

The following table contains summarized information about nonvested restricted stock outstanding during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Restricted Stock Common
Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date
Fair
Value

Weighted Average
Remaining Years
to Vest

Nonvested at December 31, 2014 — $ —
Granted 16,381 $ 7.60
Vested (16,381 )$ 7.60
Forfeited — $ —
Nonvested at December 31, 2015 — $ —
Granted 21,109 6.15
Vested (21,109 )6.34
Forfeited — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2016 — $ —
Granted 61,153 3.24
Vested (49,354 )3.72
Forfeited — —
Nonvested at December 31, 2017 11,799 $ 4.52 3.8

Total expense recognized for stock-based payments for services to non-employees during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 was $181,995, $133,897, and $125,992, respectively. The fair value of the
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services is based on the value of the Company's common stock over the term of service. The Company recognized a
gain of $39,269 and $4,103, and as a change in the fair value of derivatives during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, based on the change between the Company's stock price upon issuance
and the Company's stock price upon the date of vesting. The fair value of the remaining nonvested, but issued, 11,799
shares of restricted stock as of December 31, 2017 is $53,331, and it is included in prepaid expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This value is the current estimate of future compensation expense that is
expected to be recognized over the remaining individual vesting periods up to 47 months.

Warrant Transactions
Warrant Issuances:
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On January 22, 2015, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock to an investor
relations consultant. The warrant was fully vested on the date of issuance, has an exercise price of $10.20 per share
and expires on January 22, 2020. The fair value of the warrant upon issuance was $7,700 and the Company received
$100 as compensation for the warrant. The fair value of the warrant issuance was recorded as an increase in additional
paid-in capital in the Company's consolidated balance sheet and the net $7,600 compensation expense was recorded in
general and administrative expense during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

On June 30, 2015, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 12,500 shares of common stock to an investor relations
consultant. The warrant was fully vested on the date of issuance, has an exercise price of $10.20 per share and expires
on June 30, 2020. The fair value of the warrant upon issuance was $44,250. The fair value of the warrant issuance was
recorded as an increase in additional paid-in capital in the Company's consolidated balance sheet and compensation
expense in general and administrative expense during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

Warrant Exercises:
From July 20, 2015 through August 14, 2015, the Company offered a 25% discount on the warrant exercise prices to
investors holding the series A and series B warrants to purchase common stock issued in its August-September 2013
private placement (the “2013 Warrants”) and a 26% discount on the warrant exercise prices to investors holding series A
and series B warrants to purchase common stock issued in its February 2014 private placement (the “2014 Warrants”
and together with the 2013 Warrants, the "Warrants"). If and to the extent a holder did not exercise its Warrants at the
reduced exercise prices during this time period, the exercise prices of any unexercised Warrants remain at their
original exercise prices of $5.00 and $10.00 per share for the series A and series B 2013 Warrants, respectively, and
$7.00 and $10.00 per share for the series A and series B 2014 Warrants, respectively.

The warrant exercise offer was made pursuant to the terms of Warrant Amendment and Exercise Agreements, dated
July 20, 2015, entered into with holders owning more than 70% of the Company's outstanding 2013 and 2014
Warrants. In exchange for the reduction in the warrant exercise price, the investors holding a majority of the 2014
Warrants agreed to amend the 2014 Warrants to remove the price-based anti-dilution adjustment provisions contained
in the 2014 Warrants. The removal of these provisions from the 2014 Warrants eliminated the provision that required
liability classification of the 2014 Warrants and quarterly non-cash adjustments reflecting changes in the fair value of
the derivative liability on the Company’s financial statements. Except for the temporarily reduced exercise prices and
elimination of the anti-dilution adjustment provisions in the 2014 Warrants, the terms of the 2013 Warrants and 2014
Warrants remain unchanged. As a result of the amendment in the 2014 Warrants terms, the 2014 Warrants no longer
require liability classification after August 14, 2015 (See Note 7).

At the close of the offer period on August 14, 2015, investors exchanged and converted 1,392,832 shares underlying
the 2014 Warrants at the 26% discount for total proceeds of $8,760,805 and 798,715 shares of the 2013 Warrants at
the 25% discount for total proceeds of $4,100,252. This resulted in the issuance of a total of 2,191,547 shares of
common stock at an average exercise price of $5.87 per share for total proceeds of $12,861,057. The exercise prices of
any Warrants not exercised during the Warrant conversion offer period have reverted back to their original exercise
prices.

The amendment of the Warrants to reduce the exercise price required the Company to treat the adjustment as an
exchange whereby it computed the fair value of the Warrants immediately prior to the price reduction and the fair
value of the Warrants after the price reduction. The $1,197,821 and the $647,989 change in the fair value of the 2014
and 2013 Warrants, respectively, as a result of the price reduction, was treated as a $1,845,810 loss on exchange and
recorded in the Company's consolidated statement of operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.
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As a result of the above transactions, the fair value of $5,348,408 on the 1,392,832 exercised 2014 Warrants and the
fair value of $1,181,638 on the 396,536 remaining unexercised 2014 Warrants as of August 14, 2015 was moved to
equity as of August 14, 2015. This reclassification plus the $647,989 loss on exchange of the 2013 Warrants already
classified as equity reflects a $7,178,035 total change recorded in the Company's consolidated statement of
stockholders' equity during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

The resale of the common stock underlying the 2013 and 2014 Warrants is covered by IZEA’s Registration Statements
on Form S-1 (Registration Nos. 333-191743, 333-195081 and 333-197482), which are on file with the SEC.

Stock Options 
In May 2011, the Company's Board of Directors (the “Board”) adopted the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan of IZEA, Inc.
(the “May 2011 Plan”). At the Company's 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 21, 2017, the
stockholders approved the amendment and restatement of the May 2011 Plan which increased the number of shares of
common stock available for issuance under the May 2011 Plan by 500,000 shares. The amended May 2011 Plan
allows the Company to grant options to purchase up
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to 1,500,000 shares as an incentive for its employees and consultants.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company had
382,523 shares of common stock available for future grants under the May 2011 Plan.

On August 22, 2011, the Company adopted the 2011 B Equity Incentive Plan (the “August 2011 Plan”) reserving 4,375
shares of common stock for issuance under the August 2011 Plan. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had 1,875
shares of common stock available for future grants under the August 2011 Plan.

Under both the May 2011 Plan and the August 2011 Plan (together, the “2011 Equity Incentive Plans”), the Board
determines the exercise price to be paid for the shares, the period within which each option may be exercised, and the
terms and conditions of each option. The exercise price of the incentive and non-qualified stock options may not be
less than 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. If an individual
owns stock representing more than 10% of the outstanding shares, the price of each share of an incentive stock option
must be equal to or exceed 110% of fair market value. Unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of grant,
the purchase price is set at the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, the term is set at
ten years and the options typically vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period as follows: 25% of
options shall vest one year from the date of grant and the remaining options shall vest monthly, in equal increments
over the following three years. The Company issues new shares to the optionee for any stock awards or options
exercised pursuant to its 2011 Equity Incentive Plans.

A summary of option activity under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plans for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017,
2016, and 2015 is presented below:

Options Outstanding Common
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted Average
Remaining Life
(Years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 595,786 $ 9.20 6.5
Granted 277,059 $ 7.43
Exercised — $ —
Forfeited (42,246 ) $ 7.70
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 830,599 $ 8.65 6.8
Granted 179,998 6.16
Exercised — —
Forfeited (50,733 ) 10.15
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 959,864 $ 8.11 6.4
Granted 141,246 3.49
Exercised — —
Forfeited (51,607 ) 38.86
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 1,049,503 $ 5.97 6.0

Exercisable at December 31, 2017 726,426 $ 6.24 4.9

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, no options were exercised. The fair value of the
Company's common stock on December 31, 2017 was $4.52 per share. The intrinsic value on outstanding options as
of December 31, 2017 was $159,671. The intrinsic value on exercisable options as of December 31, 2017 was
$20,102.

A summary of the nonvested stock option activity under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plans for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, is presented below:
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Nonvested Options Common
Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date
Fair
Value

Weighted Average
Remaining Years
to Vest

Nonvested at December 31, 2014 372,092 $ 4.00 3.0
Granted 277,059 $ 3.84
Vested (147,759) $ 4.32
Forfeited (39,466 ) $ 3.44
Nonvested at December 31, 2015 461,926 $ 3.84 2.8
Granted 179,998 2.88
Vested (187,181) 4.00
Forfeited (40,437 ) 3.76
Nonvested at December 31, 2016 414,306 $ 3.60 2.6
Granted 141,246 1.76
Vested (205,469) 3.36
Forfeited (27,006 ) 3.12
Nonvested at December 31, 2017 323,077 $ 2.64 2.7

Stock-based compensation cost related to stock options granted under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plans is measured at
the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the employee’s requisite
service period. The Company estimates the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model that uses the assumptions stated in Note 1. Total stock-based compensation expense recognized
on restricted stock and option awards during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 was
$635,427, $748,092, and $705,466, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense was recorded as $13,381 to cost
of revenue, $48,708 to sales and marketing, and $573,338 to general and administrative expense in the Company's
consolidated statement of operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. Stock-based compensation
expense was recorded as $18,903 to cost of revenue, $70,680 to sales and marketing, and $658,509 to general and
administrative expense in the Company's consolidated statement of operations during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2016. Stock-based compensation expense was recorded as $14,534 to cost of revenue, $33,545 to sales
and marketing, and $657,387 to general and administrative expense in the Company's consolidated statement of
operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015. Future compensation related to nonvested awards as
of December 31, 2017 expected to vest of $744,647 is estimated to be recognized over the weighted-average vesting
period of approximately two years, six months.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On April 16, 2014, stockholders holding a majority of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock, upon
previous recommendation and approval of the Board, adopted the IZEA, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the “ESPP”) and reserved 75,000 shares of the Company's common stock for issuance thereunder. Any employee
regularly employed by the Company for 90 days or more on a full-time or part-time basis (20 hours or more per week
on a regular schedule) is eligible to participate in the ESPP. The ESPP operates in successive six months offering
periods commencing at the beginning of each fiscal year half. Each eligible employee who elects to participate may
purchase up to 10% of their annual compensation in common stock not to exceed $21,250 annually or 1,000 shares
per offering period. The purchase price will be the lower of (i) 85% of the fair market value of a share of common
stock on the first trading day of the offering period or (ii) 85% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on
the last trading day of the offering period. The ESPP will continue until January 1, 2024, unless otherwise terminated
by the Board. Employees paid $26,249 to purchase 16,168 shares of common stock during the twelve months ended
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December 31, 2017. Employees paid $58,021 to purchase 11,453 shares of common stock during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2016. Employees paid $76,170 to purchase 13,403 shares of common stock during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had 33,594 remaining shares of common
stock available for future grants under the ESPP.

NOTE 10.    EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss by the basic weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period presented. Diluted earnings per share is computed
by dividing the net income or loss by the total of the basic weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding plus the additional dilutive securities that could be exercised or converted into common shares during
each period presented less the amount of shares that could be repurchased using the proceeds from the exercises.
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Net loss $(5,467,699) $ (7,560,200 ) $(11,308,171)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted 5,674,901 5,380,465 3,737,897
Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.96 ) $ (1.41 ) $(3.03 )

The Company excluded the following weighted average items from the above computation of diluted loss per
common share, as their effect would be anti-dilutive:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Stock options 990,152 889,450 723,834
Warrants 531,969 551,867 1,873,547
Restricted stock units — — 58,475
Total excluded shares 1,522,121 1,441,317 2,655,856

NOTE 11.     RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the warrant exchange transaction completed on August 14, 2015 as discussed in Note 9, the Special Situations
Technology Fund II, L.P., Special Situations Private Equity Fund, L.P. and Special Situations Technology Fund, L.P.
(collectively, the “Special Situations Funds”), the Company's largest institutional shareholder, and Brian W. Brady, a
director of the Company, participated in the transaction by exercising warrants that they received in the Company's
previous private placements. The Special Situations Funds made a payment in the amount of $3,414,572 in
consideration for 542,858 shares of the Company's common stock, and Mr. Brady made a payment in the amount of
$2,460,208 in consideration for 502,940 shares of the Company's common stock. The Special Situations Funds and
Mr. Brady exercised their warrants at the same price and on the same terms and conditions as all other warrant holders
in the transaction, the negotiation of which terms was led by the Special Situations Funds and other institutional
shareholders. Mr. Murphy and Mr. Gardner also participated in the warrant exchange transaction and made payments
of $2,741 and $179,715, respectively, in consideration for 436 and 28,572, respective shares of the Company's
common stock.

NOTE 12.     INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Act”), was signed into law resulting in significant changes to
U.S. tax law, generally effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. Among other changes, the Tax Act
reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate to 21 percent from a maximum rate of 34 percent; implements a new
system of taxation for non-U.S. earnings, including imposing a one-time tax on the deemed repatriation of
undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries, permitting deductions for certain dividends from non-U.S.
subsidiaries, and expanding income inclusions from controlled foreign corporations; imposes significant additional
limitations on the deductibility of interest; and allows for the expensing of certain capital expenditures. In the absence
of guidance on various ambiguities in the application of certain provisions of the Tax Act, the Company used what it
believes are reasonable interpretations and assumptions in applying the Tax Act. It is possible, however, that the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service will issue subsequent guidance or take positions that differ from the Company's
interpretations and assumptions, which could have a material adverse effect on its deferred tax assets and liabilities,
results of operations, and financial condition.

Because the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are fully reserved, there was no impact of the Tax Act on the
consolidated financial statements for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. However, deferred tax balances
and related valuation allowances were re-measured to reflect the future tax benefit at the new enacted corporate tax
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rate of 21%. The U.S. deferred tax assets were reduced by $6.3 million and the valuation allowance was also reduced
by $6.3 million. This re-measurement resulted in no net impact to the effective tax rate for the year ended December
31, 2017.

The components of the Company’s net deferred income taxes are as follows (rounded):
December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry forwards $19,362,000 $17,875,000 $15,649,000
Change in federal tax rate (6,329,000 )— —
Accrued expenses 270,000 256,000 187,000
Stock option and warrant expenses 698,000 804,000 618,000
Accounts receivable 67,000 90,000 52,000
Deferred rent 24,000 36,000 44,000
Other 1,000 3,000 3,000
Total deferred tax assets 14,093,000 19,064,000 16,553,000
Valuation allowance (13,860,000 )(18,475,000 )(15,871,000 )
Net deferred tax assets 233,000 589,000 682,000

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed and tangible assets (233,000 )(589,000 )(682,000 )
Total deferred tax liabilities (233,000 )(589,000 )(682,000 )

Total deferred tax assets (liabilities) $— $— $—
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The following summary reconciles differences from taxes at the federal statutory rate with the effective rate:
Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Federal income tax at statutory rates (34.0 )%(34.0)%(34.0)%
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance (81.7 )%39.0  % 28.8  %
Deferred state taxes (3.3 )%(3.2 )%(2.5 )%
Non-deductible expenses:
Change in value of acquisition liability 3.7  %—  %—  %
Change in fair value of warrants —  %—  %6.4  %
ISO stock compensation 1.6  % 1.3  % 0.7  %
Change in state & federal deferred rate 112.1 % (4.2 )%—  %
Other 1.6  % 1.1  % 0.6  %
Income taxes (benefit) at effective rates —  %—  %—  %

The Company has incurred net losses for tax purposes every year since inception. At December 31, 2017, the
Company had approximately $50,177,102 in net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal and state income tax
purposes that expire in various amounts between the years of 2026 and 2037. The Company's ability to deduct its
historical net operating losses may be limited in the future due to IRC Section 382 as a result of the substantial
issuances of common stock in 2012 through 2015. Certain of the Company's net operating losses acquired in
connection with the Ebyline acquisition also may be limited by IRC Section 382. The change in valuation allowance
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 was a decrease of $4,615,000 resulting from the reduction in the
future corporate tax rate offset by net operating losses during the period. The change in valuation allowance for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was an increase of $2,604,000 and $4,648,000, respectively,
resulting primarily from net operating losses generated during the period.

NOTE 13.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On April 4, 2018, a securities lawsuit, Julian Perez v. IZEA, Inc., et al., case number 2:18-cv-02784-SVW-GJS was
instituted in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California against the Company and certain of its
executive officers on behalf of certain purchasers of the Company's common stock. The plaintiffs seek to recover
damages for investors under federal securities laws. The Company believes that the plaintiffs’ allegations are without
merit and intends to vigorously defend against the claims. The Company is still in the early stages of this litigation and
is unable to estimate a reasonably possible range of loss, if any, that may result from this matter.
On April 5, 2018, IZEA, Inc. (the “Company”) received a notification letter from the Listing Qualifications Department
of Nasdaq indicating that, as a result of the Company’s delay in filing this Annual Report, the Company is not in
compliance with the timely filing requirements for continued listing under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250(c)(1). The
notification letter has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq
Capital Market.

The Company filed a Notification of Late Filing on Form 12b-25 on April 3, 2018, indicating that the filing of this
Annual Report would be delayed until after the completion of a restatement of the Company’s previously issued
financial statements included in its Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016
and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each quarter for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, and the first
three quarters for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The notification letter stated that, under Nasdaq rules, the Company has 60 calendar days, or until June 4, 2018, to
submit a plan to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements. The Company may also regain
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compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements at any time before June 4, 2018, by filing this Annual Report
with the SEC, as well as any subsequent periodic financial reports that may become due, and continuing to comply
with Nasdaq’s other continued listing requirements. The filing of this Annual Report is the Company's action to regain
compliance.
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NOTE 14.    UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

The information for each quarterly period for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, and for the first three
quarters for the year ended December 31, 2017 have been restated to correct the errors and changes in presentation
described in Note 2. The restated quarterly consolidated statements of operations for these quarterly periods are
presented below:

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $8,154,674 $(1,064,819)$ — $ — $7,089,855
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,758,621 (1,064,819 )608,824 — 3,302,626
Sales and marketing 2,342,002 — (608,824) — 1,733,178
General and administrative 2,687,266 — — (374,965) 2,312,301
Depreciation and amortization — — — 374,965 374,965
Total costs and expenses 8,787,889 (1,064,819 )— — 7,723,070
Loss from operations (633,215 )— — — (633,215 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (15,058 ) (15,058 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 45,160 45,160
Other income (expense), net 44,308 44,308
Total other income (expense), net 74,410 — — — 74,410
Net loss $(558,805 )$— $ — $ — $(558,805 )

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,702,297 5,702,297

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.10 ) $(0.10 )
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Three Months Ended
June 30, 2017

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $6,980,221 $(1,267,317)$ — $ — $5,712,904
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,442,181 (1,267,317 )539,835 2,714,699
Sales and marketing 2,426,363 — (539,835) — 1,886,528
General and administrative 2,524,630 — — (358,260) 2,166,370
Depreciation and amortization — — — 358,260 358,260
Total costs and expenses 8,393,174 (1,267,317 )— — 7,125,857
Loss from operations (1,412,953 )— — — (1,412,953 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (13,272 ) (13,272 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (8,420 ) (8,420 )
Other income (expense), net (11,953 ) (11,953 )
Total other income (expense), net (33,645 )— — — (33,645 )
Net loss $(1,446,598)$— $ — $ — $(1,446,598)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,676,629 5,676,629

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.25 ) $(0.25 )

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2017

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $6,202,506 $(1,368,001)$ — $ — $4,834,505
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,195,526 (1,368,001 )509,535 2,337,060
Sales and marketing 2,898,355 — (509,535) — 2,388,820
General and administrative 2,809,524 — — (362,606) 2,446,918
Depreciation and amortization — — 362,606 362,606
Total costs and expenses 8,903,405 (1,368,001 )— — 7,535,404
Loss from operations (2,700,899 )— — — (2,700,899 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (17,076 ) (17,076 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (618 ) (618 )
Other income (expense), net (627 ) (627 )
Total other income (expense), net (18,321 )— — — (18,321 )
Net loss $(2,719,220)$— $ — $ — $(2,719,220)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,598,200 5,598,200

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.49 ) $(0.49 )
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Three Months Ended
December 31, 2016

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $7,433,991 $(1,550,377)$ — $ — $5,883,614
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,795,209 (1,550,377 )643,460 2,888,292
Sales and marketing 2,705,246 — (643,460) — 2,061,786
General and administrative 2,723,490 — — (364,788) 2,358,702
Depreciation and amortization — — 364,788 364,788
Total costs and expenses 9,223,945 (1,550,377 )— — 7,673,568
Loss from operations (1,789,954 )— — — (1,789,954 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (24,683 ) (24,683 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (5,405 ) (5,405 )
Other income (expense), net (9,590 ) (9,590 )
Total other income (expense), net (39,678 )— — — (39,678 )
Net loss $(1,829,632)$— $ — $ — $(1,829,632)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,450,005 5,450,005

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.34 ) $(0.34 )

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2016

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $7,496,972 $(1,463,042)$ — $ — $6,033,930
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,927,279 (1,463,042 )595,877 3,060,114
Sales and marketing 2,584,287 — (595,877) — 1,988,410
General and administrative 2,454,555 — — (339,589) 2,114,966
Depreciation and amortization — — 339,589 339,589
Total costs and expenses 8,966,121 (1,463,042 )— — 7,503,079
Loss from operations (1,469,149 )— — — (1,469,149 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (25,511 ) (25,511 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (14,705 ) (14,705 )
Other income (expense), net (2,238 ) (2,238 )
Total other income (expense), net (42,454 )— — — (42,454 )
Net loss $(1,511,603)$— $ — $ — $(1,511,603)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,420,020 5,420,020

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.28 ) $(0.28 )
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Three Months Ended
June 30, 2016

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $6,913,689 $(1,480,064)$ — $ — $5,433,625
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,418,387 (1,480,064 )586,546 2,524,869
Sales and marketing 2,612,714 — (571,696) — 2,041,018
General and administrative 2,524,746 — (14,850) (299,177) 2,210,719
Depreciation and amortization — — 299,177 299,177
Total costs and expenses 8,555,847 (1,480,064 )— — 7,075,783
Loss from operations (1,642,158 )— — — (1,642,158 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (11,411 ) (11,411 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 26,421 26,421
Other income (expense), net 803 803
Total other income (expense), net 15,813 — — — 15,813
Net loss $(1,626,345)$— $ — $ — $(1,626,345)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,350,128 5,350,128

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.30 ) $(0.30 )

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2016

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $5,465,950 $(1,582,822)$ — $3,883,128
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,101,369 (1,582,822 )482,947 2,001,494
Sales and marketing 2,359,663 — (461,287) — 1,898,376
General and administrative 2,580,001 — (21,660) (296,297) 2,262,044
Depreciation and amortization — 296,297 296,297
Total costs and expenses 8,041,033 (1,582,822 )— — 6,458,211
Loss from operations (2,575,083 )— — — (2,575,083 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (21,339 ) (21,339 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 2,852 2,852
Other income (expense), net 950 950
Total other income (expense), net (17,537 )— — — (17,537 )
Net loss $(2,592,620)$— $ — $ — $(2,592,620)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,300,520 5,300,520
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Three Months Ended
December 31, 2015

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $6,262,233 $(1,734,392)$ — $ — $4,527,841
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,587,608 (1,734,392 )489,381 2,342,597
Sales and marketing 2,626,091 — (468,981) — 2,157,110
General and administrative 2,435,748 — (20,400) (428,071) 1,987,277
Depreciation and amortization — — 428,071 428,071
Total costs and expenses 8,649,447 (1,734,392 )— — 6,915,055
Loss from operations (2,387,214 )— — — (2,387,214 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (29,507 ) (29,507 )
Loss on exchange of warrants — —
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 5,720 5,720
Other income (expense), net 4,120 4,120
Total other income (expense), net (19,667 )— — — (19,667 )
Net loss $(2,406,881)$— $ — $ — $(2,406,881)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 5,118,139 5,118,139

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.47 ) $(0.47 )

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2015

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $5,442,457 $(1,722,518)$ — $ — $3,719,939
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 3,290,457 (1,722,518 )475,392 2,043,331
Sales and marketing 1,982,088 — (452,792) — 1,529,296
General and administrative 1,056,473 — (22,600) (230,553) 803,320
Depreciation and amortization — — 230,553 230,553
Total costs and expenses 6,329,018 (1,722,518 )— — 4,606,500
Loss from operations (886,561 )— — — (886,561 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (31,191 ) (31,191 )
Loss on exchange of warrants (1,845,810 ) (1,845,810 )
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 115,904 115,904
Other income (expense), net 2,571 2,571
Total other income (expense), net (1,758,526 )— — — (1,758,526 )
Net loss $(2,645,087)$— $ — $ — $(2,645,087)

4,075,605 4,075,605
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Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted
Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.65 ) $(0.65 )
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Three Months Ended
June 30, 2015

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $4,627,742 $(1,750,026)$ — $ — $2,877,716
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 2,917,360 (1,750,026 )414,398 1,581,732
Sales and marketing 1,746,549 — (397,398) — 1,349,151
General and administrative 2,164,380 — (17,000) (226,211) 1,921,169
Depreciation and amortization — — 226,211 226,211
Total costs and expenses 6,828,289 (1,750,026 )— — 5,078,263
Loss from operations (2,200,547 )— — — (2,200,547 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (36,393 ) (36,393 )
Loss on exchange of warrants — —
Change in fair value of derivatives, net 250,507 250,507
Other income (expense), net 1,142 1,142
Total other income (expense), net 215,256 — — — 215,256
Net loss $(1,985,291)$— $ — $ — $(1,985,291)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 2,885,721 2,885,721

Basic and diluted loss per common share $(0.69 ) $(0.69 )

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2015

As
Previously
Reported

Workflow
Revenue
Adjustment

Campaign
Fulfillment
Adjustment

Depreciation
&
Amortization
Reclassification

As Restated

Revenue $4,135,494 $(1,151,305)$ — $ — $2,984,189
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of amortization) 2,441,491 (1,151,305 )340,691 1,630,877
Sales and marketing 1,581,487 — (330,691) — 1,250,796
General and administrative 1,860,514 — (10,000) (174,296) 1,676,218
Depreciation and amortization — — 174,296 174,296
Total costs and expenses 5,883,492 (1,151,305 )— — 4,732,187
Loss from operations (1,747,998 )— — — (1,747,998 )
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (18,770 ) (18,770 )
Loss on exchange of warrants — —
Change in fair value of derivatives, net (2,505,951 ) (2,505,951 )
Other income (expense), net 1,807 1,807
Total other income (expense), net (2,522,914 )— — — (2,522,914 )
Net loss $(4,270,912)$— $ — $ — $(4,270,912)

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
and diluted 2,884,883 2,884,883
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ITEM 9 – CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A – CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures. Furthermore, controls and procedures could be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion or two or more people or by management override of the control.
Misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected on a timely basis.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, an
evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer to determine the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of
December 31, 2017.  Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Due to the material weakness outlined below, our principal executive
and principal financial officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
December 31, 2017.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer and
effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the Company’s
transactions;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for the preparation of our financial
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and directors; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect financial
statement misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of internal control effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2017. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this
assessment, our management concluded that due to a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
as described below, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2017.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In connection with our year-end financial statement close, our process of evaluating the adoption of the new
accounting pronouncement for revenue recognition, and our preparation of this Annual Report, management
determined that there were errors in our previously issued financial statements related to our presentation of revenue
related to the self-service Content Workflow portion of our revenue and our classification of cost of revenue related to
our Managed Services. Specifically, we determined that revenue from Content Workflow services should have been
reported on a net transaction basis. In addition, we determined that cost of revenue related to our Managed Services
only included the direct cost of the content that was being purchased by our customers, and did not appropriately
include the cost of our internal personnel responsible for fulfilling these services. We historically considered and
reported the cost of our campaign fulfillment personnel as part of our sales and marketing expenses.

This conclusion resulted in the restatement discussed in Notes 2 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Accordingly, we determined that we have a material weakness in the evaluation of the application of generally
accepted accounting principles for our contractual arrangements with customers, more specifically the method of
revenue recognition and the identification and classification of the costs of our services.

The errors had no impact on our previously reported loss from operations, net loss, loss per share, or on any of our
consolidated balance sheets, statements of cash flows, and statements of stockholders' equity.

Because of this material weakness, management concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 based on criteria described in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by COSO.

Remediation of Material Weakness

To remediate the material weakness described above, we have implemented additional controls including the
engagement of independent third-party technical accounting experts to assist management with the adoption of new
accounting pronouncements, the review and evaluation of significant contracts, and the related financial reporting. We
are continuing to evaluate our processes and controls after giving effect to the additional controls. Further processes
and controls may be added. We believe that these measures will remediate the material weakness identified and
strengthen the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Management's annual report on internal control over financial reporting was not subject to attestation by the
Company's independent registered public accounting firm as we are a smaller reporting company and not required to
provide an attestation report. Accordingly, BDO USA, LLP, has not issued an attestation report on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2017 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION
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PART III

ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors

The names and ages of our executive officers and directors, and their positions with us, are as follows:
Name Age Position
Edward H. (Ted) Murphy 41 Founder, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Ryan S. Schram 37 Chief Operating Officer and Director
LeAnn C. Hitchcock 48 Chief Financial Officer
Brian W. Brady 59 Director
John H. Caron 60 Director
Lindsay A. Gardner 57 Director, Compensation Committee Chairman
Jill M. Golder 56 Director, Audit Committee Chairman
Daniel R. Rua 49 Director

The principal occupations for at least the past five years of each of our executive officers and directors are as follows:

Executive Officers

Edward H. (Ted) Murphy, Founder, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer founded IZEA in
February 2006 as part of MindComet Corp., an interactive advertising agency that he started in 1999 and served as
Chief Executive Officer. IZEA was later spun out of MindComet in September 2006. Mr. Murphy is a serial
entrepreneur who is recognized as a pioneer in paid blogging and a catalyst behind the social sponsorship industry. As
the Founder, President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Murphy leads IZEA, both with his day-to-day operational
leadership and with his strategic vision for IZEA and its products. Mr. Murphy attended Florida State University
before starting MindComet and several other earlier Internet-related businesses. Mr. Murphy was elected as a director
based on his extensive social sponsorship industry knowledge and a deep background in social media, mobile
technology and e-commerce, as well as significant experience in financing technology growth companies.

Ryan S. Schram, Chief Operating Officer and Director, joined us in September 2011 as a senior executive leading our
client development, campaign management, brand marketing, public relations and creator alliance departments. Prior
to joining us, from 2005 to 2011, Mr. Schram served in various leadership roles, most recently as Group Vice
President, at ePrize, the industry leader in integrated engagement marketing. Prior to that, Mr. Schram held roles of
increasing responsibility at CBS/Westwood One and Clear Channel Interactive. Mr. Schram holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Management from the Eli Broad College of Business at Michigan State University. Mr. Schram was elected
as a director of IZEA due to his substantial knowledge and working experience in marketing and client development
in quickly evolving industries.

LeAnn C. Hitchcock, Chief Financial Officer, joined us in September 2011 as a financial consultant and was
appointed as our Chief Financial Officer in August 2014. During her time as a consultant, she assisted us with
financial reporting, internal accounting controls and assistance during our quarterly reviews and annual audits. Prior to
working with IZEA, Ms. Hitchcock worked as the Chief Financial Officer of NBI Juiceworks in 2010 and as the SEC
Compliance Officer of Workstream Inc. in 2009. From 2002 to 2009, Ms. Hitchcock worked at Galaxy Nutritional
Foods as its Chief Financial Officer and later as its SEC Compliance Officer until the company was sold and
privatized through a tender offer in 2009. Ms. Hitchcock started her career as an auditor with Arthur Andersen and
PricewaterhouseCoopers with a strong emphasis on public companies. Ms. Hitchcock holds a Bachelor of Science
degree with a double major in Accounting and Business Administration from Palm Beach Atlantic University and a
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Masters degree in Accounting from Florida State University.

Directors

Brian W. Brady, Director, joined our Board in August 2012. Since 1995, Mr. Brady has been the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Northwest Broadcasting, Inc., and Chairman of Bryson Holdings LLC. Collectively, these
companies own and operate 15 television stations in nine markets. Mr. Brady currently serves on the board of
Syncbak, a privately held technology company, SumTV, iPowow International, Layer3TV and TV4 Entertainment.
Mr. Brady is also one of three senior advisors for Manhattan West Asset Management, an independent wealth
management and high net worth financial advisory
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firm. Mr. Brady previously served on the FOX Affiliate Board for nine years, serving as Chairman for four of those
years. He also previously served on the board of the National Association of Broadcasting (8 years), Saga
Communication (9 years) and the Ferris State College Foundation Board (7 years). Mr. Brady holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in advertising from Ferris State University. Mr. Brady was elected to serve as a member of our Board
due to his more than 25 years of experience in the multi-media industry making his input invaluable to us as we
expand our portfolio of customers and platform offerings.

John H. Caron, Director, joined our Board in April 2015. Mr. Caron has 27 years of marketing experience in the
consumer packaged goods and restaurant industries. Since May 2017, Mr. Caron has served as Vice President and a
director of Entrepreneurs in Action, Inc., a Florida benefit corporation, which, among other things, will be the
Manager of one or more funds to invest in early-stage and start-up social enterprises. Mr. Caron has also served as an
independent director on the board of Actionable Quality Assurance since April 2017, on the board of Tijuana Flats
since November 2015, on the board of Thrive Frozen Nutrition, Inc. since April 2014, and on the board of venVelo, a
Central Florida early-stage venture fund, since May 2013. Prior to joining our Board, Mr. Caron was a member of our
Strategic Advisory Board since June 2013. Mr. Caron served as the President of Olive Garden at Darden Restaurants
Inc. from May 2011 to January 2013, Darden's Chief Marketing Officer from March 2010 to May 2011 and Darden's
Executive Vice President of Marketing for Olive Garden from 2003 to 2010. Before joining Darden Restaurants, Mr.
Caron served as Vice President and General Manager of Lipton Beverages for Unilever Bestfoods North America
from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Caron received a Bachelor of Science degree in Political Science from The Colorado College
and a Masters degree in American Politics from New York University Department of Politics. Mr. Caron also earned
an MBA in Marketing from New York University Stern School of Business. Mr. Caron was elected to serve as a
member of the Board due to his decades of experience in leading and managing marketing and branding operations in
highly competitive industries.

Lindsay A. Gardner, Director, joined our Board in December 2013. Mr. Gardner has 30 years of executive
management and leadership experience at companies ranging from technology startups to the world’s largest media
and entertainment companies. Currently, Mr. Gardner serves as a Senior Vice President of T-Mobile. Previously, he
was the Chief Content Officer of Layer3TV from January 2015 until its sale to T-Mobile in January 2018. In June
2010, he became a Senior Advisor to Oaktree Capital Management, a Los Angeles-based private equity firm with
$100 billion under management. Since May 2010, he has focused on global buyout opportunities in the media sector.
From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Gardner was a partner of New York-based, MediaTech Capital Partners. From 1999 until
mid-2007, Mr. Gardner led distribution, sales and marketing for Fox Networks. Mr. Gardner is currently the Chairman
on the board of the Courage Campaign Institute. Mr. Gardner received an MBA from The Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Brandeis University. Mr. Gardner was
elected to serve as a member of the Board due to his significant experience in the media, technology and
entertainment industries, as both an executive and a private equity investor.

Jill M. Golder, Director, joined our Board in May 2015. Ms. Golder has 30 years of finance, accounting and corporate
governance experience and has served in numerous leadership roles at Fortune 500 companies. Ms. Golder is currently
the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Inc., which she joined in
April 2016. She was previously employed at Ruby Tuesday, Inc. from April 2013 to April 2016 where she served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining Ruby Tuesday, Ms. Golder served as Chief
Financial Officer for Cooper's Hawk Winery & Restaurants. Prior to her tenure at Cooper’s Hawk Winery &
Restaurants, Ms. Golder spent 23 years at Darden Restaurants, holding progressively more responsible positions in
finance including Senior Vice President of Finance for Olive Garden, Smokey Bones, Specialty Restaurant Group and
Red Lobster. Ms. Golder also served as Director of Strategic Planning and Corporate Analysis for Domino's Pizza
International from 1994 to 1995 and she earlier served as a Manager of Finance at Walt Disney World. Ms. Golder
serves on the University of Tennessee Economics Advisory Council. She also serves on the Board of Directors for
BarFly Ventures, Inc. She earned a Bachelor of Arts degree with a major in Economics at Kalamazoo College and a
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Masters degree in Business Administration from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business. Ms. Golder was
elected to serve as a member of the Board due to her extensive knowledge of complex financial, accounting and
operational issues highly relevant to our business.

Daniel R. Rua, Director, rejoined our Board in July 2012. Since November 2015, Mr. Rua has served as the Chief
Executive Officer of Admiral, a private company that provides advanced adblock analytics and advertising revenue
recovery for online publishers. From September 2006 to May 2011, Mr. Rua served as the Executive Chairman and an
early investor in our predecessor entity IZEA Innovations, Inc. Mr. Rua has been a Managing Partner of Inflexion
Partners, an early-stage venture capital fund, since January 2002. Prior to Inflexion, Mr. Rua was a Partner with
Draper Atlantic, the east coast fund of Silicon Valley’s early-stage venture firm Draper Fisher Jurvetson, from 1999 to
2002. Prior to Draper Atlantic, Mr. Rua led Internet protocol development at IBM’s Networking Labs in Research
Triangle, from 1991 to 1999. Mr. Rua is a former director of InphoMatch (acquired by Sybase) and AuctionRover
(acquired by Overture/Yahoo). Mr. Rua holds a B.S. degree in computer engineering from the University of Florida.
He also earned a J.D. from the University of North Carolina School of Law and an M.B.A. from the Kenan-Flagler
Business School of the University of North Carolina. Mr. Rua was elected to serve
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as a member of our Board due to his extensive knowledge of our products and services as a director and early investor
in our predecessor, as well as his many years of experience in venture capital investing and operational leadership of
other technology growth companies.

All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and the election and qualification of their
successors. Officers are elected annually by the Board and serve at the discretion of the Board.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among our executive officers and directors.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To our knowledge, during the past ten years, none of our directors, executive officers, promoters, control persons or
nominees has been:

•the subject of any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner orexecutive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;

•convicted in a criminal proceeding or is subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations andother minor offenses);

•
subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent
jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any
type of business, securities or banking activities; or

•found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading SEC to haveviolated a federal or state securities or commodities law.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, our directors, executive officers and persons who beneficially own more
than 10% of our outstanding common stock must file initial reports of ownership with respect to our equity securities
and reports of changes in such ownership with the SEC. Such persons are required by SEC rules to furnish us with
copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. To our knowledge, based solely upon our review of the copies of the forms
furnished to us and written representations of our officers and directors, we believe that during the year ended
December 31, 2017, all Section16(a) filings were made in a timely manner, with the exception of Mr. Murphy, who
had one late filing to report the grant of stock options on June 21, 2017 and Mr. Brady, Mr. Caron, Mr. Gardner, Ms.
Golder, and Mr. Rua who each had one late filing to report the grant of restricted shares on July 31, 2017. These
filings were late by one day due to administrative error.

Board Committees
Our Board has three active standing committees to assist it with its responsibilities. Below, we describe the three
committees, the charters of which are available on our website at https://izea.com. Neither our website nor its contents
are incorporated into this Proxy Statement.
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee's duties are to recommend to the Board the engagement of independent
auditors to audit our financial statements and to review our accounting policies and financial statements.  The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the scope and fees for the annual audit and the results of audit examinations
performed by our independent public accountants, including their recommendations to improve the system of
accounting and internal controls.  The Audit Committee will at all times be composed exclusively of directors who
are, in the opinion of the Board, free from any relationship which would interfere with the exercise of independent
judgment as a committee member and who possess an understanding of financial statements and generally accepted
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     The Audit Committee is comprised of three non-employee directors: Jill M. Golder, John H. Caron and Daniel R.
Rua.  The Board has determined that all members of the Audit Committee are “independent” as that term is currently
defined in Rule 5605 of the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.  Ms. Golder serves as the audit committee chairman and is designated as the “audit committee
financial expert” based on her nearly 30 years of finance, accounting and corporate governance experience. The Audit
Committee met telephonically four times at regularly scheduled meetings during the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Compensation Committee.  The Compensation Committee is tasked with reviewing and approving our compensation
policies, including compensation of executive officers.  The Compensation Committee is also charged with reviewing
and administering our equity incentive compensation plans, and recommending and approving grants of stock options
or other awards under that plan.

The Compensation Committee is comprised of three non-employee directors: Lindsay A. Gardner, John H. Caron and
Daniel R. Rua.  The Board has determined that all members of the Compensation Committee are “independent” as that
term is currently defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15) and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.  Mr. Gardner serves as the chairman of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee
met as needed as part of the 12 regularly scheduled Board meetings during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee.  The purpose of the Nominations and Corporate Governance
Committee is to select, or recommend for our entire Board's selection, the individuals to stand for election as directors
at the annual meeting of stockholders and to oversee the selection and composition of committees of our Board.  The
Nominations and Corporate Governance Committee's duties also include considering the adequacy of our corporate
governance and overseeing and approving management continuity planning processes. The Nominations and
Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of all of our non-employee directors: Brian W. Brady, John H. Caron,
Lindsay A. Gardner, Jill M. Golder and Daniel R. Rua.

While we do not have a formal diversity policy for Board membership, the Board does seek to ensure that its
membership consists of sufficiently diverse backgrounds, meaning a mix of backgrounds and experiences that will
enhance the quality of the Board’s deliberations and decisions. In considering candidates for the Board, the
independent directors consider, among other factors, diversity with respect to viewpoints, skills, experience and other
demographics.

Board Leadership Structure
Edward H. (Ted) Murphy has been our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer since 2006
when he founded IZEA. We believe that having one person, particularly Mr. Murphy with his deep industry and
executive management experience, his extensive knowledge of the operations of IZEA and his own history of
innovation and strategic thinking, serve as both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is the best leadership structure
for IZEA because it demonstrates to employees, customers and stockholders that we are under strong leadership, with
a single person setting the tone and having primary responsibility for managing our operations. This unity of
leadership promotes strategy development and execution, timely decision-making and effective management of
company resources. We believe that we have been well served by this structure.
Five of our seven directors are independent within the meaning of SEC and Nasdaq rules. In addition, all of the
directors on each of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominations and Corporate Governance
Committee are independent and each of these committees is led by an independent committee chair. The committee
chairs set the agendas for their committees and report to the full Board on their work. We do not have a lead
independent director, but, as required by Nasdaq, our independent directors meet in executive session without
management present as frequently as they deem appropriate, typically at the time of each regular in-person Board
meeting. All of the independent directors are highly accomplished and experienced business people in their respective
fields, who have demonstrated leadership in significant enterprises and are familiar with board processes. Our
independent directors bring experience, oversight and expertise from outside the company and industry, while Messrs.
Murphy and Schram bring company-specific experience and expertise.

Board Role in Risk Oversight
While the Board is responsible for overseeing our risk management, the Board has delegated many of these functions
to the Audit Committee. Under its charter, the Audit Committee is responsible for discussing with management and
the independent auditors our major financial risk exposures, the guidelines and policies by which risk assessment and
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management is undertaken, and the steps management has taken to monitor and control risk exposure. In addition to
the Audit Committee’s work in overseeing risk management, the full Board regularly engages in discussions of the
most significant risks that we are facing and how those risks are being managed, and the Board receives reports on
risk management from our senior officers and from the chair of the Audit Committee. In addition, Mr. Murphy’s
extensive knowledge of IZEA uniquely qualifies him to lead the Board in assessing risks. The Board believes that the
work undertaken by the Audit Committee, the full Board and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, enables the
Board to effectively oversee our risk management function.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
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We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all our directors, officers (including our chief
executive officer, chief financial officer and any person performing similar functions) and employees. We have made
our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics available on our website at https://izea.com. Amendments to the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics or any grant of a waiver from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
requiring disclosure under applicable SEC rules will also be disclosed on our website.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the cash compensation, as well as certain other compensation earned during the last two
fiscal years, for (i) each person who served as our principal executive officer (“PEO”) during the year ended December
31, 2017; (ii) each person who served as our principal financial officer (“PFO”) during the year ended December 31,
2017; and (iii) up to two other most highly compensated executive officers other than the PEO or the PFO who were
serving as executive officers as of December 31, 2017 (collectively referred to as the “Named Executive Officers”):

Name and Principal Position Year  Salary($)
 Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($) (1)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compen-sation
($)

 All Other
Compen-sation
($) (2)

 Total
($)

Edward H. (Ted) Murphy 2017233,010— 36,411 175,250 91,002 814 536,487
President and Chief Executive Officer 2016232,942— — 168,541 79,842 1,027 482,352
Ryan S. Schram 2017248,5441,000 6,446 42,126 228,512 305 526,933
Chief Operating Officer 2016248,572— — 38,929 164,908 — 452,409
LeAnn C. Hitchcock 2017196,1541,000 — — 25,684 376 223,214
Chief Financial Officer 2016202,250— — — 16,698 — 218,948
(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options issued during the year as calculated in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates” under “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for additional information, including valuation
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the awards.

(2)Represents insurance premiums paid by IZEA with respect to life insurance for the benefit of the Named ExecutiveOfficer.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

Listed below is information with respect to unexercised options and equity incentive awards held by each Named
Executive Officer as of December 31, 2017 pursuant to our equity incentive plans:

Option Awards

Name

Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options:
Exercisable
(#)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options:
Unexercisable
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price  
($) (1)

Option Expiration Date

Edward H. (Ted) Murphy  (2) 25,000 — $ 5.00 3/1/2023
President and Chief Executive Officer 9,384 — $ 5.00 3/1/2023

219,949 — $ 5.00 8/15/2023
69,382 1,476 $ 7.30 9/9/2019
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38,341 1,659 $ 5.20 12/26/2024
5,323 1,977 $ 7.80 4/1/2025
2,072 1,036 $ 8.40 7/1/2025
1,998 1,309 $ 8.00 10/1/2025
21,031 16,357 $ 7.80 11/30/2025
3,976 4,321 $ 6.91 3/30/2026
2,423 3,116 $ 5.75 5/16/2026
3,022 5,036 $ 7.22 8/16/2026
1,968 4,331 $ 4.72 11/17/2026
12,500 27,500 $ 4.75 11/30/2026
3,266 10,983 $ 4.20 3/31/2027
2,229 9,658 $ 2.75 5/12/2027
3,514 24,599 $ 1.95 8/14/2027
2,500 37,500 $ 4.65 11/30/2027

Ryan S. Schram (3) 5,000 — $ 5.00 3/1/2023
Chief Operating Officer 3,750 — $ 5.00 3/1/2023

9,667 333 $ 5.40 5/20/2019
37,500 — $ 6.80 11/3/2018
5,278 1,389 $ 5.60 1/2/2025
887 330 $ 7.80 4/1/2025
341 170 $ 8.40 7/1/2025
338 222 $ 8.00 10/1/2025
3,442 2,913 $ 7.60 1/1/2026
663 720 $ 6.91 3/30/2026
404 519 $ 5.75 5/16/2026
504 839 $ 7.22 8/16/2026
328 722 $ 4.72 11/17/2026
1,945 4,722 $ 4.51 1/1/2027
544 1,831 $ 4.20 3/31/2027
452 1,960 $ 2.75 5/12/2027
532 3,723 $ 1.95 8/14/2027

LeAnn C. Hitchcock (4) 125 — $ 5.00 3/1/2023
Chief Financial Officer 4,833 167 $ 5.40 5/20/2019

17,500 2,500 $ 8.00 8/25/2019
5,625 4,375 $ 8.00 12/1/2025
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(1)Unless otherwise indicated, the option exercise price represents the closing price of our common stock on the dateof grant.

(2)

On March 1, 2013, Mr. Murphy received an incentive stock option to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock,
vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 694 shares over the three years following the grant date.
Additionally, on March 1, 2013, Mr. Murphy received an incentive stock option to purchase 9,384 shares of
common stock. The option fully vested after one year on March 1, 2014. In connection with our 2013 private
placement, Mr. Murphy received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 219,949 shares of common stock. The
option vested immediately as to 54,987 shares (25%) and the remainder vests in equal monthly installments of
approximately 3,437 shares over four years. On September 9, 2014, Mr. Murphy received a non-qualified stock
option to purchase 70,858 shares of common stock. The option vested immediately as to 7,381 shares and the
remainder vests in equal monthly installments of approximately 1,476 shares over 43 months following the grant
date. On December 26, 2014, Mr. Murphy received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 40,000 shares of
common stock. The option vested immediately as to 6,000 shares and the remainder vests in equal monthly
installments of approximately 829 shares over 41 months following the grant date. As a result of quarterly bonus
awards based on Key Performance Indicators, Mr. Murphy received incentive stock options totaling 13,715 shares
on April 1, 2015, July 1, 2015 and October 1, 2015. These options vest in equal monthly installments over four
years and expire ten years after the grant date as indicated in the chart. Pursuant to his employment agreement, on
November 30, 2015, Mr. Murphy received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 37,388 shares of common
stock vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 779 shares over four years following the grant date.
As a result of quarterly and annual bonus awards based on Key Performance Indicators, Mr. Murphy received
incentive stock options on March 30, 2016, May 16, 2016, August 16, 2016 and November 17, 2016 totaling
28,193 shares. These options vest in equal monthly installments over four years and expire ten years after the grant
date as indicated in the chart. Pursuant to his employment agreement, on November 30, 2016, Mr. Murphy
received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock vesting in equal monthly
installments of approximately 833 shares over four years following the grant date. As a result of quarterly and
annual bonus awards based on Key Performance Indicators, Mr. Murphy received incentive stock options on
March 31, 2017 and May 12, 2017 totaling 26,136 shares. These options were subject to the approval of an
increase in shares in our Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved on June 21, 2017. These options vest as to
1,139 shares on June 30, 2017 and the remainder vests in equal monthly installments of approximately 545 shares
thereafter. On August 14, 2017, Mr. Murphy received anon-qualified stock option to purchase 28,113 shares for his
second quarter bonus award. This option vests in equal monthly installments of approximately 586 shares over four
years and expires ten years after the grant date as indicated in the chart. Pursuant to his employment agreement, on
November 30, 2017, Mr. Murphy received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 40,000 shares of common
stock vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 833 shares over four years following the grant date.

(3)On March 1, 2013, Mr. Schram received an incentive stock option to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock,
vesting in equal installments of approximately 139 shares per month over three years from the grant date.
Additionally, on March 1, 2013, Mr. Schram received an incentive stock option to purchase 3,750 shares of
common stock. The option fully vested after one year on March 1, 2014. On May 20, 2013, Mr. Schram received
an incentive stock option to purchase 10,000 shares, vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 167
shares over five years following the grant date. On November 3, 2013, Mr. Schram received a non-qualified stock
option to purchase 37,500 shares of common stock. The option vested as to 9,375 shares on November 3, 2014 and
the remainder vests in equal monthly installments of approximately 781 shares thereafter. Pursuant to his
employment agreement, on January 1, 2015, Mr. Schram received an incentive stock option to purchase 6,667
shares of common stock vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 139 shares over four years
following the grant date. As a result of quarterly bonus awards based on Key Performance Indicators, Mr. Schram
received incentive stock options on April 1, 2015, July 1, 2015 and October 1, 2015 totaling 2,288 shares. These
options vest in equal monthly installments over four years and expire ten years after the grant date as indicated in
the chart. Pursuant to his employment agreement, on January 1, 2016, Mr. Schram received an incentive stock
option to purchase 6,355 shares of common stock vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 132
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shares over four years following the grant date. As a result of quarterly and annual bonus awards based on Key
Performance Indicators, Mr. Schram received incentive stock options on March 30, 2016, May 16, 2016, August
16, 2016 and November 17, 2016 totaling 4,699 shares. These options vest in equal monthly installments over four
years and expire ten years after the grant date as indicated in the chart. Pursuant to his employment agreement, on
January 1, 2017, Mr. Schram received an incentive stock option to purchase 6,667 shares of common stock vesting
in equal monthly installments of approximately 139 shares over four years following the grant date. As a result of
quarterly and annual bonus awards based on Key Performance Indicators, Mr. Schram received incentive stock
options on March 31, 2017, May 12, 2017 and August 14, 2017 totaling 9,042 shares. These options vest in equal
monthly installments over four years and expire ten years after the grant date as indicated in the chart.
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(4)

On June 8, 2012, Ms. Hitchcock received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 125 shares of common stock.
This option vested as to 31 shares on June 8, 2013 and the remainder vests in equal monthly installments of
approximately 3 shares thereafter. On March 1, 2013, Ms. Hitchcock received a non-qualified stock option to
purchase 125 shares of common stock. The option fully vested after one year on March 1, 2014. On May 20, 2013,
Ms. Hitchcock received a non-qualified stock option to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock, vesting in equal
monthly installments of approximately 83 shares over five years. On August 25, 2014, Ms. Hitchcock received an
option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock. The option vests as to 5,000 shares (25%) one year after the
issuance date and the remainder in equal monthly installments of approximately 417 shares over the following
three years. On December 1, 2015, Ms. Hitchcock received an incentive stock option to purchase 10,000 shares of
common stock, vesting in equal monthly installments of approximately 208 shares over four years following the
grant date.

Stock Awards

Name

Number
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Market
Value
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market
Value or
Payout
Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That Have
Not
Vested
($)

Edward H. (Ted) Murphy  (1) —$ —2,576 $ 11,643
President and Chief Executive Officer —$ —7,386 $ 33,385

Ryan S. Schram (2) —$ —606 $ 2,739
Chief Operating Officer —$ —1,231 $ 5,564

(1)

We issued 2,812 shares and 7,543 shares of restricted stock on August 14, 2017 and November 9, 2017,
respectively, to Mr. Murphy for amounts owed on his second and third quarter performance bonus. The stock was
initially valued at $36,411 and vests in equal monthly installments over 48 months from issuance. As of December
31, 2017, 9,962 shares of the 10,355 issued shares of restricted stock are unvested with a total market value of
$45,028 based on the closing stock price of $4.52 on December 31, 2017.

(2)

We issued 662 shares and 1,257 shares of restricted stock on August 14, 2017 and November 9, 2017, respectively,
to Mr. Schram for amounts owed on his second and third quarter performance bonus. The stock was initially
valued at $6,446 and vests in equal monthly installments over 48 months from issuance. As of December 31, 2017,
1,837 shares of the 1,919 issued shares of restricted stock are unvested with a total market value of $8,303 based
on the closing stock price of $4.52 on December 31, 2017.

Employment Agreements

On December 26, 2014, the Board signed a new employment agreement with Edward H. (Ted) Murphy with an initial
term commencing on December 1, 2014 and ending on November 30, 2017. The agreement auto-renews for
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successive one-year periods if no termination notice is provided. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Murphy
receives an annual base salary of $225,000 with a guaranteed base salary increase of no less than 2% in April of each
year and annual stock options with a fair value of $150,000 vesting over four years in equal monthly installments.
However, the number of underlying shares of common stock shall not exceed 40,000 shares. In the event the fair
market value of the stock option grant is less than $150,000 as limited by the 40,000 share cap, Mr. Murphy will be
entitled to receive either 50% of the difference in fair market value in cash or 100% of the value in Restricted Stock
with the same vesting schedule as the stock options, at the sole discretion of the Board. Additionally, he is eligible for
annual bonus distributions up to $85,000 in cash and $150,000 in stock options as determined by the Board, based on
meeting and exceeding mutually agreed upon annual performance goals. For the year ended December 31, 2016, Mr.
Murphy was awarded cash bonuses totaling $79,842 of which $15,078 was remaining to be paid in 2017. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, Mr. Murphy was awarded cash bonuses totaling $71,101 of which $28,387 was remaining
to be paid in 2018. Additionally, Mr. Murphy's annual stock option award on November 30, 2017 was capped at
40,000 shares with a fair value of $110,198. Therefore, the Board elected to pay the $39,802 difference in fair value
with a 50% cash bonus of $19,901.

83

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 154



Table of Contents

In connection with the agreement, Mr. Murphy received an option to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $5.20 per share, expiring on December 26, 2024. The option vested as to 6,000 shares immediately
and the remainder vests in equal monthly installments over 41 months commencing December 31, 2014.

Mr. Murphy's employment agreement is subject to early termination for any reason upon written notice to him and in
the case of death, disability and cause. If terminated, for any reason other than death, disability or cause, Mr. Murphy
will be entitled to a severance of six months of his current salary and twelve months of COBRA payments. In the case
of termination due to disability, Mr. Murphy will be entitled to a severance of his current salary until such time (but no
more than 120 days after such disability) that disability insurance plan payments commence. If there is a change of
control (as defined in the employment agreement) and Mr. Murphy's employment terminates within six months
following the change of control for reasons other than for cause, then Mr. Murphy will be entitled to such amount
equal to six months of his then current base salary.

Pursuant to an employment agreement dated August 25, 2014, LeAnn C. Hitchcock receives an annual base salary of
$185,000 and is eligible for bonus distributions as determined by the Board, based on meeting and exceeding mutually
agreed upon annual performance goals. Effective December 1, 2015, the Board increased Ms. Hitchcock's salary to an
annual base salary of $200,000 and granted her a stock option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $8.00 per share, expiring on December 1, 2025. The option vests in equal monthly installments over
48 months commencing December 1, 2015.

    Ms. Hitchcock's employment agreement is subject to early termination for any reason upon written notice to her and
in the case of death, disability and cause. If terminated, for any reason other than death, disability or cause, Ms.
Hitchcock will be entitled to a severance of three months of her then current salary. In the case of termination due to
disability, Ms. Hitchcock will be entitled to a severance of her current salary until such time (but no more than 120
days after such disability) that disability insurance plan payments commence. If there is a change of control (as
defined in the employment agreement) and Ms. Hitchcock's employment terminates within six months following the
change of control for reasons other than for cause, then Ms. Hitchcock will be entitled to such amount equal to her
then current compensation for the greater of three months or the time remaining between the termination and the six
month anniversary of the change of control. For the year ended December 31, 2016, Ms. Hitchcock was awarded cash
bonuses totaling $16,698 of which $5,321 was remaining to be paid in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2017,
Ms. Hitchcock was awarded cash bonuses totaling $26,684 of which $10,031 was remaining to be paid in 2018.

On January 25, 2015, we entered into an amended and restated executive employment agreement, effective January 1,
2015, with Ryan S. Schram to serve as our Chief Operating Officer through December 31, 2017. The agreement
auto-renews for successive one-year periods if no termination notice is provided. Per the agreement, Mr. Schram will
receive an annual base salary of $240,000 with an annual increase of no less than 2% on April 1st of each year
beginning on April 1, 2015. Additionally, on January 1st each year, Mr. Schram will receive annual stock options with
a fair value of $25,000 vesting over four years in equal monthly installments. However, the number of underlying
shares of common stock shall not exceed 6,667 shares. In the event the fair market value of the stock option grant is
less than $25,000 as limited by the 6,667 share cap, Mr. Schram will be entitled to receive either 50% of the difference
in fair market value in cash or 100% of the difference in fair market value in Restricted Stock with the same vesting
schedule as the stock options, at the sole discretion of the Board. Mr. Schram will also be eligible for annual bonus
distributions up to $100,000 in cash and $25,000 in stock options based on meeting certain key performance indicators
set forth in his employment agreement, as well as an annual override cash bonus of 0.4% or 0.65% based on our gross
revenue. If Mr. Schram is terminated for any reason other than death, disability or cause, or if he resigns for good
reason (as those terms are defined in the Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement), Mr. Schram will
be entitled to severance of six months’ current salary and bonus and override bonus as in effect on the date of
termination. A change of control, under which Mr. Schram fails to retain his responsibilities, will be deemed to
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constitute good reason under the Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, Mr. Schram was awarded cash bonuses totaling $164,908 of which $47,475 was remaining to be
paid in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2017, Mr. Schram was awarded cash bonuses totaling $223,757 of
which $64,815 was remaining to be paid in 2018. Additionally, Mr. Schram's annual stock option award on January 1,
2017 was capped at 6,667 shares with a fair value of $13,490. Therefore, the Board elected to pay the $11,510
difference in fair value with a 50% cash bonus of $5,755.

84

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 156



Table of Contents

Equity Incentive Plans

In May 2011, the Board adopted the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan of IZEA, Inc. (the “May 2011 Plan”). At our 2017
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on June 21, 2017, the stockholders approved the amendment and restatement of
the May 2011 Plan which increased the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the May 2011
Plan by 500,000 shares. The amended May 2011 Plan allows us to grant options to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares as
an incentive for our employees and consultants.  On August 22, 2011, we adopted the 2011 B Equity Incentive Plan
(the “August 2011 Plan”) reserving 4,375 shares of common stock for issuance under the August 2011 Plan. As of
December 31, 2017, options to purchase 155,739 shares have been exercised under the May 2011 Plan and the August
2011 Plan.

Under both the May 2011 Plan and the August 2011 Plan, the Board determines the exercise price to be paid for the
shares, the period within which each option may be exercised, and the terms and conditions of each option. The
exercise price of the incentive and non-qualified stock options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value per
share of our common stock on the grant date. If an individual owns stock representing more than 10% of the
outstanding shares, the price of each share of an incentive stock option must be equal to or exceed 110% of fair market
value. Unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of grant, the purchase price is set at the fair market value
of our common stock on the grant date, the term is set at ten years and the options typically vest on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period as follows: 25% of options shall vest one year from the date of grant and the
remaining options shall vest monthly, in equal increments over the following three years. We issue new shares to the
optionee for any stock awards or options exercised pursuant to the applicable 2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

On April 16, 2014, stockholders holding a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock, upon previous
recommendation and approval of our Board, adopted the IZEA, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)
and reserved 75,000 shares of our common stock for issuance thereunder. Any employee regularly employed by us for
90 days or more on a full-time or part-time basis (20 hours or more per week on a regular schedule) will be eligible to
participate in the ESPP. The ESPP will operate in successive six month offering periods commencing at the beginning
of each fiscal year half. Each eligible employee who has elected to participate may purchase up to 10% of their annual
compensation in common stock not to exceed $21,250 annually or 1,000 shares per offering period. The purchase
price will be the lower of (i) 85% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the first trading day of the
offering period or (ii) 85% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the last trading day of the offering
period. The ESPP will continue until January 1, 2024, unless otherwise terminated by our Board. As of December 31,
2017, 41,406 shares have been issued under the ESPP.

The following table sets forth information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2017:

Plan Category

Number of
securities to
be issued
upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))
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(a) (b) (c)(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 1,049,503 $ 5.97 417,992
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 1,049,503 $ 5.97 417,992

(1) As of December 31, 2017, we had 382,523 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our May
2011 Equity Incentive Plan, 1,875 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our August 2011 Equity
Incentive Plan and 33,594 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2014 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

As of April 13, 2018, we had 5,819,246 shares of common stock issued, outstanding stock options to purchase
1,040,757 shares of our common stock at an average exercise price of $5.95 per share, and outstanding warrants to
purchase 514,012 shares of our common stock at an average exercise price of $8.47 per share.
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Director Compensation 

The following table sets forth the cash compensation, as well as certain other compensation earned by each person
who served as a non-employee director of IZEA, during the year ended December 31, 2017:

Name

Fees
Earned
or Paid
in Cash
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

 Total
($)

Brian W. Brady (1) 26,000 25,000 51,000
John H. Caron (2) 30,000 25,000 55,000
Lindsay A. Gardner (3) 26,000 25,000 51,000
Jill M. Golder (4) 30,000 25,000 55,000
Daniel R. Rua (5) 30,000 25,000 55,000
_________________

(1)

On August 7, 2012, we appointed Brian W. Brady to our Board. In 2017, Mr. Brady received 8,354 shares of
restricted stock originally valued at $25,000 upon issuance. The value of these shares was expensed as $30,399
based on the closing stock price at the end of each month as the shares vested throughout 2017. Mr. Brady also
received cash compensation of $26,000 in accordance with the non-employee director compensation program
effected in March 2013.

(2)

On April 13, 2015, we appointed John H. Caron to our Board. In 2017, Mr. Caron received 8,354 shares of
restricted stock originally valued at $25,000 upon issuance. The value of these shares was expensed as $30,399
based on the closing stock price at the end of each month as the shares vested throughout 2017. Mr. Caron also
received cash compensation of $30,000 in accordance with the non-employee director compensation program
effected in March 2013.

(3)

On December 10, 2013, we appointed Lindsay A. Gardner to our Board. In 2017, Mr. Gardner received 8,354
shares of restricted stock originally valued at $25,000 upon issuance. The value of these shares was expensed as
$30,399 based on the closing stock price at the end of each month as the shares vested throughout 2017. Mr.
Gardner also received cash compensation of $26,000 in accordance with the non-employee director compensation
program effected in March 2013.

(4)

On May 26, 2015, we appointed Jill M. Golder to our Board. In 2017, Ms. Golder received 8,354 shares of
restricted stock originally valued at $25,000 upon issuance. The value of these shares was expensed as $30,399
based on the closing stock price at the end of each month as the shares vested throughout 2017. Ms. Golder also
received cash compensation of $30,000 in accordance with the non-employee director compensation program
effected in March 2013.

(5)

On July 31, 2012, we reappointed Daniel R. Rua to our Board. In 2017, Mr. Rua received 8,354 shares of restricted
stock originally valued at $25,000 upon issuance. The value of these shares was expensed as $30,399 based on the
closing stock price at the end of each month as the shares vested throughout 2017. Mr. Rua also received cash
compensation of $30,000 in accordance with the non-employee director compensation program effected in March
2013.

_________________

Effective March 1, 2013, the disinterested members of the Board implemented a compensation program for the
directors that entitles each serving non-employee director to receive the following compensation:

•An annual board retainer fee of $25,000 to be paid in restricted stock each calendar year earned equally over the yearof service.
•A cash retainer fee of $20,000 per year, payable in cash or restricted stock.

•Reimbursement of actual and necessary travel and related expenses in connection with attending in-person Boardmeetings.
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•A $1,000 per meeting fee for all meetings of the Board, subject to a $6,000 annual cap.
•A $1,000 per Audit Committee meeting fee, subject to a $4,000 annual cap.
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ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table presents information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 13,
2018 by:

•each person or group of affiliated persons, known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of our outstanding commonstock;
•each of our directors and named executive officers; and,
•all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

The number of shares of our common stock owned by each person is determined under the rules of the SEC. Under
these rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the individual has sole or shared voting power or
investment power and also any shares that the individual has the right to acquire within 60 days after April 13, 2018,
or by June 12, 2018, through the conversion of a security or other right. Shares not outstanding but deemed
beneficially owned by virtue of the right of a person to acquire those shares are treated as outstanding only for
purposes of determining the number and percent of shares of common stock owned by such person or group. The
information relating to our 5% beneficial owners is based on information we received from such holders.
Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the following table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned by them and the address of each person named
in the following table is c/o IZEA, Inc. at 480 N. Orlando Avenue, Suite 200, Winter Park, FL 32789.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Shares
Beneficially
Owned

 Percentage
of Common
Stock
Beneficially
Owned (1)

Executive Officers and Directors:
Edward H. (Ted) Murphy (2) 484,871 7.7 %
Ryan S. Schram (3) 87,331 1.5 %
LeAnn C. Hitchcock (4) 44,474 *
Brian W. Brady (5) 932,611 16.0 %
John H. Caron (6) 45,649 *
Lindsay A. Gardner (7) 88,500 1.5 %
Jill M. Golder (8) 24,811 *
Daniel R. Rua (9) 36,948 *
All executive officers and directors as a group (8 persons) (11) 1,745,195 27.3 %

All Other 5% Stockholders:
Special Situations Funds, collectively (10) 543,216 9.3 %

* Less than 1%
(1)Applicable percentage of ownership for each holder is based on 5,819,246 shares outstanding as of April 13, 2018.

(2)Includes 39,512 shares and exercisable stock options to purchase 445,359 shares of common stock under our May2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

(3)Includes 12,289 shares and exercisable stock options to purchase 75,042 shares of common stock under our May2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

(4)Includes 13,932 shares and exercisable stock options to purchase 30,542 shares of common stock under our May2011 Equity Incentive Plan.
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(5)Includes 924,163 shares, exercisable stock options to purchase 8,448 shares of common stock under our May 2011Equity Incentive Plan.

(6)Includes 40,649 shares and exercisable stock options to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock under our May2011 Equity Incentive Plan.
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(7)
Includes 82,586 shares, exercisable stock options to purchase 3,414 shares of common stock under our May 2011
Equity Incentive Plan and exercisable stock options to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock under our August
2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

(8)Includes 22,311 shares, exercisable stock options to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock under our May 2011Equity Incentive Plan.

(9)Includes 29,226 shares, exercisable stock options to purchase 7,722 shares of common stock under our May 2011Equity Incentive Plan.

(10)

Special Situations Technology Fund II, L.P. (“SSFTechII”) is the registered holder of 291,622 shares, Special
Situations Private Equity Fund, L.P. (“SSFPE”) is the registered holder of 200,131 shares, and Special Situations
Technology Fund, L.P. (“SSFTech”) is the registered holder of 51,463 shares. SSFTechII, SSFPE and SSFTech
(collectively, the “Special Situations Funds”) own 543,216 shares of common stock combined. As a result of the
beneficial ownership limitations included in the warrants held by the Special Situations Funds, the warrants may
be exercised to the extent that the total number of shares of common stock then beneficially owned does not
exceed 19.99% of the outstanding stock. AWM Investment Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AWM”) is the
investment adviser to the Special Situations Funds.  Austin W. Marxe, David M. Greenhouse and Adam C.
Stettner are the controlling principal owners of AWM.  Through their control of AWM, Messrs. Marxe,
Greenhouse and Stettner share voting and investment control over the portfolio securities of each of the Special
Situations funds listed above.  The address of the Special Situations Funds is 527 Madison Avenue, Suite 2600,
New York, NY 10022.

(11)
For all executive officers and directors as a group, this amount includes 1,164,668 shares and exercisable stock
options to purchase 580,527 shares of common stock under our Equity Incentive Plans as further detailed in
footnotes (2) through (9) above.

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

We review all transactions involving us in which any of our directors, director nominees, significant shareholders and
executive officers and their immediate family members are participants to determine whether such person has a direct
or indirect material interest in the transaction. All directors, director nominees and executive officers must notify us of
any proposed transaction involving us in which such person has a direct or indirect material interest. Such proposed
transaction is then reviewed by either the Board as a whole or the Audit Committee, which determines whether or not
to approve the transaction. After such review, the reviewing body approves the transaction only if it determines that
the transaction is in, or not inconsistent with, the best interests of our Company and our shareholders.

Certain Transactions

Since the beginning of our last fiscal year, there have been no transactions, whether directly or indirectly, between us
and any of our respective officers, directors, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our outstanding common stock or
their family members, that exceeded the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets at year end for the
last two completed fiscal years.

Director Independence

The Board has determined that John H. Caron, Lindsay A. Gardner, Jill M. Golder, Daniel R. Rua and Brian W. Brady
are “independent directors” as defined in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(a)(2).  As provided by the Nasdaq rules, the Board
has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships exists which, in the opinion
of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a
director.  In making these determinations, the Board reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors
with regard to each director’s business and personal activities as they may relate to us and our management.
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We review all transactions involving us in which any of our directors, director nominees, significant shareholders and
executive officers and their immediate family members are participants to determine whether such person has a direct
or indirect material interest in the transaction.  All directors, director nominees and executive officers must notify us
of any proposed transaction involving us in which such person has a direct or indirect material interest.  Such
proposed transaction is then reviewed by either the Board as a whole or by the Audit Committee, which determines
whether or not to approve the related person transaction.  After such review, the reviewing body approves the related
person transaction only if it determines that the transaction is in, or not inconsistent with, the best interests of IZEA
and its shareholders.
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ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

On August 1, 2015, the Board selected BDO USA, LLP (“BDO”), as its independent accountant to audit our financial
statements. Since they were retained, there have been (1) no disagreements between us and BDO on any matters of
accounting principle or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures and (2) no reportable
events within the meaning set forth in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K. BDO has not issued any reports on our
financial statements during the previous two fiscal years that contained any adverse opinion or a disclaimer of
opinion or were qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principle.

Audit Committee Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee must pre-approve all auditing services and permitted non-audit services (including the fees and
terms thereof) to be performed for us by our independent auditors, subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit
services described in Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Exchange Act, which should nonetheless be approved by the Board
prior to the completion of the audit.  Each year, the Audit Committee approves the independent auditor’s retention to
audit our financial statements, including the associated fee, before the filing of the previous year’s Annual Report.  At
the beginning of the fiscal year, the Audit Committee will evaluate other known potential engagements of the
independent auditor, including the scope of work proposed to be performed and the proposed fees, and approve or
reject each service, taking into account whether the services are permissible under applicable law and the possible
impact of each non-audit service on the independent auditor’s independence from management. At each such
subsequent meeting, the auditor and management may present subsequent services for approval. Typically, these
would be services, such as due diligence for an acquisition, that would not have been known at the beginning of the
year.
Each new engagement of BDO has been approved in advance by the Board, and none of those engagements made use
of the de minimis exception to the pre-approval contained in Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the Exchange Act.

The following table presents the aggregate fees billed, by type of fee, in relation to services provided to us by BDO:
Twelve Months
Ended December
31,
2017 2016

Audit Fees (1) $180,060 $135,160
Audit-Related Fees (2) — —
Tax Fees (3) 25,623 13,217
All Other Fees (4) — —
Total $205,683 $148,377
(1)“Audit Fees” means the aggregate fees billed by the principal accountant for each of the last two fiscal years for
professional services rendered for the audit and review of financial statements.
(2)“Audit-Related Fees” means the aggregate fees billed by the principal accountant in each of the last two fiscal years
for assurance and related services reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of financial statements.
(3)“Tax Fees” means the aggregate fees billed by the principal accountant in each of the last two fiscal years for
professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.
(4)“All Other Fees” means the aggregate fees billed by the principal accountant in each of the last two fiscal years for
products and services other than those reported above.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

(1)Financial Statements (see “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” at Item 8 and incorporatedherein by reference).

(2)
Financial Statement Schedules (Schedules to the Financial Statements have been omitted because the information
required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the accompanying Financial Statements or notes
thereto).

(3)Exhibits

Exhibit
NumberDescription

2.1
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2015, by and among IZEA, Inc., Ebyline, Inc. and the
Stockholders of Ebyline, Inc. listed on the signature pages thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2015).

2.2
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2016, by and among IZEA, Inc., ZenContent, Inc. and the
Stockholders of ZenContent, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 2, 2016).

3.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of IZEA, Inc., filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on
November 28, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 23, 2011).

3.2
Certificate of Change of IZEA, Inc., filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on July 30, 2012 (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 1,
2012).

3.3
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada
on April 17, 2014 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on April 18, 2014).

3.4
Certificate of Withdrawal of Certificate of Designation filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada
effective January 23, 2015 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on January 29, 2015).

3.5
Certificate of Amendment filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada effective January 11, 2016
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 12, 2016).

3.6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of IZEA, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 23, 2011).

3.7 Certificate of Designation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on May 27, 2011).

3.8
Articles of Merger of IZEA Innovations, Inc. filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada effective
April 5, 2016 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.11 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on May 11, 2016).

4.1
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of IZEA, Inc. issued to Investors in the 2013 Private Placement
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 21, 2013).

4.2
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of IZEA, Inc. issued to Investors in the 2014 Private Placement
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 24, 2014).

4.3

Edgar Filing: ORACLE CORP - Form S-3ASR

Table of Contents 166

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000004/ex2-120150129stockpurchase.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000004/ex2-120150129stockpurchase.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000004/ex2-120150129stockpurchase.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000130/exhibit21purchaseagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000130/exhibit21purchaseagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000130/exhibit21purchaseagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000152153611000468/q1100271_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000152153611000468/q1100271_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000152153611000468/q1100271_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523112000019/exhibit31certificateofchan.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523112000019/exhibit31certificateofchan.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523112000019/exhibit31certificateofchan.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000020/ex3-1articlesamendment2014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000020/ex3-1articlesamendment2014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000020/ex3-1articlesamendment2014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000003/ex3-120150123nvcertificate.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000003/ex3-120150123nvcertificate.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000071/ex31certificateofamendment.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000152153611000468/q1100271_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000152153611000468/q1100271_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000146929911000365/izeaex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000146929911000365/izeaex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000083/exhibit311nvmerger20160405.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000083/exhibit311nvmerger20160405.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523116000083/exhibit311nvmerger20160405.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex4-120130815warrant.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex4-120130815warrant.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex4-120130815warrant.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex4-1formofwarrant20140221.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex4-1formofwarrant20140221.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex4-1formofwarrant20140221.htm


Form of Warrant Amendment and Exercise Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2015 between the Company and
Warrant Holders (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on July 23, 2015).

10.1(a)2011 B Equity Incentive Plan as of August 22, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to theCompany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 8, 2011).

10.2

Business Financing Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2013, between the Company and Bridge Bank, National
Association (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 29, 2013).
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10.3
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement executed by IZEA, Inc. and Investors in the 2013 Private Placement
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on August 21, 2013).

10.4
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2014, by and among IZEA, Inc. and the
Investors (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 19, 2014).

10.5
Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2014, by and among IZEA, Inc. and the
Investors (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 24, 2014).

10.6 (a) 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated May 8, 2017 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 22, 2017).

10.7 (a) 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s CurrentReport on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 18, 2014).

10.8 (a)
Employment Agreement between IZEA, Inc. and LeAnn Hitchcock dated August 25, 2014 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 25,
2014).

10.9 (a)
Employment Agreement between IZEA, Inc. and Edward Murphy dated December 26, 2014 (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December
31, 2014).

10.10(a)
Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement between IZEA, Inc. and Ryan Schram dated
January 25, 2015 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on January 29, 2015).

10.11
Business Financing Modification Agreement, dated as of April 13, 2015, by and between IZEA, Inc.,
Ebyline, Inc. and Bridge Bank, National Association (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 14, 2015).

21.1 * List of Subsidiaries of IZEA, Inc.
23.1 * Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
31.1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 * Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.1 *
(b)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 *
(b)

Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101 *
(c)

The following materials from IZEA, Inc.'s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2017 are
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language):  (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity, (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow, and (iv) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

*Filed or furnished herewith.

(a)Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(b)

In accordance with Item 601of Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is hereby furnished to the SEC as an
accompanying document and is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section, nor shall
it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933.

(c)
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex10-1securitiespurchaseag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex10-1securitiespurchaseag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523113000036/ex10-1securitiespurchaseag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000002/ex10-1purchaseagreement201.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000002/ex10-1purchaseagreement201.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000002/ex10-1purchaseagreement201.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex10-2registrationrightsag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex10-2registrationrightsag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000005/ex10-2registrationrightsag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523117000061/ex1012011equityincentivepl.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523117000061/ex1012011equityincentivepl.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000020/ex10-22014employeestockpur.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000020/ex10-22014employeestockpur.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000044/ex10-120140825agreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000044/ex10-120140825agreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000044/ex10-120140825agreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000051/ex10-1murphyemploymentagre.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000051/ex10-1murphyemploymentagre.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523114000051/ex10-1murphyemploymentagre.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000003/ex10-120150123schramemploy.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000003/ex10-120150123schramemploy.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000003/ex10-120150123schramemploy.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000017/ex101bridgebankmodificatio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000017/ex101bridgebankmodificatio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1495231/000149523115000017/ex101bridgebankmodificatio.htm


In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or
other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be
expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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ITEM 16 – FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

IZEA, Inc.
a Nevada corporation

April 17, 2018 By: /s/ Edward H. Murphy 
Edward H. Murphy
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) 

April 17, 2018 By: /s/ LeAnn C. Hitchcock
LeAnn C. Hitchcock
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Edward H. Murphy April 17, 2018
Edward H. Murphy
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ LeAnn C. Hitchcock April 17, 2018
LeAnn C. Hitchcock
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Ryan S. Schram April 17, 2018
Ryan S. Schram
Chief Operating Officer and Director
/s/ Brian W. Brady April 17, 2018
Brian W. Brady
Director
/s/ John H. Caron April 17, 2018
John H. Caron
Director
/s/ Lindsay A. Gardner April 17, 2018
Lindsay A. Gardner
Director
/s/ Jill M. Golder April 17, 2018
Jill M. Golder
Director
/s/ Daniel R. Rua April 17, 2018
Daniel R. Rua
Director
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